

June 2016 Volume: 13 Issue: 2

www.tjoddergisi.org

#### **Clinical Investigations**





#### TURKITH JOCIETY OF OBJTETRICT AND GYNECOLOGY





Owner on the behalf of Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Cansun Demir

#### Editorial Board Past/Honorary Editor in Chief

Hulusi Bülent Zeyneloğlu

#### Editor in Chief

Eray Çalışkan Bahçeşehir University School of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Editors Barıs Ata

#### Koç <sup>2</sup>University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey **Cem Atabekoğlu** Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey **Bülent Haydardedeoğlu** Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey **Mertihan Kurdoğlu** Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey **Fatma Ferda Verit** Istanbul Suleymaniye Maternity Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey **Gökhan Yıldırım** İstanbul Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Perinatology

İstanbul Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Perinatology Unit, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Section Editors

Gürkan Bozdağ Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkev Cem Çelik Bahçeci Umut IVF Center, Istanbul Evrim Erdemoğlu Süleyman Demirel Faculty of Medicine, Gynecologic Oncology, Isparta, Turkey Melih Atahan Güven Acıbadem Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, İstanbul, Turkey Özlem Özdeğirmenci Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Ankara, Turkey Kemal Özerkan Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey Recep Yıldızhan Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey **English Language Editor** David Chapman, Ipswich, England

#### **Statistics Editors**

Murat Api Zeynep Kamil Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, İstanbul, Turkey Ayşen Telce Boza

Goztepe Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Istanbul, Turkey

#### **Managing Editors**

Yiğit Çakıroğlu

Kocaeli University, Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kocaeli, Turkey

#### Emek Doğer

Kocaeli University, School of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kocaeli, Turkey Rahime Nida Bayık Bahçeşehir University School of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Editorial Board**

Remzi Abalı Namık Kemal University School of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tekirdağ, Turkey Münire Frman Akar Akdeniz University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Antalya, Turkev Aris Antsaklis University of Athens, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Athens, Greece Aydin Arici Yale University, Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Connecticut, USA Tayfun Bağış Acibadem University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey Başak Baksu Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, İstanbul, Turkey Eralp Başer Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Gynecologic Oncology Unit, Ankara, Turkey Ercan Baştu İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey Orhan Bukulmez University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility, Dallas, USA Sabri Cavkaytar Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Gynecologic Oncology Unit, Ankara, Turkey Aylin Pelin Cil Gazi Public Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Ankara, Turkey Cem Dane Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Gynecologic Oncology Unit, İstanbul, Turkey Polat Dursun Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Mehmet Siddik Evsen Dicle University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Diyarbakır, Turkev Kazım Gezginç Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Konya, Turkey Çağrı Gülümser Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Haldun Güner Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Servet Özden Hacıvelioğlu Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Śynecology, Çanakkale, Turkey Issam Lebbi Ob-Gyn and Fertility Private Clinic; Dream Center, Belvedere, Tunisia Giampaolo Mandruzzato Istituto per l'Infanzia, Burlo Garofolo, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Trieste, Italy Charles E. Miller Edward-Elmhurst Health Hospital, Gynecology; Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility, The Advanced IVF and Gynecologic Surgery Institute, Naperville,

USA



Ceana H. Nezhat Northside Hospital, Director of Training and Education, Nezhat Medical	<b>Emre Seli</b> Yale University, Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences,
Center, Endometriosis, Minimally Invasive Surgery, Atlanta, USA Sabiha Özdemir Özkan	Connecticut, USA Silber Sherman
Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kocaeli, Turkey	Infertility Center of St. Louis at St. Luke's Hospital; Public Health Service, Alaska, USA
Batuhan Özmen	Akın Sivaslıoğlu
Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Cebeci Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Ankara, Turkey	Ankara Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Ankara, Turkey
Abdullah Karaer	Fatih Şendağ
İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Malatya, Turkey	Acıbadem University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey
Emre Karaşahin	Alper Tanrıverdi
Gülhane M <sup>,</sup> Ilitary Medical Academy, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Taner Kasapoğlu	Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Aydın, Turkey
Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Training and Research Hospital, Perinatology Unit, Ankara, Turkey	Baskent University Adana Application and Research Center, Obstetrics and Gweecology Unit Adana Turkey
Esra Buldan Kılıçdağ	llaın Türkeüoălu
Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey	Inom Tarkyogra Inom University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Malatya, Turkey Mete Girol Učur
Ali Kolusarı	Gazianten University Faculty of Medicine Obstetrics and Gynecology
Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey	Gaziantep Jurkey Serdar IIral
Zehra Kurdoğlu	Penn State Hershey Womens Health Obstetrics and Gynecology. Maternal-
Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey	Fetal Medicine, Pennsylvania, USA Yaprak Üstün
Mehmet Anıl Onan	Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital. Obstetrics
Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey	and Gynecology Unit, Ankara, Turkey Yusuf Üstün
Federico Prefumo	Medicana International Ankara Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit,
Local Health District of Garda, Obstetrics, Brescia, Italy	Ankara, Turkey
Walid Saghir	Gazi Yıldırım
Clemenceau Medical Center and Trad Hospital, Lebanon, UAE	Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Contact

Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Hürriyet Caddesi Harbiye Mahallesi 1/13 Öveçler, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 481 06 06 Fax: +90 312 481 28 28 E-mail: editor@tjod.org

All rights are reserved. Rights to the use and reproduction, including in the electronic media, of all communications, papers, photographs and illustrations appearing in this journal belong to the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Reproduction without prior written permission of part or all of any material is forbidden. The journal complies with the Professional Principles of the Press.

The paper used to print this journal conforms to ISO 9706: 1994 standard (Requirements for Permanence). The National Library of Medicine suggests that biomedical publications be printed on acid-free paper (alkaline paper).

Reviewing the articles' conformity to the publishing standards of the Journal, typesetting, reviewing and editing the manuscripts and abstracts in English and publishing process are realized by Galenos.



Owner & Publisher Erkan Mor e-mail: erkan@galenos.com.tr

Publications Director Nesrin Çolak e-mail: nesrin@galenos.com.tr

Publications Coordinator

Burak Sever e-mail: burak@galenos.com.tr

Project Coordinators Sati Doruk - Ebru Boz e-mail: yayin@galenos.com.tr **Project Assistants** Turgay Akpınar, Hatice Balta, Eda Kolukısa, Zeynep Altındağ

Artwork/Graphics Director Çiğdem Birinci

Research&Development Büşrah Toparslan

Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak e-mail: sevinc@galenos.com.tr Galenos Publisher Contact

**Galenos Publishing House** 

Address: Molla Gürani Mahallesi Kaçamak Sokak No: 21 34093 Fındıkzade-İstanbul-Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr Web Site: www.galenos.com.tr

Printing at: Özgün Ofset Ticaret Ltd. Şti. Yeşilce Mah. Aytekin Sk. No: 21 34418 4.Levent / İSTANBUL Phone: +90 212 280 00 09

Date of printing: July 2016 ISSN: 2149-9322 E-ISSN: 2149-9330



#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is the official peerreviewed publication of the Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology and is published quarterly on March, June, September and December.

The target audience of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology includes gynecologists, obstetricians, urogynecologists, reproductive medicine specialists, gynecological oncologists and primary care physicians interested in gynecology practice. It publishes original work on all aspects of obstetrics and gynecology. The aim of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is to publish high quality original research articles. In addition to research articles, reviews, editorials, letters to the editor and case presentations are also published.

It is an independent peer-reviewed international journal printed in English language. Manuscripts are reviewed in accordance with "double-blind peer review" process for both referees and authors.

The General Guidelines for manuscript preparation specified below are based on "Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, & Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations)" by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (2013, archived at http://www.icmje.org/).

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is indexed in EBSCO, DOAJ, Index Copernicus, Scopus, CINAHL, Google Scholar, Tübitak/ Ulakbim Turkish Medical Database, Turk Medline and Turkey Citation Index.

#### **Open Access Policy**

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on rules of Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to [peer-reviewed research literature], we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

#### **Subscription Information**

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is distributed free of charge to all physicians, specialists in obstetrics and gynecology field. The access to tables of contents, abstracts and full texts of all articles published since 2003 are free to all readers via the journal's webpage

"http://www.tjoddergisi.org". Visit the journal's home pages for details of the aims and scope and instruction to authors.

Manuscripts can only be submitted electronically through the Journal Agent website (http://journalagent.com/tjo/) after creating an account. This system allows online submission and review.For any requires of manuscript status: Editor in Chief, Eray Calışkan, M.D.

#### Permission

Permission requests to reproduce copies of articles for noncommercial use may be obtained from the Editorial Office:

Editor in Chief Eray Calışkan, M.D.

Address : Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Hürriyet Caddesi Harbiye Mahallesi 1/13 Öveçler, Ankara-Turkey

Phone : +90 (312) 481 06 06

Fax : +90 (312) 481 28 28

E-mail : info@tjod.org

#### Advertising

Enquiries concerning advertisements should be addressed to Editorial Office:

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti.

Address : Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul-Turkey

Phone : +90 212 621 99 25

Fax : +90 212 621 99 27

E-mail : yayin@galenos.com.tr

#### **Instructions for Authors**

Instructions for authors page at the journal is available in the journal content and at www.tjoddergisi.org

#### Disclaimer

The statements and opinions contained in the articles of the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology are solely those of the individual authors and contributors not of the Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology or Galenos.

The journal is printed on acid-free paper.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS**

The "Turkish Journa The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ISSN 1305-4252)" is the official publication of the Turkish Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. The journal is published quarterly (January, April, June and October) in English and publishes original peerreviewed articles, reviews, case reports and commentaries in the fields of gynecology, gynecologic oncology, endocrinology and reproductive medicine and obstetrics. The journal will give publication priority to original research articles over case reports. Reviews will be considered for publication only if they are prepared by authors who have at least three published manuscripts in international peer-reviewed journals on the topic of the review and these studies should be cited in the review. Otherwise only invited reviews will be considered for peer-review from qualified experts in the area.

The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology" is a peer-reviewed journal and adheres to the highest ethical and editorial standards. The editors also adhere to the Committee on Publications Ethics (COPE) recommendations (http://publicationethics.org).

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology do not charge any article submission or processing charges.

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is indexed in EBSCO, DOAJ, Index Copernicus, Scopus, Google Scholar, Tübitak/Ulakbim Turkish Medical Database and Turkey Citation Index.

#### Submission of Manuscripts

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology has specific instructions and guidelines for submitting articles. Those instructions and guidelines are readily available on the submission service site. Submit all manuscripts through the journal's web page at www.tjoddergisi.org. New users should first create an account. Once a user is logged onto the site, submissions should be made via the Author Centre. Download the Instructions to Authors for detailed notes on how to prepare your manuscript.

Manuscripts submitted via any other medium will not be evaluated. During the submission please make sure to provide all requested information to prevent any possible delays in the evaluation process. Only those submitted articles are not currently being considered by another journal, or have not been previously published, will be considered for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. The submitted articles are firstly looked over by the editors. The articles fit for the originality and the requirements of the journal are peer-reviewed by the national or international referees. Acceptance for publication is based on significance, novelty, and quality of the article.

Authors who have any queries regarding the submission process can contact the journal's editorial office:

Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Harbiye Mahallesi Hürriyet Caddesi 1/3 Öveçler/Ankara

Phone number: +90 (312) 481 06 06

E-mail: editor@tjod.org

#### **Editorial Policies**

All manuscripts will be evaluated for their scientific contribution, originality and content by the editorial board. Only those submitted articles are not currently being considered by another journal, or have not been previously published, will be considered for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of the data presented in their manuscript. The journal retains the right to make appropriate changes on the grammar and language of the manuscript when needed. When suitable the manuscript will be send to the corresponding author for revision. The manuscript, if accepted for publication, will become thae property of the journal and copyright will be taken out in the name of the journal.

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is an independent international journal based on double-blind peer-review principles. The manuscript is assigned to the Editor in Chief, who reviews the manuscript and makes an initial decision based on manuscript quality and editorial priorities. These manuscripts are sent for external peer review, the Editor in Chief assigns Associate Editor. The Associate Editor sends the manuscript to the 3 reviewers internal and external reviewers. The reviewers must review the manuscript in 21 days. Associate Editor recommends decision based on the reviewers' recommednations and sends the manuscript to the Editor in Chief. The Editor- in -Chief makes a final decision based on editorial priorities, manuscript quality and reviewer recommendations. If there are any conflicting recommendation of reviewers, Editor-in-Chief can assign a new reviewer. The scientific board guiding the selection of the papers to be published in the journal consists of elected experts of the journal and if necessary, selected from national and international experts in the relevant field of research. All manuscripts are reviewed by the editor, section associate editors and at least three internal and external expert referees. All research articles undergo review by statistics editor as well. Full text of all articles can be downloaded at the web site of the journal: www.tjoddergisi.org

#### Authorship

The role of authorship in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is reserved for those individuals who meet the criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE; http:// www.icmje.org). Describe each authors' contribution by using ICMJE's criteria: substantial contributions to the conception or design; the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data; drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; final approval of the version to be published; agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the study in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. The statement about the authors' contributions should be placed in the cover letter. All persons who contributed to the work, but not sufficiently to be authors, must be acknowledged.

#### Cover Letter

Cover letter to the editors addressing the following points:

 $\cdot\,$  The authors' intent to submit solely to Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

 $\cdot$  Verification that the manuscript is not under consideration elsewhere, and indication from the authors that it will not be submitted elsewhere until a final decision is made by the editors of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

- · The declaration of transparency from the corresponding author
- · Clinical trial registration, if applicable.
- · Institutional review board (IRB) approval or exemption.
- · Informed consent.



#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS**

· Any explanations related to reporting guidelines.

• The statement about the authors' contributions.

#### Copyright

The author(s) transfer(s) the copyright to his/their article to the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecologyeffective if and when the article is accepted for publication. The copyright covers the exclusive and unlimited rights to reproduce and distribute the article in any form of reproduction (printing, electronic media or any other form); it also covers translation rights for all languages and countries. For U.S. authors the copyright is transferred to the extent transferable.

Submissions must be accompanied by the "Copyright Transfer Statement". The form is available for download on the journal's manuscript submission and evaluation site. The copyright transfer form should be signed by all contributing authors and a scanned version of the wet signed document should be submitted.

#### **Preparation of Manuscripts**

The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology" follows the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals" (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors - http://www.icmje.org/). Upon submission of the manuscript, authors are to indicate the type of trial/research and provide the checklist of the following guidelines when appropriate:

CONSORT statement for randomized controlled trials (Moher D, Schultz KF, Altman D, for the CONSORT Group. The CONSORT statement revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel group randomized trials. JAMA 2001; 285: 1987-91) (http://www.consort-statement.org/),

PRISMA for preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses (Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6(7): e1000097.) (http://www. prisma-statement.org/),

STARD checklist for the reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy (Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig LM, et al, for the STARD Group. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: the STARD initiative. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:40-4.) (http://www.stard-statement.org/),

STROBE statement—checklist of items that should be included in reports of observational studies (http://www.strobe-statement.org/),

MOOSE guidelines for meta-analysis and systemic reviews of observational studies (Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting Meta-analysis of observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283: 2008-12).

#### Human and Animal Studies

Manuscripts submitted for publication must contain a statement to the effect that all human studies have been reviewed by the appropriate ethics committee and have therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards described in an appropriate version of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki, as revised in 2000. It should also be stated clearly in the text that all persons gave their informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Details that might disclose the identity

of the subjects under study should be omitted. Experimental animal studies should be presented with the disclosure of the appropriateness to the institutional/national/international ethical guides on care and use of laboratory animals.

Reports of animal experiments must state that the "Principles of laboratory animal care" (NIH publication No. 86-23, revised 1985) were followed, as well as specific national laws where applicable.

The editors reserve the right to reject manuscripts that do not comply with the above mentioned requirements. The author will be held responsible for false statements or for failure to fulfill the above mentioned requirements.

Authors must provide statement on the absence of conflict of interests between authors and provide authorship contributions and declare if any financial/metarial support.

#### **Manuscript Structure**

All manuscripts must be submitted as Microsoft Word (.doc or .docx) files. All manuscript pages (including references, tables, and figure legends) must be double-spaced. Use a standard, 12-point typeface such as Times New Roman. Top, bottom, and side margins should be set at 1 inch. Authors must include the following in the manuscript file:

#### **Title Page**

A separate title page should list;

- The manuscript title, which should contain no more than a total of 100 characters (counting letters and spaces) and should not be declarative; do not use abbreviations or commercial names in the title.

- A short title of no more than 50 characters, including spaces, for use as a running foot.

- All author name(s), institutional, corporate, or commercial affiliations, and up to two major degree(s).

- Corresponding author's name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number), fax numbers and e-mail address (the corresponding author will be responsible for all correspondence and other matters relating to the manuscript).

#### Precis

The precis is a one-sentence synopsis of no more than 30 words that describes the basic findings of the article. Precis sample can be seen below:

'Using a 45 point questionnaire, we have evaluated the trend of Robotic surgery training in the gynecologic surgery fellowship programs across the nation'.

#### Abstract

All manuscripts should be accompanied by an abstract. All information in the abstract should be consistent with the information in the text, tables, or figures. Avoid use of commercial names in the abstract. Original research reports should have a structured abstract of no more than 250 words, using the following headings:

 $\cdot$  **Objective:** Main question, objective, or hypothesis (single phrase starting with, for example, "To evaluate..." or "To estimate." [never start with "To determine."]).

• Material and Methods: Study design, participants, outcome measures, and in the case of a negative study, statistical power.



#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS**

• **Results:** Measurements expressed in absolute numbers and percentages, and when appropriate indicate relative risks or odds ratios with confidence intervals and level of statistical significance; any results contained in the abstract should also be presented in the body of the manuscript, tables, or figures.

 $\cdot$  Conclusion: Directly supported by data, along with clinical implications.

Authors from Turkey or Turkish speaking countries are expected to submit a Turkish abstract including subheadings such as "Amaç, Materyal ve Metod, Bulgular, Sonuç". The abstract of Authors whose native language is not Turkish will be provided free of charge translation services into Turkish language.

A structured abstract is not required with review articles and case reports.

#### **Key Words**

Below the abstract provide 3 to 5 key words. Abbreviations should not be used as key words. Key words should be picked from the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) list (www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Turkish abstracts should have key words "Anahtar Kelimeler" picked from www.atifdizini.com under "Turkey Bilim Terimleri" link.

Several types of articles can be submitted for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology: Original research, case reports, systematic reviews, current commentaries, procedures and instruments, and letters. Stated word counts and page limits were shown in Table 1. Copyright transfer forms, the cover letter, and figures do not contribute to the page limits.

#### Table 1. Manuscript length at a glance

Article type	Abstract Length	Manuscript Word Count*	Maximum Number of Authors	Maximum Number of References <sup>⊕</sup>
Original Research	250 words	5,500 words (~22 pages) $^{\Psi}$	NA	30
Case report	150 words	2,000 words (~8 pages)	4	8
Systematic review	300 words	6,250 words (~25 pages)	4	60
Current commentary	250 words	3,000 words (~12 pages)	4	12
Procedure and Instruments	200 words	2,000 words (~8 pages)	4	10
Letters	NA	350 words	4	5

\*Manuscript length includes all pages in a manuscript (ic, title page, abstract, text, references, tables, boxes, figure legends, and appendixes). <sup>6</sup>Suggested limit. <sup>(4)</sup>The Introduction should not exceed 250 words. <sup>(2)</sup> approximately; NA, not applicable.

Original researches should have the following sections;

#### Introduction

State concisely the purpose and rationale for the study and cite only the most pertinent references as background. Avoid a detailed literature review in this section.

#### Material and Methods

Describe the research methodology (the patients, experimental animals, material and controls, the methods and procedures utilized, and the statistical method(s) employed) in sufficient detail so that others could duplicate the work. Identify methods of statistical analysis and when appropriate, state the basis (including alpha and beta error estimates) for their selection. Cite any statistical software programs used in the text. Express p values to no more than two decimal places. Indicate your study's power to detect statistical difference.

Address "IRB" issues and participants informed consent as stated above, the complete name of the IRB should be provided in the manuscript. State the generic names of the drugs with the name and country of the manufactures.

#### Results

Present the detailed findings supported with statistical methods. Figures and tables should supplement, not duplicate the text; presentation of data in either one or the other will suffice. Authors should report outcome data as both absolute and relative effects since information presented this way is much more useful for clinicians. Actual numbers and percentages should be given in addition to odds ratios or relative risk. When appropriate, number needed to treat for benefits (NNTb) or harm (NNTh) should be supplied. Emphasize only your important observations; do not compare your observations with those of others. Such comparisons and comments are reserved for the discussion section.

#### Discussion

Begin with a description of what your study found in relation to the purpose or objectives as stated in the Introduction. State the importance and significance of your findings to clinicians and actual patient care but do not repeat the details given in the Results section. Limit your opinions to those strictly indicated by the facts in your report. Compare your finding with previous studies with explanations in cases where they differ, although a complete review of the literature is not necessary.

#### **Study Limitations**

Provide information on the limitations of the study. No new data are to be presented in this section. A final summary is not necessary, as this information should be provided in the abstract and the first paragraph of the Discussion. Although topics that require future research can be mentioned, it is unnecessary to state, "Further research is needed."

#### Conclusion

The conclusion of the study should be highlighted. The study's new and important findings should be highlighted and interpreted.

#### Conflict of Interest

Authors must indicate whether or not they have a financial relationship with the organization that sponsored the research.

The main text of case reports should be structured with the following subheadings: Introduction, Case Presentation, Discussion, Study Limitations, Conclusion and References.

#### References

References are numbered (Arabic numerals) consecutively in the order in which they appear in the text (note that references should not appear in the abstract) and listed double-spaced at the end of the manuscript. The preferred method for identifying citations in the text is



#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS**

using within parentheses. Use the form of the "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts" (http://www.icmje.org/about-icmje/faqs/icmjerecommendations/). If number of authors exceeds seven, list first 6 authors followed by et al.

Use references found published in peer-reviewed publications that are generally accessible. Unpublished data, personal communications, statistical programs, papers presented at meetings and symposia, abstracts, letters, and manuscripts submitted for publication cannot be listed in the references. Papers accepted by peer-reviewed publications but not yet published ("in press") are not acceptable as references.

Journal titles should conform to the abbreviations used in "Cumulated Index Medicus".

#### Examples

Journals; Zeyneloglu HB, Onalan G. Remedies for recurrent implantation failure. Semin Reprod Med 2014;32:297-305.

Book chapter; Ayhan A, Yenen MC, Dede M, Dursun P, Gultekin M.How to Manage Pre-Invasive Cervical Diseases? An Overview. In: Ayhan A, Gultekin M, Dursun P, editors. Textbook of Gyneaecological Oncology. Ankara, Turkey: Gunes Publishing; 2010.p 28-32.

Book; Arici A; Seli E. In Arici A and Seli E (edts). Non-invasive Management of Gynecologic Disorders. London: Informa Healthcare; 2008.

#### **Tables and Figures**

Tables should be included in the main document after the reference list. Color figures or gray-scale images must be at minimum 300 DPI resolutions. Figures should be submitted in "\*.tiff", "\*.jpg" or "\*.pdf" format and should not be embedded in the main document. Tables and figures consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. Each table must have a title indicating the purpose or content of the table. Do not use internal horizontal and vertical rules. Place explanatory matter in footnotes, not in the heading. Explain all abbreviations used in each table in footnotes. Each figure must have an accompanying descriptive legend defining abbreviations or symbols found in the figure. If photographs of people are used, the subjects must be unidentifiable and the subjects must have provided written permission to use the photograph. There is no charge for color illustrations.

#### Units of Measurement and Abbreviations

Units of measurement should be in Système International (SI) units. Abbreviations should be avoided in the title. Use only standard abbreviations. If abbreviations are used in the text, they should be defined in the text when first used.

#### Revisions

Revisions will be sent to the corresponding author. Revisions must be returned as quickly as possible in order not to delay publication. Deadline for the return of revisions is 30 days. The editorial board retains the right to decline manuscripts from review if authors' response delays beyond 30 days. All reviewers' comments should be addressed https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=7BQby\_KKRAU a revision note containing the author's responses to the reviewers' comments should be submitted with the revised manuscript. An annotated copy of the main document should be submitted with revisions. The Editors have the right to withdraw or retract the paper from the scientific literature in case of proven allegations of misconduct.

#### **Accepted Articles**

Accepted articles are provided with a DOI number and published as ahead of print articles before they are included in their scheduled issue.

#### Journal and Society Web sites:

www.tjod.org (Turk Jinekoloji ve Obstetrik Dernegi)

www.tjoddergisi.org (Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology)



#### CONTENTS

#### **Clinical Investigations**

- 56 The relationship between estradiol-progesterone alterations after ovulation trigger and treatment success in intrauterine insemination cycles Ovülasyon tetiklenmesi sonrası östrojen-progesteron değişimi ile intrauterin inseminasyon sikluslarının başarısı arasındaki ilişki Tayfun Kutlu, Enis Özkaya, İlhan Şanverdi, Belgin Devranoğlu, Cansu İpekçi, Birsen Konukçu, Yavuz Şahin, Ateş Karateke; İstanbul, Turkey 62 The value of urea, creatinine, prolactin, and beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin of vaginal fluid in the diagnosis of premature preterm rupture of membranes in pregnancy Gebelikte prematüre preterm membran rüptürü tanısında vajinal sıvıda üre, kreatinin, prolaktin ve beta-insan koryonik gonadotropinin değeri Marzieh Ghasemi, Reyhaneh Jaami, Ashraf Alleyassin, Alireza Ansarimoghaddam; Zahedan, Tehran, Iran 67 Changes of intraocular pressure in different trimesters of pregnancy among Syrian refugees in Turkey: A cross-sectional study Türkiye'de yaşayan Suriyeli göçmenlerde gebeliğin farklı trimesterlerinde göz içi basıncındaki değişiklikler: Kesitsel çalışma Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coskun Özcan, Yavuz Emre Sükür, Deniz Özarslan Özcan, Fatih Mehmet Adıbelli, Neşe Gül Hilali; Şanlıurfa, Ankara, Turkey 71 Association of first trimester serum uric acid levels gestational diabetes mellitus development İlk trimester ürik asit yüksekliğinin gestasyonel diabetes mellitus ile iliskisi Seda Şahin Aker, Tuncay Yüce, Erkan Kalafat, Murat Seval, Feride Söylemez; Ankara, Turkey
- First trimester fetal aortic Doppler for hemoglobinopathies
  Hemoglobinopatiler için ilk trimesterde fetal aortik Doppler
  Cihan Çetin, Selim Büyükkurt, Ebru Dündar Yenilmez, Mehmet Özsürmeli, Mete Sucu, Cansun Demir; Adana, Turkey
- **80** Prediction of adverse pregnancy outcomes using uterine artery Doppler imaging at 22-24 weeks of pregnancy: A North Indian experience

Gebeliğin 22.-24. haftasında, uterin arter Doppler görüntüleme ile advers gebelik sonlanımlarının belirlenmesi: Bir Kuzey Hindistan deneyimi

Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta; New Delhi, India

85 A comparison of the effects of the most commonly used tocolytic agents on maternal and fetal blood flow En sık kullanılan tokolitik ilaçların maternal ve fetal kan akımları üzerine olan etkilerinin karşılaştırılması Mahmut Güden, Mehmet Özgür Akkurt, Serenat Eriş Yalçın, Bora Coşkun, İltaç Akkurt, And Yavuz, Bülent Yirci, Necmi Ömer Kandemir; Ankara, İsparta, Turkey

#### Review

**90** Luteal phase support in intrauterine insemination cycles *İntrauterin inseminasyon sikluslarında luteal faz desteği* İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Ali Yılmaz; İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Case Reports**

**95** Live birth after transfer of a tripronuclear embryo: An intracytoplasmic sperm injection as a combination of microarray and time-lapse technology

Tripronükleer bir embriyonun transferiyle elde edilen canlı doğum: Mikroarray ve time lapse teknolojisinin kombinasyonu olan bir intra-sitoplazmik sperm enjeksiyonu olgusu

- Ender Yalçınkaya, Alev Özay, Elif G. Ergin, Zeynep Öztel, Hakan Özörnek; İstanbul, Turkey
- 99 Amphricrine carcinoma of the cervix-adeno neuroendocrine tumor: A case report Servikal ampikrin adeno-nöroendokrin karsinom: Olgu sunumu Erdem Fadiloğlu, Alper Karalök, Osman Türkmen, Şeyma Asiltürk, Reyhan Öçalan, Nurettin Boran, Heyecan Ökten, Taner Turan, Gökhan Tulunay; Ankara, Turkey
   103 Do preeclampsia symptoms resolve after intrauterine death of a fetus?
- 103 Do preeclampsia symptoms resolve after intrauterine death of a fetus? Preeklampsi semptomları fetal ölüm sonrası kaybolur mu? Serdar Balcı, Taylan Bodur, Yusuf Aytaç Tohma, Recep Emre Okyay, Bahadır Saatli, Sabahattin Altunyurt; Ankara, Muğla, İzmir, Turkey
- 106 Early prenatal diagnosis of thoraco-omphalopagus twins at ten weeks of gestation by ultrasound On hafta dört günlük torako-omfalofagus ikiz olgusunun ultrason ile erken prenatal tanısı Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Başak Baksu, Oya Pekin; İstanbul, Turkey



#### LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT

Dear Colleagues,

It is a great pleasure to say a few words in the hot summer time to you. As TSOG we are going to do our General Council in November. Our branches are doing their elections nowadays. They have to finish till at the end of August. Local meetings are in summer break.

We are going to do our congress at 5-9 October 2016 in Antalya, Kaya Palazzo Hotel. In our website you can find the details. Please find sponsor for the congress. In this congress we wil have a Hall for oral Presentations which is essential for the new "Associate Professorship Examination" rules. We will give scholarship to our assistans for 50 people to attend the congress. We have the investigation prize for vaginal progesteron. We are making an ultrasonogrophy photos competition you can apply by the name "Anı Yakala" project.

I hope we will meet in the congress in Antalya.

Cansun Demir, Prof. MD President of TSOG



#### **EDITORIAL**

Dear Colleagues,

The quality and standarts of medical education in general is a hot topic nowadays. Being aware of the needs of our readers and members of the Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology we launched several projects. For setting higher standarts for residency programs and sub-specialities like Gynecological Oncology and Perinatology our Society is working with European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynecology and certification of specialists and clinics are going on. Targeting the residence of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Resident School" workshops are taking place every six months where 16 topics are discussed with about thirty 3<sup>rd</sup> or 4<sup>th</sup> year residents, recorded and casted freely in the society web page. Another program has been launched named "100 consultants lecturing 100 topics" on March 2016. In this project leading academicians are lecturing on topics for 50 minutes in a comprehensive informative style from definition to treatment which is recorded live and then released in the society web page. Another newly released project is "TSOG Academy" which focuses to different aspects of a disease or treatment lectured by four or five experts, recorded live and than released in society web page which is followed by online quiz at the end where you can get credits if you answer most of the questions correctly. Upcoming projects include experts teaching surgical and diagnostic methods.

New innovative cadaver courses were supported by our Society on Urogynecology and Obstetric Surgery. In this series of courses two of them focused on Pelvic floor in a three day workshop covering theoretical surgical anatomy of the Pelvis followed by cadaver studies on the second day and hands on Surgeries on 29 patients on the third day. Obstetric Surgery course focused on prevention and management of obstetric hemorrhages. Emergency obstetric response team concept which was first launched in Kocaeli region in 2009 than followed by Anatolian Side of Istanbul in 2015 shared their experience in the workshop. After theoretical education on the first day, cadaver and model course was conducted on Pelvic anatomy, sequential devascularisation of the pelvis and the uterus, different uterine packing sutures on the second day together with video surgery session where experts showed the videos of complex obstetric surgeries and told what they have done why they have done. About 200 specialists were educated by 60 lecturers and experts on the topics.

Our journal as being the publisher of recent developments and research on Obstetrics and Gynecology will launch a series of education materials as pictorials starting from September 2016 issue. We call for papers conducted in the area of Obstetrics and Gynecology education.

Best wishes,

Eray Çalışkan, Editor



### The relationship between estradiol-progesterone alterations after ovulation trigger and treatment success in intrauterine insemination cycles

Ovülasyon tetiklenmesi sonrası östrojen-progesteron değişimi ile intrauterin inseminasyon sikluslarının başarısı arasındaki ilişki

Tayfun Kutlu, Enis Özkaya, İlhan Şanverdi, Belgin Devranoğlu, Cansu İpekçi, Birsen Konukçu, Yavuz Şahin, Ateş Karateke

Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To assess the relationship between the estrogen-progesterone alterations before and after ovulation trigger and treatment success in intrauterine insemination (IUI) cycles.

Materials and Methods: Two hundred fifty-one women with infertility underwent ovulation induction followed by IUI. For all subjects, estradiol and progesterone concentrations were evaluated on the trigger and IUI day. The results were analyzed to assess the relationship between hormone levels and positive pregnancy test.

**Results:** There were 34 women with a positive pregnancy test following controlled ovarian stimulation and IUI cycle. Estradiol and progesterone levels on the trigger day and the day of IUI were compared within groups with and without positive pregnancy tests. The comparison revealed significantly increased levels of progesterone after trigger in both groups; however, although there were estradiol level drops in both groups, the drop in the group with negative pregnancy tests was statistically significant.

**Conclusion:** Significant drops in estradiol concentrations after ovulation trigger are associated with IUI cycle treatment failure.

Keywords: Estradiol, progesterone, intrauterine insemination, ovulation induction

#### Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı ovülasyon tetiklenmesi öncesi ve sonrası östrojen-progesteron düzey değişimi ile intrauterin inseminasyon (IUI) sikluslarının başarısı arasındaki ilişkiyi değerlendirmek.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: İki yüz elli bir hastaya ovülasyon indüksiyonu sonrası IUI uygulandı. Tüm hastalarda östradiol ve progesteron düzeyleri tetikleme ve IUI günü değerlendirildi. Hormon sonuçları ve pozitif gebelik testi ilişkisi için sonuçlar değerlendirildi.

**Bulgular:** Kontrollü ovaryen stimülasyon ve intrauterine inseminasyon sonrası 34 hastada gebelik testi pozitif elde edildi. Tetikleme ve intrauterine inseminasyon günü bakılan östradiol ve progesteron düzeyleri gebelik testi pozitif ve negatif olan gruplar arasında karşılaştırıldı. Her iki grupta da tetikleme sonrası progesteron düzeyleri anlamlı olarak arttı. Diğer taraftan her iki grupta da östradiol düzeyleri düştü, fakat gebelik testi negatif olan grupta düşüş istatistiksel anlamlı izlendi.

**Sonuç:** Ovülasyon tetiklemesi sonrası östradiol düzeyindeki anlamlı düşüş IUI siklus tedavi başarısızlığı ile ilişkilidir. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Östradiol, progesteron, intrauterin inseminasyon, ovülasyon indüksiyonu

**PRECIS**: Significant drops in estradiol concentrations after ovulation trigger are associated with intrauterine insemination cycle treatment failure.

#### Introduction

Monofollicular development should be the main goal in intrauterine insemination (IUI) cycles. Controlled ovarian stimulation (COH) was found associated with supraphysiologic estradiol levels and might affect endometrial implantation. Also, some data showed increased success rates with high peak estradiol levels, which were presumed to be indirect evidence for oocyte quality, whereas some studies showed poorer outcomes due to the detrimental effect of high estrogen on endometrial receptivity<sup>(1-4)</sup>. Although we do not expect to observe estradiol in concentrations so high in IUI cycles that they would be detrimental to endometrial receptivity, it may be used as a reflection of oocyte quality. Progesterone is thought to be the dominant hormone during the luteal phase of the cycle and the endometrial window of implantation is mainly regulated by progesterone and progesterone- induced gene regulations; this effect is strictly regulated. Data showed that increased mid luteal serum progesterone levels were not associated with a higher clinical pregnancy rate in women who underwent COH with IUI. However, a lower mid luteal progesterone level was proposed to be a predictor for treatment failure<sup>(5)</sup>. Other data from in vitro fertilization (IVF) cycles showed a detrimental effect of increased progesterone concentrations (>2.0 ng/ mL) before ovulatiovn trigger on oocyte quality and therefore embryo quality<sup>(6)</sup>. In another study, a 10% reduction in estradiol concentrations after ovulation trigger was associated with 40-50% lower clinical pregnancy and live birth rates in IVF cycles<sup>(7)</sup>. Although serum estradiol concentrations are one of the main parameters in the assessment of the response to controlled ovarian stimulation, the predictive value of estradiol levels before or after ovulation trigger is still not known. Some data showed a poor predictive value of serum estradiol concentration alone on the day of recombinant-HCG in IVF outcomes<sup>(8)</sup>. A recently published study proposed the use of the post-recombinant-human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) estradiol level as an additional component to predict the outcome of an IVF cycle just before oocyte pick-up. The authors indicated the necessity for further studies to clarify the underlying mechanisms that might result in a decrease in postrecombinant-HCG estradiol levels, so that physicians may be able modify following IVF cycles accordingly<sup>(7)</sup>. The aim of this study was to assess the relationship between estrogen-progesterone alterations after the ovulation trigger and treatment success in IUI cycles.

#### **Materials and Methods**

In this cross-sectional study, we included 251 IUI cycles performed in the infertility clinic of Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital between

2012 and 2014. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital. All participants gave signed informed consent. All couples had attempted to conceive for at least one year prior to undergoing COH+IUIs. A self-administered questionnaire was used to collect data about demographic, menstrual, and obstetric characteristics. The study population comprised all couples who were candidates for COH+IUI. Indications for IUI included subfertile male infertility, polycystic ovary syndrome, mild or minimal endometriosis or unexplained infertility and various ovulatory disorders. Subfertile male infertility was defined as per the criteria outlined by Molinaro et al.<sup>(9)</sup>. The Initial evaluation included the cycle's day 3 hormone profile, and tubal patency as determined using hysterosalpingogram and/or laparoscopy. Exclusion criteria were hydrosalpinx, anatomic abnormalities, infection, and systemic disease before intervention.

#### **Ovarian Stimulation Protocol**

Transvaginal ultrasonography was performed for each participant on day 3 of the menstrual cycle and daily 75-100 IU recombinant FSH (Gonal-F; Merck Serono, İstanbul, Turkey; and Puregon; MSD, İstanbul, Turkey) injection was started. The ovarian response and endometrial thickness was started to be assessed by transvaginal ultrasound starting from the 5th day of stimulation. If the leading follicle's diameter was <10 mm on the 8th day of stimulation, the dose of gonadotropin was increased by 50%. The gonadotropin dose remained the same until the day of recombinant-HCG trigger after the leading follicle reached 12 mm in diameter. Cycles were triggered with 250 µcg recombinant-HCG (Ovitrelle; Merck Serono, İstanbul, Turkey) when the dominant follicle became 18 mm in diameter. Cycles were cancelled if there were more than three dominant follicles and/or estradiol levels>1500 pg/mL to prevent ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome and multiple pregnancies. IUI was performed 36 h after recombinant-HCG administration with a disposable IUI catheter (Embryon; Rocket Medical, Washington, Tyne and Wear, U.K.) by two of the authors. The patient was recommended to rest in a supine position for 15 min after the procedure. Luteal phase progesterone support was started following insemination and continued until a pregnancy test was performed. Luteal phase progesterone support was administered in the form of 90 mg (8%) vaginal gel (Crinone, Merck Serono; İstanbul, Turkey). β-HCG was tested on the 15th day of the post insemination day sample. Luteal phase support was continued until 12 weeks of gestation.

#### Results

There were 34 (13.5%) women with a positive pregnancy test following controlled ovarian stimulation and IUI cycle.

Estradiol and progesterone levels on the trigger day and the day of IUI were compared within groups with and without positive pregnancy test. The comparison revealed significantly increased levels of progesterone after trigger in both groups; however, although there were drops in estradiol levels, the drop in the group with a negative pregnancy test was statistically significant (Tables 1 and 2). The groups were compared in terms of some demographic and hormonal concentrations, the results of which are summarized in Table 3. Estradiol/progesterone at trigger, estradiol/progesterone at IUI, progesterone/estradiol at trigger, and progesterone/estradiol at IUI, all these ratios failed to predict treatment success (p>0.05, Figure 1).

#### Discussion

In this study, we assessed the effect of estrogen and progesterone alterations before and after ovulation trigger on IUI cycle outcomes. Our data revealed that a significant drop in estradiol levels after ovulation trigger leads to unfavorable results in IUI cycles. A progesterone rise was not found to have a significant impact on cycle outcome and progesterone levels on trigger day were not significant predictors of cycle outcome. According to our literature search, although there are some data for IVF/intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) cycles, hormonal alterations during the periovulatory period were not investigated in IUI cycles in detail.

Consistent with our result, previous study on 1712 IVF cycles revealed similar results and indicated estradiol drop >10% after trigger was associated with lower pregnancy rates<sup>(7)</sup>. The mean estradiol drop was 21% in the group with negative implantation and was 11% in successful cycles in our study population.



**Figure 1.** Receiver operating characteristic curve of different ratios to predict positive pregnancy test

ROC: Receiver operating characteristic, IUI: Intrauterine insemination

A study showed a significant association between serum estradiol level on trigger day with the pregnancy rates following ovarian stimulation and intrauterine insemination<sup>(10)</sup>. Our data analyses revealed no relationship between the estradiol level on the trigger day and pregnancy rates.

Endometrial thickness measurement is the most commonly used parameter to have an indirect idea about endometrial receptivity; an optimal endometrial thickness is required for favorable outcome. However, the use of endometrial thickness alone was found to have high negative predictive value but low positive predictive value with low specificity<sup>(11)</sup>. It is well known that endometrial development requires the combined effect of estrogen and progesterone. This combination effect should be in balance, previous data showed significant predictive value of progesterone/estradiol ratio at the periovulatory phase in estimating the efficacy of the ovulation induction in IUI cycles<sup>(12)</sup>; however, our data showed no association between the progesterone/estradiol ratio either at the trigger or on the day of IUI, which indicates that endometrial receptivity is not under a dominant effect of any of these hormones.

Estradiol supplementation has been used to ameliorate endometrial receptivity in IUI cycles. A study on this issue assessed the effect of estradiol supplementation in cycles with luteal phase serum estradiol drop by more than 50% over a 48-

Table 1.	Hormone	concentrations	on the	trigger	and	intrauterine
insemina	tion day in	the positive pre	egnancy	test gro	up	

	Mean	n	Standard deviation	р
Progesterone at trigger (ng/mL)	1.2	34	2.9	p<0.001
Progesterone at IUI (ng/mL)	2.9	34	5.1	
Estradiol at trigger (pg/mL)	468.9	34	345.7	p>0.05
Estradiol at IUI (pg/mL)	413.1	34	363.6	

IUI: Intrauterine insemination

Table 2. H	Iormone co	oncentratio	ns on	the	trigger	and	intrauterine
inseminatio	on day in th	e group w	ith neg	gativ	e pregn	ancy	tests

	Mean		Standard deviation	р
Progesterone at trigger (ng/mL)	0.7	217	1.7	p<0.001
Progesterone at IUI (ng/mL)	2.4	217	3.7	
Estradiol at trigger (pg/mL)	428.6	217	320.4	p<0.001
Estradiol at IUI (pg/mL)	319.6	217	285.2	

IUI: Intrauterine insemination

hour period within 10 days of recombinant-HCG administration, and the data showed that estradiol supplementation resulted in higher rates of pregnancy (12.6 vs. 20.9%); the difference was more prominent when data were analyzed for patients aged >35 years<sup>(13)</sup>. Consistent with our results, that study also showed a critical role of estradiol during luteal phase. In our study population, ovulation was triggered by recombinant-HCG in all patients. There is evidence about the effect of recombinant-HCG on ovarian endocrine function, a study showed that higher doses of recombinant-HCG administration promoted the secretion of both estradiol and androgens into the follicular fluid, with a shift toward a more androgenic milieu<sup>(14)</sup>. This shows the ovarian endocrine response to recombinant-HCG exposure, which indicates a formation of androgenic state in the ovary. Accordingly, one would expect to observe increased serum sex hormone levels after ovulation trigger; however, our data showed decreased estradiol levels both in the pregnant and non-pregnancy groups, and higher decrements resulted in failure of IUI cycle.

Besides the effect of estrogen on the endometrial receptivity, a premature increase in progesterone concentrations in stimulated cycles was found to have a negative impact on pregnancy rates. Although the exact cause of this progesterone concentration elevation is not clear, it was suggested that overstimulation may lead to increased progesterone concentrations at the end of the follicular phase. Furthermore, this premature progesterone elevation was associated with altered gene expression and also reduced endometrial receptivity<sup>(15)</sup>. In our study, we did not see a significant predictive value of progesterone on the trigger day, the mean values were comparable between the groups (0.8 vs. 1.2, p>0.05). A recent study suggested freezing all embryos in IVF/ICSI cycles if the progesterone level was >1.5 on the trigger day<sup>(16)</sup>. A modest elevation of progesterone was

observed in our study, this was thought to be due to the mild stimulation protocols specific for COH+IUI cycle.

Previous study analyzed the additive value of progesterone level determination 24 hours after recombinant-HCG administration and revealed an improved predictive value compared with a single measurement on the day of recombinant-HCG administration, the authors concluded that the high progesterone levels on both days resulted in low implantation rates compared with normal levels in IVF/ICSI cycles (22% vs. 36%)<sup>(17)</sup>. There is also some evidence that basal progesterone levels may be used to predict premature progesterone elevation in IVF/ICSI cycles<sup>(18)</sup>. In our data, post trigger progesterone levels obtained from the laboratory analyses at 36 hours after trigger were not found to affect cycle outcome.

The estradiol/progesterone ratio on the day of embryo transfer has been used to predict implantation in ICSI cycles. A study on this issue indicated that this ratio was predictive for ICSI success when combined with embryo quality, endometrial thickness, and estradiol levels, and higher ratios were found associated with favorable results<sup>(19)</sup>. This study emphasized the role of estrogen during the luteal phase of the cycle stressing that higher ratios were found to be predictive for desirable outcome. Progesterone plays an important role during the luteal phase for decidualization changes and progression of pregnancy. Premature progesterone elevation is observed in 5 to 30% of treatments despite the use of GnRH analogs in assisted reproduction technique (ART) cycles<sup>(20-22)</sup>. Some studies revealed favorable outcomes in cycles with elevated progesterone/estradiol ratios with higher oocyte collection and normal pregnancy rates<sup>(20,23,24)</sup>. In contrast, other data showed low ovarian reserve and reduced oocyte retrieval in patients with high ratios<sup>(25)</sup>.

There is no consensus at to whether embryos should be transferred in women with a premature rise in progesterone.

Table 3. (	Comparison of	groups with an	d without p	oositive	pregnancy te	est and demo	graphic and	hormonal	characteristics
------------	---------------	----------------	-------------	----------	--------------	--------------	-------------	----------	-----------------

	Implantation	n	Mean	Standard deviation	
Age (years)	Negative	217	30.1	5.2	
	Positive	34	28.1	4.4	NS
Progesterone at trigger (ng/mL)	Negative	217	0.7	1.7	
	Positive	34	1.2	2.9	NS
Estradiol at trigger (pg/mL)	Negative	217	428.6	320.4	
	Positive	34	468.9	345.7	NS
Estradiol at IUI (pg/mL)	Negative	217	319.6	285.3	
	Positive	34	413.1	363.6	NS
Progesterone at IUI (ng/mL)	Negative	217	2.4	3.8	
	Positive	34	2.9	5.1	NS
Endometrial thickness (mm)	Negative	217	8.4	1.7	
	Positive	34	8.2	1.5	NS

IUI: Intrauterine insemination, NS: Not significant

There are also no data in the literature regarding optimal stimulation protocols to avoid premature progesterone rises.

We know about the detrimental effect of premature rise in progesterone levels on the ART cycles. However, a study reported a significant correlation between increased progesterone and high estradiol levels and no detrimental effect on the cycle outcome<sup>(26)</sup>. In fact, unfavorable effects of stimulation have been proposed to be observed in the early luteal phase of the cycle and these effects were thought to be corrected during the late luteal phase<sup>(27)</sup>. Consistent with this argument, Elgindy et al.<sup>(28)</sup> documented different implantation rates between cleavage stage embryo transfer and blastocysts transfer. The authors claimed that the adverse effect of the progesterone/estradiol ratio in stimulated cycles was compensated for by a day 5 embryo transfer<sup>(28)</sup>. The authors of a review on the regulation of steroid production and its function within the corpus luteum concluded that oxytocin and prostaglandin F alpha were found to stimulate estradiol and progesterone release and estradiol itself further stimulated progesterone release. Furthermore, it was also reported that during luteolysis, invading macrophages secrete tumor necrosis factor, which inhibits the luteotropic effects of estradiol and disrupts the intraluteal circuit<sup>(29)</sup>. These data partially explain why we experienced lower rates of pregnancy in women with high estradiol drop after ovulation trigger; an average estrogenic effect is necessary for optimal corpus luteum function. The proposed underlying mechanisms of insufficient function of the corpus luteum included "supraphysiologic estradiol level, decreased luteinizing hormone level, inhibition of the corpus luteum, and asynchronization of estradiol and progesterone"(30,31). A Meta-analyses on estrogen plus progesterone replacement during luteal phase of the cycle showed higher rates of clinical pregnancy compared with progesterone alone in women undergoing IVF(32). According to this and data from our study, an average but not supraphysiologic estrogen function seems to be mandatory during the luteal phase of ovulation induction cycles; significant drops in the estradiol concentrations after ovulation trigger are associated with IUI cycle treatment failure.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study were approved by the Local Ethics Committee. Zeynep Kamil women and children's health training and research hospital, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Cansu İpekçi, Concept: Tayfun Kutlu, Design: Birsen Konukçu, Data Collection or Processing: Birsen Konukçu, Cansu İpekçi, Analysis or Interpretation: Enis Özkaya, İlhan Şanverdi, Literature Search: Belgin Devranoğlu, Yavuz Şahin, Writing: Enis Özkaya, Tayfun Kutlu, Ateş Karateke. Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- Friedler S, Zimerman A, Schachter M, Raziel A, Strassburger D, Ron El R. The midluteal decline in serum estradiol levels is drastic but not deleterious for implantation after in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer in patients with normal or high responses. Fertil Steril 2005;83:54-60.
- Mitwally MF, Bhakoo HS, Crickard K, Sullivan MW, Batt RE, Yeh J. Estradiol production during controlled ovarian hyperstimulation correlates with treatment outcome in women undergoing in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer. Fertil Steril 2006;86:588-96.
- 3. Blazar AS, Hogan JW, Frankfurter D, Hackett R, Keefe DL. Serum estradiol positively predicts outcomes in patients undergoing in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril 2004;81:1707-9.
- Kosmas IP, Kolibianakis EM, Devroey P. Association of estradiol levels on the day of hCG administration and pregnancy achievement in IVF: a systematic review. Hum Reprod 2004;19:2446-53.
- 5. Costello MF, Emerson S, Lukic J, Sjoblom P, Garrett D, Hughes G, et al. Predictive value of mid luteal progesterone concentration before luteal support in controlled ovarian hyperstimulation with intrauterine insemination. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2004;44:51-6.
- Huang B, Ren X, Wu L, Zhu L, Xu B, Li Y, et al. Elevated progesterone levels on the day of oocyte maturation may affect top quality embryo IVF cycles. PLoS One 2016;11:0145895.
- Kondapalli LA, Molinaro TA, Sammel MD, Dokras A. A decrease in serum estradiol levels after human chorionic gonadotrophin administration predicts significantly lower clinical pregnancy and live birth rates in in vitro fertilization cycles. Hum Reprod 2012;27:2690-7.
- 8. Kyrou D, Popovic-Todorovic B, Fatemi HM, Bourgain C, Haentjens P, Van Landuyt L, et al. Does the estradiol level on the day of human chorionic gonadotrophin administration have an impact on pregnancy rates in patients treated with rec-FSH/GnRH antagonist? Hum Reprod 2009;24:2902-9.
- Molinaro TA, Shaunik A, Lin K, Sammel MD, Barnhart KT. A strict infertility diagnosis has poor agreement with the clinical diagnosis entered into the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology registry. Fertil Steril 2009;92:2088-90.
- 10. Makkar G, Ng EH, Yeung WS, Ho PC. Prognostic factors for successful outcome in patients undergoing controlled ovarian stimulation and intrauterine insemination. Hong Kong Med J 2003;9:341-5.
- 11. Friedler S, Schenker JG, Herman A, Lewin A. The role of ultrasonography in theevaluation of endometrial receptivity following assisted reproductive treatments: a critical review. Hum Reprod Update 1996;2:323-35.
- Maegawa M, Kamada M, Takayanagi M, Naka O, Irahara M, Aono T. Difference of the hormonal profile at the periovulatory phase in pregnant and nonpregnant cycles of infertile women with unexplained etiology. Gynecol Obstet Invest 1993;35:228-31.
- 13. Gleicher N, Brown T, Dudkiewicz A, Karande V, Rao R, Balin M, et al. Estradiol/progesterone substitution in the luteal phase improves pregnancy rates in stimulated cycles--but only in younger women. Early Pregnancy 2000;4:64-73.
- Thuesen LL, Andersen AN, Loft A, Smitz J. Intrafollicular endocrine milieu after addition of hCG to recombinant FSH during controlled ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014;99:517-26.

- 15. Fatemi H, Van Vaerenbergh I. Significance of premature progesterone rise in IVF. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2015;27:242-8.
- Roque M, Valle M, Guimarães F, Sampaio M, Geber S. Freezeall policy: fresh vs. frozen-thawed embryo transfer. Fertil Steril 2015;103:1190-3.
- Liu L, Zhao L, Li TC, Zhu H, Lin X, Jin X, et al. Comparison of progesterone measurement on day of, and day after, HCG administration in IVF-embryo transfer cycles. Reprod Biomed Online 2015;30:157-65.
- Papaleo E, Corti L, Vanni VS, Pagliardini L, Ottolina J, De Michele F, et al. Basal progesterone level as the main determinant of progesterone elevation on the day of progesterone elevation on the day of hCG triggering in controlled ovarian stimulation cycles. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2014;290:169-76.
- 19. Rehman R, Hussain Z, Zuberi NA. Prediction of success in intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) byestimation of serum estradiol/progesterone ratio on the day of embryo transfer. J Pak Med Assoc 2013;63:609-13.
- 20. Venetis CA, Kolibianakis EM, Bosdou JK, Tarlatzis BC. Progesterone elevation and probability of pregnancy after IVF: a systematic review and meta-analysis of over 60 000 cycles. Hum Reprod Update 2013;19:433-57.
- Bosch E, Valencia I, Escudero E, Crespo J, Simon C, Remohi J, et al. Premature luteinization during gonadotropin-releasing hormone antagonist cycles and its relationship with in vitro fertilization outcome. Fertil Steril 2003;80:1444-9.
- 22. Al-Azemi M, Kyrou D, Kolibianakis EM, Humaidan P, Van Vaerenbergh I, Devroey P, et al. Elevated progesterone during ovarian stimulation for IVF. Reprod Biomed Online 2012;24:381-8.
- 23. Lee FK, Lai TH, Lin TK, Horng SG, Chen SC. Relationship of progesterone/estradiol ratio on day of hCG administration and pregnancy outcomes in high responders undergoing in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril 2009;92:1284-9.

- 24. Lai TH, Lee FK, Lin TK, Horng SG, Chen SC, Chen YH, et al. An increased serum progesterone-to-estradiol ratio on the day of human chorionic gonadotropin administration does not have a negative impact on clinical pregnancy rate in women with normal ovarian reserve treated with a long gonadotropin releasing hormone agonist protocol. Fertil Steril 2009;92:508-14.
- 25. Younis JS, Haddad S, Matilsky M, Ben-Ami M. Premature luteinization: could it be an early manifestation of low ovarian reserve? Fertil Steril 1998;69:461-5.
- 26. Requena A, Cruz M, Bosch E, Meseguer M, Garcia-Velasco JA. High progesterone levels in women with high ovarian response do not affect clinical outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2014;12:69.
- 27. Bourgain C, Ubaldi F, Tavaniotou A, Smitz J, Van Steirteghem AC, Devroey P. Endometrial hormone receptors and proliferation index in the periovulatory phase of stimulated embryo transfer cycles in comparison with natural cycles and relation to clinical pregnancy outcome. Fertil Steril 2002;78:237-44.
- 28. Elgindy EA, El-Haieg DO, Mostafa MI, Shafiek M. Does luteal estradiol supplementation have a role in long agonist cycles? Fertil Steril 2010;93:2182-8.
- 29. Wuttke W, Theiling K, Hinney B, Pitzel L. Regulation of steroid production and its function with in the corpus luteum. Steroids 1998;63:299-305.
- 30. Pabuccu R, Akar ME. Luteal phase support in assisted reproductive technology. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2005;17:277-81.
- Mun oz E, Taboas E, Portela S, Aguilar J, Fernandez I, Muñoz L, et al. Treatment of luteal phase defects in assisted reproduction. Curr DrugTargets 2013;14:832-42.
- 32. Zhang XM, Lv F, Wang P, Huang XM, Liu KF, Pan Y, et al. Estrogen supplementation to progesterone as luteal phase support in patients undergoing in vitro fertilization: systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015;94:459.



### The value of urea, creatinine, prolactin, and beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin of vaginal fluid in the diagnosis of premature preterm rupture of membranes in pregnancy

Gebelikte prematüre preterm membran rüptürü tanısında vajinal sıvıda üre, kreatinin, prolaktin ve beta-insan koryonik gonadotropinin değeri

Marzieh Ghasemi<sup>1,2</sup>, Reyhaneh Jaami<sup>2</sup>, Ashraf Alleyassin<sup>3</sup>, Alireza Ansarimoghaddam<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Reproductive Health Research Center, Zahedan, Iran

<sup>2</sup>Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Ali-Ibn Abitaleb Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Zahedan, Iran

<sup>3</sup>Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Shariati Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tehran, Iran

<sup>4</sup>Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Department of Epidemiology and Health, Zahedan, Iran

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To evaluate the effectiveness of urea, creatinine, prolactin, and the beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin ( $\beta$ -hCG) of vaginal fluid in the diagnosis premature preterm rupture of membranes (PROM).

**Materials and Methods:** In this observational study, 160 pregnant women with gestational age of 28 to 40 weeks were divided into two equal groups: investigation (documented PROM) and control (intact membrane) groups. Five cubic centimeters of normal saline was poured into the vagina of all participants and the liquid was extracted after a few minutes using a syringe. The liquid was sent to a laboratory for examination. Data were analyzed using a t-test.

**Results:** The volume of urea, creatinine, prolactin, and  $\beta$ -hCG was significantly different in the two groups (p<0.001). Based on receiver operating characteristic curve and cut-off point, sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values of  $\beta$ -hCG for detecting PROM were 87.5%, 86%, 86.4%, and 87.3%, respectively. Also, the same factors for urea in detecting PROM were 79.7%, 82.5%, 81.8%, and 80.4%, respectively. Creatinine had 74.6% sensitivity, 85% specificity, and 83% and 77.2% positive and negative predictive values for detecting PROM. Finally, prolactin had 87.5% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 90% positive and 88% negative predictive values for detecting PROM.

**Conclusion:** Prolactin and  $\beta$ -hCG have more diagnostic value than urea and creatinine in detecting PROM, and can be used in suspected cases. **Keywords:** Premature preterm rupture of membranes, urea, creatinine, prolactin,  $\beta$ -hCG, vaginal fluid

#### Öz

**Amaç:** Prematüre preterm membran rüptürü (PMR) tanısında, vajinal sıvıda üre, kreatinin, prolaktin ve insan koryonik gonadotropin hormonu beta alt ünitesinin ( $\beta$ -hCG) etkililiğini değerlendirmek.

**Gereç ve Yöntemler:** Bu gözlemsel çalışmada, gestasyonel yaşı 28-40 hafta arasında olan 160 gebe kadın, araştırma (dökümante edilmiş PMR) ve kontrol (membranı intakt) grupları olarak iki eşit gruba ayrılmıştır. Tüm katılımcıların vajinalarına 5 cc normal serum fizyolojik verilmiş ve verilen sıvı birkaç dakika sonra bir enjektör ile çekilmiştir. Sıvı, inceleme için bir laboratuvara gönderilmiştir. Veriler t-testi kullanılarak analiz edilmiştir.

**Bulgular:** Üre, kreatinin, prolaktin ve  $\beta$ -hCG hacimleri iki grup arasında anlamlı olarak farklıdır (p<0,001). Alıcı işletim karakteristik eğrisine ve kesim noktasına bağlı olarak, PMR tespitinde  $\beta$ -hCG için, duyarlılık, özgüllük, pozitif ve negatif belirleyicilik değerleri sırası ile %87,5, %86, %86,4 ve %87,3'tür. Ayrıca, PMR tespitinde bu değerler üre için sırası ile %79,7, %82,5, %81,8 ve %80,4'tür. Kreatinin PMR tespitinde, %74,6 duyarlılık, %85 özgüllük, %83 ve %77,2 pozitif ve negatif belirleyicilik değerlerine sahiptir. Son olarak prolaktin, PMR tespitinde %87,5 duyarlılığa, %90 özgüllüğe, %90 pozitif ve %88 negatif belirleyicilik değerlerine sahiptir.

**Sonuç:** PMR tespitinde prolaktin ve  $\beta$ -hCG, üre ve kreatinine göre daha yüksek tanı değerine sahiptir. Şüpheli olgularda kullanılabilirler. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Prematüre membran rüptürü, üre, kreatinin, prolaktin,  $\beta$ -hCG, vajinal sıvı

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Marzieh Ghasemi, MD,

Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Ali-Ibn Abitaleb Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Zahedan, Iran

Phone: +98 54 3229 5715 E-mail: drghasemim@yahoo.com

Received/Gelis Tarihi : 10.04.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 14.06.2016

#### Introduction

Premature rupture of membranes (PROM) refers to fetal membranes' rupture before the onset of labor. If it occurs before 37 weeks of pregnancy, it is called premature preterm rupture of membrane (PPROM)<sup>(1)</sup>. In term or preterm pregnancies, a long duration between PROM and delivery can result in maternal and neonatal morbidity. This includes intrauterine infections (chorioamnionitis), neonatal and fetal sepsis, fetal prematurity, placental abruption, umbilical cord prolapse, cesarean delivery, and an increased risk of maternal and neonatal mortality<sup>(1-6)</sup>.

Any patient with a history of vaginal leakage during pregnancy or a decreased level of amniotic fluid in ultrasound should be evaluated carefully because of the adverse effects on pregnancy outcomes. Early and accurate diagnosis allows clinicians to design some interventions for optimizing maternal and neonatal outcomes and decrease serious complications<sup>(7)</sup>.

Detecting PROM is sometimes easy in a speculum examination with the observation of amniotic fluid accumulation in the vagina or liquid outflow from cervix<sup>(8)</sup>. However, when the membrane rupture is small or it is impossible to clearly see amniotic fluid leakage, PROM cannot be detected easily, which might lead to failure in diagnosis and non-performance of necessary interventions<sup>(9,10)</sup>. There are a few methods for PPROM diagnosis. Fern and nitrazine are two traditional, commonly used tests. Although they are easy and rapid tests, both have high false positive and negative results, for example through blood, semen or cervical mucus contamination or technical errors, which means they are not completely reliabe<sup>(8-13)</sup>.

Ultrasound examination with amniotic fluid determination is not a good test because it cannot differentiate PROM from other causes of oligohydramnios<sup>(7)</sup>. Although the amnio-dye or tampon test is a standard test for accurate diagnosis, it involves amniocentesis and instillation of dye; therefore, it is an aggressive test and has a risk of placental abruption, miscarriage, bleeding, infection, and iatrogenic uterine perforation<sup>(7)</sup>. The Amnisure ROM test is another new test that is easy, fast, and minimally invasive, with high sensitivity and specificity. This test identifies trace amounts of placental alpha-microglobulin-1 (PAMG-1), which is abundant in amniotic fluid<sup>(14,15)</sup>. However, Amnisure it is not available in many centers and it is expensive.

For this reason, a non-invasive, simple, and inexpensive method of detecting PPROM is required. Several markers have been studied such as alpha-fetoprotein, fetal fibronectin, creatinine, insulin growth factor binding protein 1, urea, prolactin, and  $\beta$ -hCG<sup>(5,7,13-18)</sup>.

 $\beta$ -hCG is a glycoprotein that is secreted in the placenta from syncytiotrophoblasts. Prolactin is a single-chain polypeptide that is secreted during pregnancy from the mother's and fetus's pituitary and decidua. Urea and creatinine are both excreted through glomerular filtration. These markers are also available in amniotic fluid and have been examined for finding PPROM in some studies<sup>(5,16-18)</sup>. The present study evaluated the value

of urea, creatinine, prolactin, and  $\beta$ -hCG of vaginal fluid in the diagnosis of PPROM in pregnancy.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Between April 2013 and August 2014, 160 pregnant women with gestational age of 28 to 40 weeks were enrolled in the study. All women presented to our center in Zahedan, Sistan and Baluchestan province, Iran. The aim of the study was explained for all participants before their participation and informed consent was received. The study was Approved by the Ethics Committee of Zahedan University of Medical Sciences. All patients were divided into two groups. The PROM group comprised women with ruptured membranes and the control group included women who had just presented to our center for periodic examinations. The mean ages of the investigation and control groups were  $25.0\pm6.5$  years and  $25.8\pm5.5$  years, respectively (p=0.386).

Gestational age was determined based on the last menstruation period and ultrasound of the first trimester of pregnancy. Membrane rupture was verified in a sterile speculum examination and observation of fluid leakage in the cervix or accumulation of fluid in the posterior fornix of the vagina, or by both nitrazine and Fern tests. Patients with fetal malformations, fetal growth restriction, fetal distress, placenta previa, vaginal bleeding, vaginal infection, maternal disease, hypertension, preeclampsia and other pregnancy complications were excluded.

Five cubic centimeters of normal saline sterile solution was poured by a syringe in all participants posterior vagina fornix. After a few minutes the fluid was aspirated by the same syringe and was sent to a laboratory for examination. The liquid was centrifuged for 10 minutes. The Alcyon automatic biochemical kit was used to measure urea and creatinine (Pars co., Iran) and DiaPlus enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (USA) was used for measuring  $\beta$ -hCG and prolactin.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

T-test and chi-square were used to measure the quantitative and qualitative variables. Receiver operating characteristic curve was used to determine a cut-off value. The cut-off point was set at the highest optimal sensitivity and specificity. The statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) software version 16 (Chicago, IL, USA) was used to analyze the data. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

There was no significant difference between the two groups regarding demographic characteristics (Table 1). The means of  $\beta$ -hCG, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine and prolactin were 203.1±180.9 mIU/mL, 8.5±6.3 mg/dL, 0.86±0.68 mg/dL, and 69.8±37.9 mIU/mL in the investigation group and 17.4±9.9 mIU/mL, 2.7±1.4 mg/dL, 0.20±0.16 mg/dL, and 10.9±5.6 mIU/mL in the control group. All of the results were significant (p<0.001) (Table 2).

Based on the receiver operating characteristic curve, the cut-off point for  $\beta$ -hCG was 20.5 mIU/mL. With that cut-off point, the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values for detecting PROM were 87.5%, 86%, 86.4%, and 87.3%, respectively. Also, the cut-off point for blood urea nitrogen was 3.5 mg/dL with 79.7% sensitivity, 82.5% specificity, and 81.8% and 80.4% positive and negative predictive values for detecting PROM. The cut-off point for creatinine was 0.25 mg/dL and it had 74.6% sensitivity, 85% specificity, and 83% and 77.2% positive and negative predictive values for detecting PROM. Finally, the cut-off point for prolactin was 16 ng/mL based with 87.5% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 90% and 88% positive and negative predictive values (Figure 1). A likelyhood ratio was determined for each diagnostic marker (Table 3).

#### Discussion

If PPROM is diagnosed early in pregnancy, many of its adverse effects can be prevented<sup>(1)</sup>. Hence, using biochemical tests and its markers in the vagina has been increased for early diagnosis of ruptured membrane. Various factors such as alpha fetoprotein, insulin-like hormone, prolactin, urea, creatinine and  $\beta$ -hCG,<sup>(5,16-18)</sup> plus alanine transaminase and aspartate transaminase<sup>(19)</sup>. have been suggested and studied. Researchers are still looking for a simple, fast, and easy way to

Table 1. Comparison of the demographic characteristics

detect membrane rupture that is accessible and non-invasive. Although PAMG-1 is a good choice for detecting PROM, it is



Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristic curve for vaginal beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin urea, creatinine, prolactin

ROC: Receiver operating characteristic, BUN: Blood urea nitrogen, PRL: Prolaktin

Variable	Investigation group (mean ± standard deviation)	Control group (mean ± standard deviation)	р
Age (years old)	25.0±5.6	25.8±5.5	0.368
Gestational age	36.4±2.5	35.7±2.4	0.071
No. of pregnancies	2.4±1.7	2.7±1.6	0.245
No. of deliveries	1.2±1.5	1.4±1.4	0.460
No. of abortions	0.21±0.54	0.32±0.63	0.229
The analyses were done using ind	ependent t-test		

Table 2. Comparison of	of means of beta sub-un	nit of human chorionic	gonadotropin urea.	creatinine, and	prolactin (p<0.001)

Vaginal fluid	<b>β</b> -hCG	Urea	Creatinine	Prolactin markers (mean ± SD)
PPROM group	203.1±180.9	8.5±6.3	0.86±0.68	69.8±37.9
Control group	17.4±9.9	2.7±1.4	0.20±0.16	10.9±5.6

β-hCG: Beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin, SD: Standard deviation, PPROM: Premature preterm rupture of membrane

Table 3. Evaluation of indicators for diagnostic premature preterm rupture of membrane markers

Variable	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	PLR	NLR
<b>β</b> -hCG	20.5	87.5	86	86.4	87.3	6.25	0.15
Urea	3.5	79.7	82.5	81.8	80.4	4.95	0.25
Creatinine	0.25	74.6	85	83	77.2	4.97	0.30
Prolactin	16	87.5	90	90	88	8.75	0.14

PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: Negative predictive value, PLR: Positive likelihood ratio, NLR: Negative likelihood ratio, β-hCG: Beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin

Study first author		Cut-off	Sensitivity %	Specificity %	PPV	NPV
Taheripanah et al. <sup>(22)</sup>	Prolactin	16	96	79.41	95.2	82.3
	<b>β</b> -hCG	12.5	69.33	69.85	69.4	69.6
Mohamed and Mostafa <sup>(21)</sup>	Urea	13.2	100	100	100	100
	Creatinine	0.31	100	100	100	100
	<b>β</b> -hCG	20	83	100	100	85.6
Kafali and Oksüzler <sup>(23)</sup>	Urea	12	100	100	100	100
	Creatinine	0.6				
Buyukbayrak* et al. <sup>(2)</sup>	Prolactin	30	95	87	84	93
Kariman et al. <sup>(24)</sup>	Urea	6	90	79	83	87.5
	Creatinine	0.45	100	100	100	100
Bahasadri et al. <sup>(20)</sup>	<b>β-</b> hCG			79.5	93	84
Shahin and Raslan <sup>(5)</sup>	Prolactin		76	70	71.4	74.5
	<b>β</b> -hCG		84	72	75	81.5

Table 4. Comparison the values of sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values for vaginal fluid markers other studies

 $\beta$ -hCG (mIU/mL), Urea, Creatinine (mg/dL); Prolactin (ng/mL), \*Buyukbayrak  $\mu$ IU/mL, PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: Negative predictive value,  $\beta$ -hCG: Beta sub-unit of human chorionic gonadotropin

not available in most centers and is expensive compared with markers such as prolactin or  $\beta$ -hCG. Thus, some researchers have preferred to find a more convenient diagnostic method.

Bahasadri et al.<sup>(20)</sup> recorded 93% sensitivity and 84% specificity for  $\beta$ -hCG of vaginal fluid, which is in agreement with our findings. The authors reported that there was more  $\beta$ -hCG in vaginal fluid of women with PPROM than in pregnant women with intact membranes; therefore, it could be a reliable and fast way of detecting membrane rupture. In another study in 2011, Mohamed and Mostafa<sup>(21)</sup> studied the value of urea, creatinine, and  $\beta$ -hCG of vaginal fluid in detecting rupture of membranes of 298 women. They documented 100% sensitivity and specificity for urea and creatinine and 83% sensitivity and 100% specificity for  $\beta$ -hCG, which are consistent with our findings (Table 4).

In 2009, Taheripanah et al.<sup>(22)</sup> investigated the diagnostic value of prolactin and  $\beta$ -hCG of vaginal liquid in detecting PPROM. They arrived at 96% sensitivity and 79.4% specificity for prolactin, and 69.3% sensitivity and 69.8% specificity for  $\beta$ -hCG. The authors concluded that although  $\beta$ -hCG could help in detecting membranes rupture, it was not as sensitive and specific as prolactin<sup>(22)</sup>. In our study, when we compared positive likelihood ratios for diagnostic markers, we found prolactin as the marker with the most sensitivity and specificity values. This is in agreement with Taheripanah et al.<sup>(22)</sup> findings. Kafali and Oksüzler<sup>(23)</sup> studied urea and creatinine of vaginal liquid with a 12 mg/dL cut-off point for urea and 0.6 mg/dL for creatinine and found that the specificity and sensitivity of both markers was 100%.

In another study, Kariman et al.<sup>(24)</sup> investigated the diagnostic value of urea and creatinine on vaginal fluid of 179 pregnant women with gestational age of 14 to 42 weeks. For urea, they

found 90% sensitivity, 79% specificity, and 83% and 87.5% positive and negative predictive values with a 6.0 mg/dL cutoff point. For creatinine, with a 0.45 mg/dL cut-off point, the authors found 100% sensitivity and specificity. Creatinine had a higher diagnostic value than urea<sup>(24)</sup>. However, creatinine had less diagnostic value in our study, which might have been because of the difference in laboratory analysis methods and cut-off points (Table 4).

In 2004, Buyukbayrak et al.<sup>(2)</sup> found that prolactin with a 30 µIU/mL cut-off point had 95% sensitivity, 87% specificity, and 87% accuracy, which is consistent with our study. Also, Shahin and Raslan<sup>(5)</sup> demonstrated lower predictive values for prolactin than in our study. This may be because of the different cut-off points or smaller sample size.

Prolactin and  $\beta$ -hCG have more diagnostic value than urea and creatinine in detecting PPROM, and can be used in suspected cases. These tests are easy and not expensive, and can be used in any medical center. It is suggested that cut-off value for rupture of membranes in pregnancy be determined in different gestational ages in future studies.

#### Acknowledgement

This article based on a dissertation by Reyhaneh Jaami under supervision of Marzieh Ghasemi. Also, the authors would like to thank Seyed Muhammad Hussein Mousavinasab for his sincere cooperation in editing this text.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Informed Consent: It was taken.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Marzieh Ghasemi, Reyhaneh Jaami, Ashraf Alleyassin, Concept: Reyhaneh Jaami, Marzieh Ghasemi, Design: Marzieh Ghasemi, Alireza Ansarimoghaddam, Data Collection or Processing: Marzieh Ghasemi, Reyhaneh Jaami, Analysis or Interpretation: Marzieh Ghasemi, Alireza Ansarimoghaddam, Literature Search: Reyhaneh Jaami, Writing: All authors.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: This study was funded by Zahedan University of Medical Sciences (grant number 91.5810).

#### References

- Cunningham G, Leveno K, Bloom S, Spong CY, Dashe J. William's Obstetrics. 24th Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill Education; 2014.
- Buyukbayrak EE, Turan C, Unal O, Dansuk R, Cengizoglu B. Diagnostic power of the vaginal-washing fluid prolactin assay as an alternative method for the diagnosis of premature of membranes. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2004;15:120-5.
- Hillier SL, Martius J, Krohn M, Kiviat N, Holmes KK, Eschenbach DA. A case-control study of chorioamnionic infection and histologic chorioamnionitis in prematurity. N Engl J Med 1988;319:972-8.
- Tavassoli F, Ghasemi M, Mohamadzade A, Sharifian J. Survey of pregnancy outcome in preterm premature rupture of membranes with amniotic fluid index <5 and ≥5. Oman Med J 2010;25:118-23.</li>
- Shahin M, Raslan H. Comparative study of three amniotic fluid markers in premature rupture of membranes: prolactin, beta subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin, and alpha-fetoprotein. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2007;63:195-9.
- Defranco E, Atkins K, Heyl PS. Preterm labor, premature rupture of membranes and cervical insufficiency. In: Evans, AT, editor. Manual of Obstetrics.7th (ed). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007. p.135-50.
- Park JS, Lee SE, Norwitz ER. Non-invasive Testing for Rupture of the Fetal Membranes. Fetal and Maternal Healthcare. US Obstetric and Gynecol 2007:13-6.
- Friedman ML, McElin TW. Diagnosis of rupture fetal membranes: Clinical study and review of the literature. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1969;104:544-50.
- 9. Lewis DF, Major CA, Towers CV, Asrat T, Harding JA, Garoite TJ. Effects of digital vaginal examinations on latency period in preterm premature rupture of membranes. Obstet Gynecol 1992;80:630-4.
- Ladfors L. Pre-labor ruptures of the membranes at or near term: clinical and epidemiological studies PhD thesis, University of Gothenburg, Sweden;1998.

- Reece EA, Chervenak FA, Moya FA, Hobbins JC. Amniotic fluid arborization: effect of blood, meconium, and PH alteration. Obstet Gynecol 1984;64:248-50
- 12. Rosemond RL, Lombardi SJ, Boehm FH. Ferning of amniotic fluid contaminated with blood. Obstet Gynecol 1990;75:338-40
- 13. Lee SE, Park JS, Norwitz ER, Kim KW, Park HS, Jun JK. Measurement of placental alpha-microglobulin-1 in cervicovaginal discharge to diagnose rupture of membranes. Obstet Gynecol 2007;109:634-40
- Doret M, Cartier R, Miribel J, Massardier J, Massoud M. Premature preterm rupture of the membrane diagnosis in early pregnancy: PAMG-1 and IGFBP-1 detection in amniotic fluid with biochemical tests. Clin Biochem 2013;46:1816-9
- 15. Palacio M, Kühnert M, Berger R, Larios CL, Marcellin L. Metaanalysis of studies on biochemical marker tests for the diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes: comparison of performance indexes. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2014;14:183.
- Li HY, Chang TS. Vaginal fluid creatinine, human chorionic gonadotropin and alpha-fetoprotein levels for detecting premature rupture of membranes. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi (Taipei) 2000;63:686-90.
- 17. Ni CY, Jia WX, Yi WM, Feng LH, Yu LZ. Practicability of using vaginal fluid markers in detecting premature rupture of membranes. Ann Clin Biochem 2003;40:542-5.
- Lockwood CJ, Senyei AE, Dische MR, Casal D, Shah KD, Thung SN, et al. Fetal fibronectin in cervical and vaginal secretions as a predictor of preterm delivery. N Engl J Med 1991;325:669-74.
- 19. Ghasemi M, Jami R, Moghadam AA, Jahantigh A. Evaluation of the diagnostic value of aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase of vaginal fluid in the diagnosis of preterm premature rupture of membranes. IJAPBS 2015;4:67-71.
- 20. Bahasadri S, Kashanian M, Khalili S. Evaluation of vaginal fluid  $\beta$ -HCG for diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes. Razi J Med Sci J 2010;17:17-23.
- 21. Mohamed A, Mostafa W. The value of vaginal fluid urea, creatinine and  $\beta$ -hCG in the diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes. Kasr Al-Aini J Obstet Gynecol 2011;2:41-7.
- 22. Taheripanah R, Davoodi Z, Entezari A, Hosseini M, Khodakarami N. Diagnostic value of prolactin and  $\beta$ -hCG levels of vaginal fluid in diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes. J Shahid Sadoughi Uni Med Sci 2009;17:234-41.
- 23. Kafali H, Oksüzler C. Vaginal fluid urea and creatinine in diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2007;275:157-60.
- 24. Kariman N, Afrakhte M, Hedayati M, Fallahian M, Alavi H. Diagnosis of premature rupture of membranes by assessment of urea and creatinine in vaginal washing fluid. Iran J Reprod Med 2013;11:93-100.



### Changes of intraocular pressure in different trimesters of pregnancy among Syrian refugees in Turkey: A crosssectional study

Türkiye'de yaşayan Suriyeli göçmenlerde gebeliğin farklı trimesterlerinde göz içi basıncındaki değişiklikler: Kesitsel çalışma

Harun Egemen Tolunay<sup>1</sup>, Sait Coşkun Özcan<sup>1</sup>, Yavuz Emre Şükür<sup>2</sup>, Deniz Özarslan Özcan<sup>3</sup>, Fatih Mehmet Adıbelli<sup>4</sup>, Neşe Gül Hilali<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Suruç State Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Şanlıurfa, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Keçiören Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Akçakale State Hospital, Clinic of Ophthalmology, Şanlıurfa, Turkey

<sup>4</sup>Harran University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Şanlıurfa, Turkey

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To evaluate the physiologic changes in intraocular pressure associated with pregnancy in healthy Syrian refugee women in Turkey.

Materials and Methods: In this cross-sectional study, intraocular pressures were measured using a Goldmann tonometer in 235 patients in the first, second, and third trimester of pregnancy and puerperium among Syrian refugees in Turkey.

**Results:** Mean intraocular pressures values of the right eye were  $15.5\pm2.5$  mmHg,  $14.4\pm1.4$  mmHg,  $13.9\pm1.6$  and  $14.7\pm1.9$  mmHg in the three trimesters and puerperium, respectively. Mean intraocular pressures values of the left eye were  $15.3\pm1.6$  mmHg,  $14.3\pm1.4$  mmHg,  $13.9\pm1.6$  and  $15.3\pm2.2$  mmHg in the three trimesters and puerperium, respectively. The mean intraocular pressures values measured from both eyes were significantly higher in first trimester and puerperal period than in the third trimester (p<0.001).

**Conclusion:** Changes in the intraocular pressure in pregnancy are common and temporary. This study shows the baseline changes in the intraocular pressure during pregnancy in healthy women. Therefore, we cannot extrapolate the results to the whole eye. A decrease in intraocular pressures was shown in healthy pregnant women.

Keywords: Pregnancy, intraocular pressure, Syrian refugees

#### Öz

Amaç: Türkiye'de yaşayan Suriyeli göçmenlerde gebelik esnasında göz içi basıncındaki fizyolojik değişikliklerin belirlenmesi.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Bu kesitsel çalışmada Türkiye'de yaşayan 235 Suriyeli göçmenin birinci, ikinci ve üçüncü trimester gebelik ve puerperiyumda göz içi basınçları Goldmann tonometresi ile ölçülmüştür.

**Bulgular:** Sağ göz için ortalama göz içi basıncı birinci, ikinci ve üçüncü trimester ve puerperiyum için sırasıyla 15,5±2,5 mmHg, 14,4±1,4 mmHg, 13,9±1,6 mmHg ve 14,7±1,9 mmHg olarak ölçülmüştür. Sol göz için sırasıyla göz içi basıncı 15,3±1,6 mmHg, 14,3±1,4 mmHg, 13,9±1,6 ve 15,3±2,2 mmHg olarak ölçülmüştür. Ortalama göz içi basıncı iki göz içinde birinci trimesterde ve puerperiyumda üçüncü trimestere göre daha yüksek olarak bulunmuştur (p<0,001).

**Sonuç:** Gebelikte oküler değişiklikler yaygındır ve geçicidir. Bu çalışma Türkiye'de yaşayan gebe ve puerperiyumdaki Suriyeli göçmenlerden elde edilen verilerle yapılmıştır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Gebelik, intraoküler basınç, Suriyeli göçmenler

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Harun Egemen Tolunay, MD, Suruç State Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Şanlıurfa, Turkey Phone: +90 555 773 63 03 E-mail: harunegementolunay@gmail.com Received /Geliş Tarihi : 27.01.2016 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 18.03.2016

#### Introduction

Pregnancy is a complex physiologic process that affects all organic systems. Ocular changes in pregnancy can be physiologic or pathologic. Decrease in intraocular pressure (IOP) in pregnancy has been shown in the literature<sup>(1)</sup>. Most physiologic changes due to pregnancy are usually marked in last trimester, in which the hormonal status is at its peak<sup>(2)</sup>. In pregnancy the probable reasons of the reduction of the IOP are the increase in the outflow of aqueous humor (AH), physiologic relaxation of ligaments and reduction of cornea rigidity that occurs in late pregnancy, the reducing effect of diminished venous pressure in upper extremities on episcleral venous pressure, vasodilator effects of pregnancy hormones, and pregnancy acidosis<sup>(3)</sup>.

Due to hormonal influences, physiologic ocular changes have been shown in pregnancy in Caucasian women. Cornea sensitivity, refractive status, IOP, and visual acuity can change in pregnancy<sup>(4-6)</sup>. Therefore, it is important to be aware of physiologic changes as well as of the potential effects on preexisting disease and complications in order to counsel and advise women who are currently pregnant. The aim of our research was to observe the physiologic varieties of IOP in pregnant Syrian refugees in Turkey.

#### Materials and Methods

A cross-sectional study was performed after obtaining approval from the Ethics Commission of the Harran University Faculty of Medicine, Şanlıurfa, Turkey. All patients provided written informed consent. Patients were selected in the obstetrics and gynecology outpatients clinic of Suruç State Hospital and Harran University Faculty of Medicine between August 5th, 2015, and September 13th, 2015. Two hundred-eighty pregnant women were evaluated for suitability during the research period. Eighteen patients did not meet the inclusion criteria and 23 patients refused to participate in the study. Four patients were excluded from the study during IOP measurement because of excessive blinking. In total, 235 patients were included in the research. The inclusion criteria were to be a female Syrian refugee aged between 20-35 years with a known last menstrual period. The exclusion criteria were the presence of any systemic disease such as hypertensive disorders, diabetes mellitus, or any ocular disease. Patients with preeclampsia and gestational diabetes were treated and managed in accordance with current guidelines, but these patients were not evaluated in the research. In addition, we did not include any twin pregnancies in the study. The study groups consisted of pregnant women in the

first, second, and third trimesters, and women with puerpera. The first third or 14 weeks of pregnancy were defined as the first trimester, 14-28 weeks of pregnancy were defined as the second trimester, and the last third of pregnancy was defined as the third trimester. Puerperium is defined as the period from the end of labor until involution of the uterus is complete, usually lasting between 3 and 6 weeks. Patients were assessed in clinical and ultrasonographic examinations during antenatal screening. Each patient's age, parity, and smoking status was recorded. The smoking rate was low in our patient population. Patients who smoked more than 5 cigarettes a day were not included in the study.

A full ophthalmoscopic examination was performed to exclude any anterior and posterior segment illness. The IOPs were evaluated with the same Goldmann tonometer (Optilasa, S.L., Madrid, Spain). The device was calibrated prior to the study. One drop of 0.5% proparacain was instilled into the each eye of the subjects and both inferior conjunctival sacs were touched with a dry fluorescein strip (Biotech, Gujarat, India) to measure the IOP of the eyes; as soon as a value was established it was recorded. The right eye was always measured first. All measurements were performed in the morning between 08:00 AM and 10:00 AM to avoid the diurnal variation of IOP.

#### Statistical Analyses

The statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) version 20.0 for Windows was used for all statistical analyses. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test distribution of normality. According to the results, parametric tests were preferred. We used one-way ANOVA test to compare continuous variables. Categorical variables were compared with the chi-square test. A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. When we found a statistically significant difference, we performed a posthoc analysis between all group pairs to determine the source of statistical significance.

#### Results

There were 61 (25.9%) patients in the 1<sup>st</sup> trimester, 76 (32.3%) patients in the 2<sup>nd</sup> trimester, 54 (22.9%) patients in the 3<sup>rd</sup> trimester, and 44 (18.7%) patients in the puerperal period. The average age of the patients was 27.4 $\pm$ 4.7 years. We found no statistically significant difference in age between the groups (p=0.167). The mean parity number of the patients was 3.2 $\pm$ 0.2. Similarly, the mean parity number and ratio of smokers within the groups were also comparable (p=0.310, p=0.052, respectively) (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographics of the study groups

01 701					
	1 <sup>st</sup> trimester n=61	2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester n=76	3 <sup>rd</sup> trimester n=54	Puerperal period n=44	р
Age, years (mean ± SD)	27.1±5.1	28.2±4.3	26.5±4.8	27.9±4.9	0.167
Parity, n (mean ± SD)	2.9±1.7	3.3±1.3	3.1±1.9	3.5±2.4	0.310
Smoking, n (%)	2 (3.3%)	10 (13.2%)	6 (11.1%)	9 (20.5%)	0.052

Table 2 summarizes the mean IOP values of the studied population. The mean IOP values measured from the right eye were significantly higher in the first trimester and puerperal period than in the third trimester ( $15.5\pm2.5$  mmHg, and  $14.7\pm1.9$  mmHg vs.  $13.9\pm1.6$  mmHg, respectively; p<0.001). The mean IOP values measured from the left eye were significantly higher in the first trimester and puerperal period than in the second and third trimesters ( $15.3\pm1.6$ , and  $15.3\pm2.2$  mmHg, vs.  $14.3\pm1.4$  mmHg and  $13.9\pm1.6$  mmHg, respectively (p<0.001).

#### Discussion

This is the first study, to our knowledge, to examine the physiologic changes of IOP in pregnant Syrian refugees in Turkey. The present cross-sectional research was conducted to evaluate the relationship between pregnancy period and IOP. Our results clearly demonstrate that the IOP values decrease as the gestational period progresses and return to normal in the puerperal period. The lowest IOP values were detected in the third trimester of pregnancy. Early studies revealed the effects of pregnancy on the eyes, which in addition to new changes and pre-existing ocular disorders, may change their course owing to the widespread changes during pregnancy, hormonal and otherwise, that may either be exacerbated or ameliorated<sup>(7)</sup>.

The changes in IOP during pregnancy were significant in our study. There was a decline in IOP from the first trimester to the third trimester. These changes are frequently temporary and returned to normal levels after delivery<sup>(8)</sup>. Our finding of an ocular hypotensive effect in the third trimester of pregnancy is consistent with other studies in the literature<sup>(1,3,9,10)</sup>. Otherwise, Philips and Gore<sup>(11)</sup> reported no significant difference in the ocular hypotensive effect of late pregnancy in women who were normotensive and hypertensive.

The main physiological mechanism responsible for the decrease in IOP during pregnancy is not fully known. The decrease in IOP during pregnancy is likely multifactorial<sup>(12)</sup>. The decreased IOP in pregnancy may be due to elevated hormonal levels, which cause an increase in fluid outflow conductance without altering the rate of fluid entry<sup>(13)</sup>. It is well documented that progesterone, estrogen, and other placental hormone levels change during pregnancy. Estrogen has a dilatator effect on the vessels. Omoti et al.<sup>(10)</sup> reported that this vasodilator effect provides a decrease of arterial pressure and thus causes a reduction of AH production. In pregnancy there is a general decrease in peripheral vascular resistance. Therefore, episcleral venous pressure also decreases in pregnancy(14,15). AH outflow is facilitated by this decrease. Also estrogen has a protective effect in the vascular pathology by the production of mediators such as nitric oxide, prostacyclins, endothelin-I, and eicosanoids. These vasodilators cause reduction of resistance<sup>(8)</sup>. In pregnancy with a normal production of AH, the facility of AH drainage is due to the increased levels of the  $\beta$ -hCG and progesterone, and general decreased peripheral vascular resistance. This results in a gradual, statistically significant decrease in IOP during pregnancy<sup>(1)</sup>. The anti-glucocorticoid features of progesterone may have a role in the reduction of IOP. Endogen corticosteroids have an ocular hypertensive effect and progesterone blocks this effect<sup>(16)</sup>. During pregnancy, relaxin is released by the high levels of estrogen. Relaxin is a hormone that has softening properties and in late pregnancy these elastic changes decrease cornea-scleral rigidity and this causes a decrease in IOP by the diminished production of AH<sup>(11)</sup>. The effect of relaxin on outflow facility is thought to be mediated by collagen changes. which in turn affect the rigidity of Schlemm's canal and the trabecular meshwork<sup>(17)</sup>. Saylık and Saylık<sup>(18)</sup> reported that the reduction of IOP was more pronounced in twin pregnancies than in singleton pregnancies because of the presence of higher levels of hormones that affect IOP in twin pregnancies. Oureshi et al.(19) showed that the ocular hypotensive effect of late pregnancy was significantly greater in multigravida women than in those who were primigravida. In our study, the average parity number was 3.2±0.2. The multigravida nature of our patients might have increased the relaxin hormone levels, which could explain the diminished IOP in pregnancy in this research. The small sample size and the cross-sectional study design

were the major limitations of the present study, which prevent drawing definitive conclusions about the progression of IOP. A longitudinal design is necessary to establish the change of IOP in different trimesters of pregnancy. However, we were unable to collect data from a cohort during all pregnancy periods due to the inconsistency of Syrian pregnant women in attending ante-natal follow-up programs in this region of the country.

#### Conclusion

Changes in the IOP in pregnancy are common and temporary. However, these may have an impact on the progression of a preexisting ocular disease. Physicians should know about these

Table 2. Intraocular pressure values of the study groups

	1 <sup>st</sup> trimester n=61	2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester n=76	3 <sup>rd</sup> trimester n=54	Puerperal period n=44	р
IOP-right, mmHg (mean ± SD)	15.5±2.5	14.4±1.4	13.9±1.6	14.7±1.9	< 0.001*
IOP-left, mmHg (mean ± SD)	15.3±1.6	14.3±1.4	13.9±1.6	15.3±2.2	< 0.001**

\*Significance stems from the differences between 1st and 2nd trimesters (p=0.006), 1st and 3rd trimesters (p<0.001), and 3rd trimester and postpartum period (p=0.020) and 3rd trimester and postpar

physiologic changes in pregnancy so as not to consider these changes pathologic. At the same time, the physiologic decrease in IOP could be advantageous for pre-existing glaucoma. Therefore, physiologic changes should be kept in mind in order to prevent misdiagnoses during routine antenatal investigations.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Harran University of Local Ethics Committe, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out bu all participants.

Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Deniz Özarslan Özcan, Fatih Mehmet Adıbelli, Neşe Gül Hilali, Concept: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Design: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Data Collection or Processing: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Analysis or Interpretation: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Yavuz Emre Şükür, Literature Search: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Yavuz Emre Şükür, Writing: Harun Egemen Tolunay, Sait Coşkun Özcan, Deniz Özarslan Özcan, Yavuz Emre Şükür.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- Pilas-Pomykalska M, Luczak M, Czajkowski J, Woźniak P, OszukowskiP. Changes in intraocular pressure during pregnancy. Klin Oczna 2004;106(Suppl 1-2):238-9.
- 2. Guttridge NM. Changes in ocular and visual variables during the menstrual cycle. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt 2007;14:38-48.
- 3. Qureshi IA. Measurements of intraocular pressure throughout the pregnancy in Pakistani women. Chin Med Sci J 1997;12:53-6.
- Khan-Dawood FS, Dawood MY. Estrogen and Progesterone receptors and hormone levels in human myometrium and placenta in term pregnancy. Am J ObstetGynecol 1984;150:501-5.

- Klein BE, Klein R, Knudtson MD. Intraocular pressure and systemic blood pressure: longitudinal perspective: the Beaver Dam Eye Study. Br J Ophthalmol 2005;89:284-7.
- Lee AJ, Mitchell P, Rochtchina E, Healey PR; Female reproductive factors and open angle glaucoma: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. Br J Ophthalmol 2003;87:1324-8.
- Goldich Y, Cooper M, Barkana Y, Tovbin J, Lee Ovadia K, Avni I, et al. Ocular anterior segment changes in pregnancy. J Ctaract Refract Surg 2014;40:1868-71.
- Paramjyothi P, Lakshmi ANR, Surekha D, Doodipala MR. Physiological changes of intraocular pressure(IOP) in the second and third trimesters of normal pregnancy. J Clin Diagn Res 2011;31:364-6.
- 9. Xu L, Wang H, Wang Y, Jonas JB. Intraocular pressure correlated with arterial blood pressure: The beijing eye study. Am J Ophthalmol 2007;144:461-2.
- Omoti AE, Waziri-Erameh JM, Okeigbemen VM. A review of the changes in the ophthalmic and visual system in pregnancy. Afr J Reprod Health 2008;87:245-7.
- Philips CI, Gore SM. Ocular hypertensive effect of late pregnancy with and without high blood pressure. Br J Opthalmol 1985;69:117-9.
- 12. Samra KA. The eye and visual system in pregnancy, what to expect? An in-depth review. Oman J Ophthalmol 2013;6:87-91.
- Ebeigbe JA, Ebeigbe PN, Ighoroje AD. Intraocular pressure in pregnant and non-pregnant Nigerian women. Afr J Reprod Health 2011;15:20-3.
- 14. Wilke K. Episcleral venous pressure and pregnancy [proceedings]. Acta Ophthalmol Suppl 1975;125:40-1.
- 15. Tehrani S. Gender difference in the pathophysiology and treatment of glaucoma. Curr Eye Res 2015;40:191-200.
- Qureshi IA. Intraocular pressure: association with menstrual cycle, pregnancy and menopause in apparently healthy women. Chin J Physiol 1995;38:229-34.
- Efe YK, Ugurbas SC, Alpay A, Ugurbas SH. The course of corneal and intraocular pressure changes during pregnancy. Can J Ophthalmol 2012;47:150-4.
- Saylık M, Saylık SA. Not only pregnancy but also the number of fetuses in the uterus affects intraocular pressure. Indian J Ophthalmol 2014;62:680-2.
- 19. Qureshi IA, Xi XR, Yaqob T. The ocular hypotensive effect of late pregnancy is higher in multigravidae than in primigravidae. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2000;238:64-7.



# Association of first trimester serum uric acid levels gestational diabetes mellitus development

## İlk trimester ürik asit yüksekliğinin gestasyonel diabetes mellitus ile ilişkisi

Seda Şahin Aker<sup>1</sup>, Tuncay Yüce<sup>2</sup>, Erkan Kalafat<sup>2</sup>, Murat Seval<sup>2</sup>, Feride Söylemez<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dr. Sami Ulus Maternity and Children Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To investigate the association of first trimester serum uric acid levels with the development of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) in low-risk pregnant women.

**Materials and Methods:** In this retrospective data analysis, the results of pregnant women who completed both first trimester biochemical panel and twostep GDM screening were compared with an age-, body mass index, and gestational age-matched control group. The women were grouped as either GDM or impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) according to 100-g oral glucose challenge results. Uric acid levels were compared between the groups and diagnostic utility was tested with receiver-operating characteristics curves.

**Results:** Sixty-six women in GDM group and 358 women in the IGT group were compared against 202 healthy pregnant women. The groups did not differ significantly in terms of parity, pre-gestational body mass index and gestational age. Serum samples for uric acid levels were obtained. The mean serum uric acid levels were significantly higher in the GDM and IGT groups (5.95 mg/dL ( $\pm$ 0.97 mg/dL) and 4.76 mg/dL ( $\pm$ 1.51 mg/dL), respectively) compared with the control group (3.76 mg/dL ( $\pm$ 1.07 mg/dL) (p<0.001). The area under the curve for uric acid levels was 0.92 (95% confidence interval 0.88-0.95) for diagnosis of GDM. At a diagnostic threshold of 3.95 mg/dL, uric acid levels predicted development of GDM with 60% specificity and 100% sensitivity. **Conclusion:** First trimester serum uric acid has a linear association with the development of GDM and IGT.

Keywords: Hyperuricemia, risk assessment, gestational diabetes, screening

#### Öz

Amaç: Düşük riskli gebelerde ilk trimester ürik asit seviyelerinin gestasyonel diabetes mellitus (GDM) gelişimiyle ilişkisinin saptanması.

**Gereç ve Yöntemler:** Bu retrospektif veri analizinde birinci trimester biyokimya testi ile iki basamaklı gestasyonel diyabet taramasını tamamlamış gebe kadınların sonuçları; yaş, vücut kitle indeksi ve gestasyonel hafta açısından eşleştirilmiş kontrol grubu karşılaştırıldı. 100-g oral glukoz tolerans testine göre gebeler GDM ve bozulmuş glukoz toleransı (BGT) gruplarına ayrıldı. Gruplar arasında ürik asit seviyeleri karşılaştırıldı ve ürik asit seviyelerinin, GDM ve BGT için tanısal gücü sinyal algılama teorisinde, alıcı işletim karakteristiği eğrisi ile test edildi.

**Bulgular:** GDM grubundaki 66 kadın ve BGT grubundaki 358 kadın, 202 sağlıklı kadınla karşılaştırıldı. Yaş, parite, gebelik öncesi vücut kitle indeksi ve gestasyonel yaş açısından istatistiksel anlamlı farklılıklar içermeyen grupların birinci trimester serum örnekleri toplandı. Ortalama serum ürik asit seviyesi GDM ve bozulmuş glukoz toleransı gruplarında (sırasıyla, 5,95 mg/dL (±0,97) ve 4,76 mg/dL (±1,51) kontrol grubu ile karşılaştırıldığında (3,76 mg/dL±1,07) (p<0,001) daha yüksek olduğu görüldü. GDM tanısında ürik asit seviyeleri için ROC eğrisi altında kalan alan 0,92 idi (%95 güven aralığı 0,88-0,95). 3,95 mg/dL eşik değer olarak alındığında ürik asit seviyeleri GDM gelişme durumunu %60 spesifisite ve %100 sensitivite ile göstermektedir. **Sonuç:** İlk trimester ürik asit seviyeleri ile GDM ve BGT gelişimi arasında lineer bir ilişki vardır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Hiperürisemi, risk hesaplaması, gestasyonel diyabet, tarama

#### Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a relatively common disorder of pregnancy. The prevalence of GDM ranges from 1 to 6% depending on the studied population<sup>(1,2)</sup>. Large populationbased studies are lacking in Turkey but some available data from cohort studies suggest that the prevalence of GDM ranges between 4-10% in Turkey<sup>(3-5)</sup>. Prediction and diagnosis of GDM is important for ongoing pregnancy and has important implications for subsequent health of the mother. GDM is considered a significant risk factor for subsequent development of type II diabetes and is associated with a poorer cardiovascular risk profile compared with women without GDM<sup>(6,7)</sup>.

The method of screening (one-step versus two-step), application of screening (broad versus risk-dependent), and diagnostic criteria of GDM have been the subject to debate. Risk- dependent screening is being abandoned world-wide after the recommendation of the American Diabetes Association for screening all women without prior known diabetes between 24 and 28<sup>th</sup> gestational week<sup>(8)</sup>. The recommendation was based upon the inefficiency of the current history-based risk assessment method. However, the benefits of broad screening have not yet been established. A recent study by Koivunen et al.<sup>(9)</sup> reported no benefit of broad screening on cesarean section rates and birthweight despite increased rates of GDM diagnosis, glucose-challenge test applications, and labor induction. Until the benefits of broad screening are established there is a need of a better risk assessment method.

Uric acid has been investigated as a possible risk factor for the development of GDM. Several researchers reported an association of uric acid levels with development of GDM<sup>(10-12)</sup>. The aim of the current study was to investigate the association of first trimester serum uric acid levels with development of GDM in a population of low-risk pregnant women.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This was a retrospective case-control study including pregnant women who were followed-up entirely at Ankara University Hospital between January 2012 and December 2014. Our antenatal follow-up program includes routine blood tests during the first trimester with biochemical panel and a twostep approach for screening of GDM, in accordance with the American Diabetes Association recommendations<sup>(13)</sup>. The twostep approach consists of a 50-g oral glucose challenge test (GCT) performed between the 24th and 28th weeks of gestation, followed by a 100-g oral GCT if the initial 50-g oral GCT serial glucose result is over 140 mg/dL. The results of the 100-g oral GCT were interpreted in accordance with the Carpenter and Coustan<sup>(14)</sup> criteria for diagnosis of GDM. Uric acid levels were analyzed from serum samples obtained in the first trimester. Gestational ages were calculated from crown-rump length measurements in the first trimester(15).

Pregnant women who had completed both first trimester biochemical panel and GDM screening were included for

analysis. Women with prior diabetes, hypertension, chronic kidney disease, multiple pregnancy, chronic liver disease, gout arthritis or history of alcohol use were excluded from the analysis. The primary outcome of the study was the association of uric acid levels with occurrence of GDM. For the statistical analysis, the pregnant women were divided into three groups according to their respective GDM screening results. Women who took the 100-g oral GCT were divided into two groups, those whose results indicated GDM (GDM group) and those whose results had at least one abnormal or no abnormal results and did not meet the criteria for diagnosis of GDM (impaired glucose tolerance group). A maternal age-, gestational age-, and body mass index (BMI) matched control group was used to compare uric acid levels between groups.

To determine the size of the case and control groups, first trimester serum uric acid levels of a small group of healthy pregnant women without GDM were used. The mean uric acid level of this group was 3.72 mg/dL ±1.14. To detect a 0.5 mg/dL mean between-group difference in uric acid levels, 41 samples in each group was required for the study to have 80% or more power with a two-sided type I error rate of 0.05.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 21.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk NYC, USA). Parameters with normal distribution are described in means with standard deviation. Parameters with non-normal distribution are described in median with minimum maximum values. Student's t-test was used to compare continuous variables between independent groups. For each group, one-way ANOVA was used to test maternal age, pre-gestational BMI, and the gestational week serum samples as covariates to see if adjustment in a multivariable logistic regression model was necessary. Receiver-operating characteristics (ROC) curves were used to test the utility of first trimester serum uric acid levels for diagnosis of GDM. P values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant. This study was considered exempt from ethical approval by the Local Ethics Committee of Ankara University.

#### Results

A total of 4.812 pregnant women completed their antenatal follow-up in Ankara University Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology outpatient clinic between 2012 and 2014. Five hundred ten pregnant women were scheduled for a 100-g oral GCT because of a positive result of 50-g oral GCT. The results of the 100-g oral GCT revealed that 86 women had GDM and the remaining 410 women were diagnosed as having IGT. The prevalence of GDM was 1.7% in our study group. Twenty-six women in the GDM group and 66 women in the IGT group were excluded from the final analysis because they had co-morbidities (gestational hypertension, chronic liver or kidney diseaes), multiple gestations or missing first trimester serum uric acid levels. Two hundred two healthy age- and BMI-

matched pregnant women were included as a control group. Baseline characteristics of the study groups can be found in Table 1.

In each separate group, one-way ANOVA was used to test for an association of BMI, maternal age, and gestational age serum samples measured for serum uric acid levels, which revealed no association of tested covariates with serum uric acid levels (p>0.05).

Student's t test revealed serum uric acid levels were significantly different between the groups with  $5.94\pm0.97$  mg/dL in the GDM group,  $4.76\pm1.51$  mg/dL in IGT group, and  $3.76\pm1.07$  mg/dL in the control group (p<0.001). ROC curve was obtained for the first trimester serum uric acid levels to detect GDM (Figure 1). The area under the curve was 0.92 [95% CI: (0.88-0.95)] with a diagnostic threshold of 3.95 mg/dL; first trimester serum uric acid levels had a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 60% for the prediction of GDM.



**Figure 1.** Receiver-operating characteristics curve for prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus with first trimester serum uric acid levels

Table 1. Maternal demo	graphic	characteristics
------------------------	---------	-----------------

#### Discussion

Uric acid is the final product of the oxidation step of purine catabolism and is an important marker for insulin resistance and the future development of metabolic syndrome. The prevalence of GDM is rising across the globe and the benefits of broad screening for GDM has not yet been proven<sup>(9,16)</sup>. Considering that the prevalence of GDM varies greatly between populations, a better risk assessment model could prevent unnecessary oral GCTs for screening of GDM, especially in populations such as ours where the prevalence of GDM is exceedingly low. In our study, we saw that first trimester uric acid levels had a linear association with the development of GDM and IGT. First trimester serum uric acid levels along with other parameters such as sex-hormone binding globulin, high-sensitive C-reactive protein, and adiponectin could be incorporated into a risk model to assess the need for oral GCT later in pregnancy(17,18). The strong points of our research are that our test sample was sufficiently powered and also demonstrated the diagnostic power of serum uric acid levels in a population of pregnant women with very low prevalence of GDM. Our study was retrospective in nature and had certain limitations that might have confounded our results, such as missing data in the study group and limited control over the study groups.

Our study adds to the body of literature about the association of serum uric acid levels with the development of GDM<sup>(10-12,20)</sup>. There is a conflicting study by Maged et al.<sup>(21)</sup> which suggested no association, but their study was insufficiently powered to demonstrate a lack of difference between groups. Our study is different from the previous study with a GDM prevalence of 1.7%, which is much lower than other studies, and it is the first to report the association and predictive value of the test in a low-prevalence population. Further studies in this field should investigate the predictive value of uric acid levels combined with other biochemical tests in an effort to create a screening model.

#### Conclusion

In summary, first trimester serum uric acid levels are associated with subsequent development of IGT and GDM. The test has good predictive value for the diagnosis of GDM and it can be used in a risk assessment model.

	Group 1 (n=60)	Group 2 (n=403)	Group 3 (n=151)	p value*
Maternal age	32.81±4.93	30.67±5.32	28.53±5.39	< 0.001
Gravida (median/min-max)	1 (1-5)	2 (1-6)	2 (1-4)	NS
Parity (median/min-max)	0 (0-3)	0 (0-4)	0 (0-3)	NS
Pre-pregnancy BMI	25.07±4.14	23.78±4.22	23.82±3.89	NS
Gestational age (uric acid level measured) (median/min-max)	7 (6-12)	8 (6-12)	8 (6-12)	NS
*n=0.05 statistically significant_RMI: Rody mass index_NS: Non significant				

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study were approved by the Ankara University of Local Ethics Committee, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Seda Şahin Aker, Concept: Seda Şahin Aker, Tuncay Yüce, Design: Erkan Kalafat, Data Collection or Processing: Seda Şahin Aker, Analysis or Interpretation: Tuncay Yüce, Feride Söylemez, Literature Search: Seda Şahin Aker, Murat Seval, Writing: Seda Şahin Aker, Erkan Kalafat.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- Ignell C, Claesson R, Anderberg E, Berntorp K. Trends in the prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in southern Sweden, 2003-2012. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2014;93:420-4.
- Chu SY, Abe K, Hall LR, Kim SY, Njoroge T, Qin C. Gestational diabetes mellitus: All Asians are not alike. Prev Med 2009;49:265-8.
- Köşüş A, Köşüş N, Turhan NÖ. Gestational diabetes: comparision of the carpenter and the coustan thresholds with the new thresholds of Turkish women and implications of variations in diagnostic criteria. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2012;25:616-22.
- Karcaaltincaba D, Kandemir O, Yalvac S, Güvendag-Guven S, Haberal A. Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus and gestational impaired glucose tolerance in pregnant women evaluated by National Diabetes Data Group and Carpenter and Coustan criteria. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2009;106:246-9.
- Oztas E, Ozler S, Ersoy E, Ersoy AO, Tokmak A, Ergin M, et al., Prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus by first trimester serum secreted frizzle-related protein-5 levels. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;29:1515-9.
- 6. Dalfrà MG, Lapolla A, Masin M, Giglia G, Dalla Barba B, Toniato R, et al. Antepartum and early postpartum predictors of type 2 diabetes development in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab 2001;27:675-80.
- Moon JH, Kwak SH, Jung HS, Choi SH, Lim S, Cho YM, et al. Weight Gain and Progression to Type 2 Diabetes in Women with a History of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:3548-55.

- 8. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2011. Diabetes Care 2011;34 Suppl 1:S11-61.
- Koivunen S, Kajantie E, Torkki A, Bloigu A, Gissler M, Pouta A, et al. The changing face of gestational diabetes: The effect of the shift from risk factor-based to comprehensive screening. Eur J Endocrinol 2015;173:623-32.
- Güngör ES, Danişman N, Mollamahmutoğlu L. Relationship between serum uric acid, creatinine, albumin and gestational diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem Lab Med 2006;44:974-7.
- 11. Laughon SK, Catov J, Provins T, Roberts JM, Gandley RE. Elevated first-trimester uric acid concentrations are associated with the development of gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;201:402.1-5.
- 12. Wolak T, Sergienko R, Wiznitzer A, Paran E, Sheiner E. High uric acid level during the first 20 weeks of pregnancy is associated with higher risk for gestational diabetes mellitus and mild preeclampsia. Hypertens Pregnancy 2012;31:307-15.
- 13. American Diabetes Association. Standards of Medical Care for Patients With Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care 2003;26 Suppl 1:S33-50.
- 14. Carpenter MW, Coustan DR. Criteria for screening tests for gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1982;144:768-73.
- 15. Papageorghiou AT, Kennedy SH, Salomon LJ, Ohuma EO, Cheikh Ismail L, Barros FC, et al. International Fetal and Newborn Growth Consortium for the 21st Century (INTERGROWTH-21st). International standards for early fetal size and pregnancy dating based on ultrasound measurement of crown-rump length in the first trimester of pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2014;44:641-8.
- Miailhe G, Kayem G, Girard G, Legardeur H, Mandelbrot L. Selective rather than universal screening for gestational diabetes mellitus? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2015;191:95-100.
- 17. Caglar GS, Ozdemir ED, Cengiz SD, Demirtaş S. Sex-hormonebinding globulin early in pregnancy for the prediction of severe gestational diabetes mellitus and related complications. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2012;38:1286-93.
- Rasanen JP, Snyder CK, Rao PV, Mihalache R, Heinonen S, Gravett MG, et al. Glycosylated fibronectin as a first-trimester biomarker for prediction of gestational diabetes. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122:586-94.
- C R, Samal S, Ghose S. Association of Elevated first Trimester Serum Uric Acid Levels with Development of GDM. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:OC01-5.
- Zhou J, Zhao X, Wang Z, Hu Y. Combination of lipids and uric acid in mid-second trimester can be used to predict adverse pregnancy outcomes. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2012;25:2633-8.
- 21. Maged AM, Moety GA, Mostafa WA, Hamed DA. Comparative study between different biomarkers for early prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2014;27:1108-12.



### First trimester fetal aortic Doppler for hemoglobinopathies

Hemoglobinopatiler için ilk trimesterde fetal aortik Doppler

Cihan Çetin<sup>1</sup>, Selim Büyükkurt<sup>1</sup>, Ebru Dündar Yenilmez<sup>2</sup>, Mehmet Özsürmeli<sup>1</sup>, Mete Sucu<sup>1</sup>, Cansun Demir<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Çukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Çukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Adana, Turkey

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To evaluate fetal aortic Doppler for the prenatal diagnosis of hemoglobinopathies in the first trimester of pregnancy.

**Materials and Methods:** Between January and November 2014, a total of 108 patients were enrolled in the study. The couples were carriers of either alpha/beta thalassemia, sickle cell disease or combined carriers of these and were admitted to Çukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Prenatal Diagnosis Center. One hour before the chorionic villus sampling (CVS), patients were evaluated using fetal aortic Doppler. Pulsatility index, peak systolic velocity, and heart rate were noted.

**Results:** There were no statistically significant differences in Doppler indices between different groups of CVS results when compared with the healthy controls.

**Conclusion:** Fetal aortic Doppler investigation was found to be ineffective for the prenatal diagnosis of hemoglobinopathies.

Keywords: Hemoglobinopathies, thalassemia, sickle cell anemia, prenatal diagnosis, Doppler ultrasonography

#### Öz

Amaç: Gebeliğin ilk üç ayında hemoglobinopatilerin prenatal tanısı için fetal aortik Doppler incelemesinin değerlendirilmesi amaçlanmıştır.

**Gereç ve Yöntemler:** Ocak 2014 ve Kasım 2014 tarihleri arasında 108 hasta çalışmaya dahil edildi. Çiftler, Çukurova Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Kadın Hastalıkları ve Doğum Bölümü Prenatal Tanı Merkezi'ne alfa/beta talasemi, orak hücre anemisi veya bunların kombine taşıyıcısı olup başvuran kişilerden oluşmakta idi. Koryonik villüs örneklemesinden (KVÖ) bir saat önce fetal aortik Doppler incelemesi yapıldı. Pulsatilite indeksi, tepe sistolik hız, kalp hızı not edildi.

Bulgular: Farklı KVÖ sonucu grupları sağlıklı kontrollerle karşılaştırıldıklarında Doppler indeksleri açısından istatistiksel olarak anlamlı fark bulunmamıştır. Sonuç: Fetal aortik Doppler incelemesi hemoglobinopatilerin prenatal tanısında etkin bulunmamıştır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Hemoglobinopatiler, talasemi, orak hücreli anemi, prenatal tanı, Doppler ultrasonografi

#### Introduction

A hemoglobinopathy is a genetic defect that results in abnormal structure of one of the globin chains of the hemoglobin molecule. There are various types of defects known today. They are single gene disorders and generally inherited in an autosomal recessive pattern. The most common are beta/alphathalassemia and sickle cell disease.

These diseases have different prevalences around the world. Beta-thalassemia is particularly prevalent among Mediterranean people, whereas alpha-thalassemia is common in sub-Saharan Africa, the Mediterranean Basin, the Middle East, South Asia, and Southeast Asia. Sickle cell disease is found most prevalently in sub-Saharan Africa, tribal regions of India, and the Middle-East<sup>(1)</sup>. Therefore, these hemoglobinopathies are important health problems for Turkey because of its geographic location. The heterozygote carriers of these diseases show some degrees

of anemia, whereas homozygote mutation carriers exhibit significant health problems. They require intermittent blood transfusions and have many complications such as increased incidence of infections, cholelithiasis (gallstones), cholecystitis, and growth problems during childhood. Carriers also face complications related to treatment such as excess iron load and related complications in thalassemias and other complications of frequent blood transfusions. Bone marrow transplantation is the only known cure for these diseases.

Prenatal diagnosis is very important for carrier couples. Early prenatal diagnosis may provide the chance of early termination for these couples during the first trimester. Current approaches for prenatal diagnosis include invasive [chorionic villus sampling (CVS), amniocentesis or cordocentesis] and non-invasive diagnosis with fetal DNA in maternal plasma<sup>(2-4)</sup>.

Alterations in fetal blood parameters in hemoglobinopathies may cause changes in fetal Doppler parameters. Therefore,

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Cihan Çetin, MD,

Çukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey Phone: +90 533 224 10 33 E-mail: cihancetin00@gmail.com Received/Geliş Tarihi : 25.01.2016 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 13.03.2016

prenatal diagnosis using Doppler ultrasound may be another noninvasive method for the carriers. In this study we aimed to evaluate the indices of fetal aortic Doppler for the non-invasive diagnosis of hemoglobinopathies.

#### Materials and Methods

One hundred eight patients were enrolled in this prospective study between January 2014 and November 2014. All patients and their husbands were carriers of either alpha/beta thalassemia, sickle cell disease or combined carriers of these. They were admitted to Çukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Prenatal Diagnosis Center for the prenatal diagnosis of hemoglobinopathies. They all had CVS during 11 and 14 weeks of their pregnancy. Gestational age was based on crown-lump length (CRL). Ethical Committee Approval was obtained from Çukurova University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Report no: 28/14) and all subjects gave informed consent to participate in the study.

One hour before the CVS, patients were examined using a GE Voluson 730 Pro-ultrasound machine with a convex volumetric transabdominal (RAB 4-8 MHz) probe by a single experienced operator. In order to achieve an insonation angle of <30 degrees, fetuses were examined in a position where the fetal aorta was perpendicular to the probe (Figure 1). The magnification of the image was such that the fetus occupied the whole screen. The range gate was set at 2 mm. Pulsatility index, peak systolic velocity (PSV), and heart rate (HR) were noted.



Figure 1. First trimester fetal aortic Doppler

After the ultrasound examination, CVS was performed. Fetal karyotype was also determined for all fetuses. Patients were divided into groups by the results of the hemoglobinopathy status. Therefore, the operator was blinded to the patients' groups.

Student's t-test was used for normally distributed data, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare non-normally distributed data. The p value of <0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 15 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL).

#### Results

The mean age of the patients was 28.34±5.2 years (range, 17-40 years). The mean gestational age was 12±0.8 weeks (range, 11-14 weeks) and the mean CRL of the fetuses was 59.90±9.6 mm (range, 41-85 mm). There was no statistically significant differences between the groups regarding the mean age of the women and CRL of fetuses based on CVS results. Eight women were Rh negative but none were isoimmunized. Hemoglobinopathy status of the couples is given in Table 1. All CVS procedures were completed without complication. The karyotypes of all fetuses were normal. Hemoglobinopathy results and the Doppler indices of the fetuses are summarized in Table 2. There were no statistically significant differences in Doppler indices between the different groups of CVS results compared with the healthy (Hemoglobin AA) controls. Comparisons were made in subcategories of gestational weeks (11, 12, 13, and 14 weeks), because Doppler indices normally differ with advancing gestational age. Furthermore, there was no statistically significant difference between subgroups as for fetal HR (mean fetal HR=165.01±3.1 beat/min).

All patients whose fetuses were diagnosed as having sickle cell disease and beta-thalassemia major decided to terminate pregnancy, all were terminated without complication using sublingual misoprostol.

#### Discussion

Fetal arterial and venous Doppler evaluations are used effectively in different trimesters. For instance, fetal ductus venosus Doppler

Table 1. Hemoglobinopathy status of the couples

	·
Hemoglobinopathy	Number of couples
BT carriers	21
SCD carriers	55
SCD*	1
AT carriers	2
Combined (AT + SCD) carriers	9
Combined (BT + SCD) carriers	20
Total	108

BT: Beta thalassemia, SCD: Sickle cell disease, AT: Alpha thalassemia, \*: 1 patient had SCD (Hemoglobin SS) and her husband was SCD carrier.

#### Table 2. Chorionic villus sampling results and doppler indices of fetuses

CVS Result*	Gestational week	Number of fetuses	PI	PSV
HBAA (Healthy)	Total	22	2.92±0.35	41.87±8.56
	11	3	3.06±0.22	35.80±3.02
	12	12	3.05±0.38	39.73±6.87
	13	6	2.62±0.14	49.29±10.07
	14	1	2.7	41.3
HBAS	Total	34	8.85±15.03	34.98±14.85
	11	7	2.94±0.18	40.91±4.28
	12	21	8.06±13.10	34.38±14.6
	13	4	12.69±20.34	32.09±20.51
	14	2	30.16±39.40	26.27±34.65
HBSS	Total	21	9.16±13.31	33.70±16.64
	11	7	2.98±0.15	37.88±4.80
	12	8	19.34±17.68	22.07±21.05
	13	5	2.65±0.22	44.51±10.22
	14	1	2.40	43.44
BT Minor	Total	13	7.82±18.34	38.06±13.09
	11	3	24.76±38.19	24.95±18.94
	12	8	2.82±0.25	43.01±9.43
	13	1	2.51	36.45
	14	1	2.34	39.41
BT Major	Total	5	2.86±0.26	38.02±5.18
	11	2	3.08±0.11	38.72±3.66
	12	3	2.72±0.22	37.55±6.79
	13	0	-	-
	14	0	-	-
AT silent carrier	Total	4	14.03±22.64	31.83±19.79
	11	0	-	-
	12	2	2.89±0.15	41.69±3.07
	13	2	25.17±32.27	21.97±27.87
	14	0	-	-
S/BT	Total	3	2.76±0.57	43.09±8.57
	11	1	2.86	49.14
	12	1	3.27	33.28
	13	1	2.15	46.85
	14	0	-	-
S/AT	Total	4	10.87±16.01	32.53±20.46
	11	0	-	-
	12	2	2.79±0.16	40.93±4.30
	13	2	18.96±22.53	24.12±30.90
	14	0	-	-

	••			
CVS Result*	Gestational week	Number of fetuses	PI	PSV
BT/AT	Total	2	2.59±0.49	46.47±7.30
	11	1	2.93	41.30
	12	0	-	-
	13	1	2.24	51.63
	14	0	-	-
Total		108		

Table 2 continue. Chorionic villus sampling results and doppler indices of fetuses

\* HBAA: Healthy fetuses, HBAS: Sickle cell carrier, BT: Beta thalassemia, HBSS: Sickle cell disease, AT: Alpha thalassemia, S/BT: Sickle cell/Beta thalassemia double heterozygote, S/AT: Sickle cell/Alpha thalassemia double heterozygote, BT/AT: Alpha thalassemia/Beta thalassemia double heterozygote, PI: Pulsatility index, PSV: Peak systolic velocity, CVS: Chorionic villus sampling

is found effective in screening for aneuploidies during the first trimester, whereas it is used for fetal well-being from the midtrimester. The other most commonly used Doppler evaluations include umbilical, uterine, and middle cerebral arteries; each has a different purpose such as fetal well-being, preeclampsia screening, and detection of fetal anemia. Of these, middle cerebral artery PVS is used for the detection of fetal anemia but it is technically used after the 18<sup>th</sup> week of gestation<sup>(5)</sup>.

Fetal anemia can be expected in hemoglobinopathies, especially in homozygous alpha-thallassemia<sup>(6)</sup>. During the first trimester, fetal aortic Doppler is found to have significantly different indices in fetuses with homozygous alpha-thalassemia<sup>(6)</sup>. In a recent study by Karateke et al.<sup>(7)</sup> ductus venosus Doppler was also found to have significantly different indices during the first trimester in fetuses with beta-thalassemia and sickle cell disease<sup>(7)</sup>.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate fetal aortic Doppler for the prenatal diagnosis of beta-thalassemia and sickle cell disease during the first trimester. We chose fetal aorta for screening because it can be easily visualized during this period. We were able to visualize the fetal aortic blood flow in all patients with transabdominal probe. No transvaginal evaluation was needed.

We found no significant difference in fetuses with betathalassemia and sickle cell disease in arterial Doppler parameters during the first trimester compared with the healthy fetuses. Therefore, current fetal aortic Doppler was not found effective for the prenatal diagnosis of these hemoglobinopathies.

Fetal hemoglobin is a tetramer composed of two copies of each of two different peptide chains. The type of chains determine the type of hemoglobin produced. Adult hemoglobin consists of two beta and two alpha chains; however, during embryonic and fetal stages there are various types of hemoglobins. The first fetal hemoglobins are produced in the yolk sac and are called hemoglobin (Hb) Gower 1 (two zeta chains and two epsilon chains), Hb Gower 2 (two alpha chains and two epsilon chains), and Hb Portland (two zeta chains and two gamma chains)<sup>(8)</sup>. Erythropoiesis then moves to the liver, where Hb F (two alpha and two gamma chains) is produced. Finally, at around 11 weeks, normal Hb A is produced by fetal bone marrow and progressively increases in fetal blood as the fetus matures<sup>(9)</sup>. The final adult version of the alpha chain is produced

exclusively by 6 weeks and there are no functional alternative versions thereafter $^{(10)}$ . If an alpha gene mutation or deletion occurs, there is no alternate alpha type chain that can substitute to form functional hemoglobin. In contrast, at least two versions of the beta chain (gamma and delta) remain in production throughout fetal life and beyond. In the case of a beta gene mutation or deletion, these two other versions of the beta chain often continue to be produced, which results in Hb A2 or Hb F and substitute for the abnormal or missing hemoglobin<sup>(10)</sup>. The reason that we found no hemodynamic change in fetuses with hemoglobinopathy was probably because of these substitute hemoglobins. In fetuses with hemoglobinopathy, substitute hemoglobins (Hb A2 and Hb F) conceal the disease during fetal life, but the disease manifests after birth. However, fetuses with alpha gene defect may even manifest during fetal life if all three or four genes are affected, because of the lack of substitute chains<sup>(11)</sup>. We had no fetuses with alpha thalassemia major (Hb Barts or Hb H disease) in our study.

The main limitation of our study is the small number of patients in some subgroups of patients, such as alpha-thalassemia and combined heterozygotes of hemoglobinopathies.

#### Conclusion

Currently, invasive prenatal diagnostic tests such as CVS, amniocentesis or cordocentesis are the most widely used invasive tests for hemoglobinopathies<sup>(12)</sup>. Non-invasive diagnostic tests using fetal DNA in maternal plasma shows promising results; however, they are expensive and not yet widely available around the world. Therefore, non-invasive prenatal diagnostic tests like Doppler ultrasound investigations should still be continued.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study were approved by Çukurova University Clinical Researchs Ethical Committee, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Cihan Çetin, Concept: Cihan Çetin, Selim Büyükkurt, Mete Sucu, Cansun Demir, Design: Cihan Çetin, Selim Büyükkurt, Mehmet Özsürmeli, Cansun Demir, Data Collection or Processing: Cihan Çetin, Ebru Dündar Yenilmez, Analysis or Interpretation: Cihan Çetin, Mehmet Özsürmeli, Literature Search: Cihan Çetin, Ebru Dündar Yenilmez, Mehmet Özsürmeli, Mete Sucu, Writing: Cihan Çetin, Selim Büyükkurt, Mete Sucu.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Weatherall DJ, Clegg JB. Inherited haemoglobin disorders: an increasing global health problem. Bull World Health Organ 2001;79:704-12.
- 2. Yenilmez ED, Tuli A, Evrüke IC. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis experience in the Çukurova region of southern Turkey: detecting paternal mutations of sickle cell anemia and beta-thalassemia in cell-free fetal DNA using high-resolution melting analysis. Prenat Diagn 2013;33:1054-62.
- 3. D'Souza E, Sawant PM, Nadkarni AH, Gorakshakar A, Ghosh K, Colah RB. Detection of fetal mutations causing hemoglobinopathies by non-invasive prenatal diagnosis from maternal plasma. J Postgrad Med 2013;59:15-20.
- 4. Xiong L, Barrett AN, Hua R, Tan TZ, Ho SS, Chan JK, et al. Noninvasive prenatal diagnostic testing for beta-thalassaemia using cell-free fetal DNA and next generation sequencing. Prenat Diagn 2015;35:258-65.

- Mari G, Deter RL, Carpenter RL, Rahman F, Zimmerman R, Moise KJ Jr, et al. Noninvasive diagnosis by doppler ultrasonography of fetal anemia due to maternal red-cell alloimmunization. Collaborative group for doppler assessment of the blood velocity in anemic fetuses. N Engl J Med 2000;342:9-14.
- Lam YH, Tang MH, Lee CP, Tse HY. Cardiac blood flow studies in fetuses with homozygous alpha-thalassemia-1 at 12-13 weeks of gestation. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 1999;13:48-51.
- Karateke A, Silfeler DB, Güngören A, Kurt RK, Okyay AG, Dokuyucu R, et al. Can the ductus venosus doppler predict the hemoglobinopathies? Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8:4405-9.
- He Z, Russell JE. Expression, purification, and characterization of human hemoglobins gower-1 (zeta(2)epsilon(2)), gower-2 (alpha(2) epsilon(2)), and portland-2 (zeta(2)beta(2)) assembled in complex transgenic-knockout mice. Blood 2001;97:1099-105.
- 9. Pataryas HA, Stamatoyannopoulos G. Hemoglobins in human fetuses: evidence for adult hemoglobin production after the 11th gestational week. Blood 1972;39:688-96.
- Cunningham FG, Williams JW. Fetal growth and development; Williams obstetrics. New York: McGraw-Hill Professional; 2005. p. 104-5.
- Piel FB, Weatherall DJ. The alpha-thalassemias. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1908-16.
- Mümüşoğlu S, Sayal B, Beksaç S. Talasemi ve hemoglobinopatilerde prenatal tanı yöntemleri. Turkiye Klinikleri J Hem Onc Special Topics 2010;3:40-3.



### Prediction of adverse pregnancy outcomes using uterine artery Doppler imaging at 22-24 weeks of pregnancy: A North Indian experience

Gebeliğin 22.-24. haftasında, uterin arter Doppler görüntüleme ile advers gebelik sonlanımlarının belirlenmesi: Bir Kuzey Hindistan deneyimi

#### Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta

Maulana Azad Medical College, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, New Delhi, India

#### Abstract

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to assess the predictive value of uterine artery Doppler imaging at 22-24 weeks of gestation for adverse pregnancy outcomes.

**Materials and Methods:** This was a prospective study in which uterine artery Doppler was performed at 22-24 weeks of gestation in 165 pregnant women with singleton pregnancies. A pulsatility index (PI) more than 1.45 or bilateral uterine notching was labeled as abnormal Doppler. The pregnancy outcome was assessed in terms of normal outcome, preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction (FGR), low birth weight, spontaneous preterm delivery, oligohydramnios, fetal loss or at least one adverse outcome.

**Results:** Out of 165 patients, 35 (21.2%) had abnormal second trimester uterine artery Doppler. In pregnancies that resulted in preeclampsia (PE), (n=21), FGR, (n=21), and low birth weight (n=39), the median uterine artery PI was higher (1.52, 1.41, and 1.27 respectively). In the presence of abnormal Doppler, the risk of PE [OR=10.7, 95% confidence interval (CI): (3.91-29.1); p<0.001], FGR [OR=4.34, 95% CI: (1.62-11.6); p=0.002], low birth weight [OR=6.39, 95% CI: (3.16-12.9); p<0.001] and the risk of at least one obstetric complication [OR=8.73, 95% CI: (3.5-21.3); p<0.001] was significantly high. The positive predictive value of abnormal uterine artery Doppler was highest for preeclampsia (36.84%) among all adverse pregnancy outcomes assessed.

**Conclusion:** Uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography at 22-24 weeks of gestation is a significant predictor of at least one adverse pregnancy outcome, with the highest prediction for preeclampsia.

Keywords: Uterine artery Doppler, preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction, low birth weight, adverse obstetric outcome

#### Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı, gestasyonun 22.-24. haftasında yapılan uterin arter Doppler görüntülemesinin advers gebelik sonlanımlarını belirleme değerini incelemektir.

**Gereç ve Yöntemler:** Bu çalışma, gestasyonun 22.-24. haftasında uterin arter Doppler yapılmış, tekil gebeliği olan 165 gebe kadında yürütülmüş bir prospektif çalışmadır. 1,45'in üzerindeki pulsatilite indeksi (Pİ) veya bilateral uterus çentiklenmesi anormal Doppler olarak kabul edilmiştir. Gebelik sonlanımları; normal sonlanım, preeklampsi, fetal büyüme geriliği (FBG), düşük doğum ağırlığı, spontan preterm doğum, oligohidramniyoz, fetal kayıp veya en az bir advers sonlanım bağlamında değerlendirilmiştir.

**Bulgular:** Yüz altmış beş hastanın 35'inde (%21,2) anormal ikinci trimester uterin arter Doppler mevcuttur. Preeklampsi (PE), (n=21), FBG, (n=21) ve düşük doğum ağırlığı (n=39) ile sonuçlanan gebeliklerde medyan uterin arter Pİ değeri daha yüksektir (sırası ile 1,52; 1,41 ve 1,27). Anormal Doppler varlığında PE [OR=10,7; %95 güven aralığı (GA): (3,91-29,1); p<0,0001], FBG [OR=4,34, %95 GA: (1,62-11,6); p=0,002], düşük doğum ağırlığı [OR=6,39, %95 GA: (3,16-12,9); p<0,001] ve en az bir obstetrikal komplikasyon olma [OR=8,73; %95 GA: (3,5-21,3); p<0,0001] riski anlamlı olarak yüksektir. Değerlendirilen tüm advers gebelik sonlanımları arasında, anormal uterin Doppler görüntüleme pozitif belirleyici değerinin en yüksek olduğu durum preeklampsidir (%36,84).

**Sonuç:** Gestasyonun 22.-24. haftasında yapılan uterin arter Doppler ultrasonografisi, en fazla preeklampsi belirlenmesi olmak üzere, en az bir advers gebelik sonlanımı için anlamlı bir belirleyicidir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Uterin arter Doppler, preeklampsi, fetal büyüme geriliği, düşük doğum ağırlığı, advers obstetrik sonlanım

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Deepti Verma, MD,

Maulana Azad Medical College, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, New Delhi, India

E-mail: drdeepti86@gmail.com Received/Geliş Tarihi : 01.06.2016 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 26.06.2016

#### Introduction

Defective trophoblastic invasion of the spiral arteries is associated with subsequent development of preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction (FGR), and other associated complications. In these pregnancies, the uteroplacental circulation remains in a state of high resistance, which causes generalized endothelial cell injury, compromises vascular integrity, and an atherosis-like process in small arteries that results in vascular occlusion, local ischemia, and necrosis. Under these conditions, the uteroplacental circulation remains in a state of high resistance and low flow. Doppler ultrasonography is a noninvasive tool for evaluating vascular resistance in these otherwise inaccessible maternal vessels. An increase in uterine artery impedance that predates the onset of clinical findings has been shown in preeclampsia and FGR; both disorders are associated with placental insufficiency<sup>(1)</sup>.

Uterine artery Doppler is an attractive screening test in mid pregnancy. In theory, the test is capable of identifying pregnancies that are at premature delivery from a range of clinical complications that are attributable to chronic placental disease, namely intrauterine growth retardation, abruption and preeclampsia. In this study, uterine artery Doppler was done in 20-24 weeks of gestation, contrary to the first trimester and early second trimester in many studies done previously(1-3). The timing was based on the hypothesis that it is unlikely that the fetal growth and well being are influenced by the transformation of uteroplacental vessels at 11 weeks to 13 weeks 6 days period of gestation because substantial changes in the placental development take place between first and second trimester that have practical importance for the development of the clinical screening program<sup>(4)</sup>.

Uterine artery Doppler velocimetry performed before 16 weeks of gestation is unlikely to be a useful screening test for adverse pregnancy outcomes<sup>(5)</sup>. Moreover, it is irrational to employ this test for pre-eclampsia in the third trimester because the disease would already be established<sup>(6)</sup>.

This study was performed to assess the role of second trimester uterine artery Doppler in predicting adverse pregnancy outcomes in pregnant women in Northern India.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This was a prospective study including 165 pregnant women with singleton pregnancies who attended the antenatal outpatient department of the Maulana Azad Medical College, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, New Delhi, India. Ethical committee approval was taken from institutional Ethics Committee, Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi (No: F.11/IEC/MAMC/10) and all subjects gave informed consent to participate in the study. Women with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, chronic hypertension, hypertension that developed before 24 weeks of pregnancy,

cardiac disorders, renal disorders and antiphospholipid syndrome, and multiple gestations were excluded. A detailed informed consent was obtained from all participants after enrolment in the study. Uterine artery Doppler was performed in all these women at 22-24 weeks of gestation using a Philips HD7 ultrasound machine (number-Ci52100333). Uterine artery Doppler was performed by a single observer using a 225-Hz transabdominal probe. The proximal uterine arteries were located at their cross-over point with the external iliac arteries using color flow mapping. The angle of insonation was zero to ten degrees. Pulsed-wave Doppler was obtained for 3 similar consecutive waveforms on both sides. The pulsatility index (PI) was calculated [peak systolic flow minus end diastolic flow divided by mean flow: (A-B)/M]. Women with bilateral uterine artery notches or those with the mean PI of both the arteries  $\geq 1.45$  (PI greater than 95<sup>th</sup> percentile) were classified as abnormal second trimester uterine artery Doppler (Figure 1).

Follow-up continued till delivery and the pregnancy outcome was assessed. Pregnancy outcome was assessed in terms of normal outcome, preeclampsia, FGR, low birth weight (weight <2500 gm), spontaneous preterm delivery, oligohydramnios, fetal loss, or at least one adverse outcome.

The statistical analysis of the data was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, version 17.0 for Windows). Qualitative data was analyzed using chi-square or Fisher's exact test. Quantitative data between groups were analyzed using unpaired t-test and Mann-Whitney U test. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

The results are summarized in Table 1. Out of 165 patients, 35 (21.2%) had abnormal second trimester uterine artery Doppler, based on the criteria mentioned before (PI≥1.45 or



**Figure 1.** Second trimester uterine artery Doppler showing notching in left uterine artery and pulsatility index >1.45

<b>Table 1</b> . Normal an	id abnormal secoi	nd-trimester ute	rine artery Dopple	r in adverse p	regnancy	outcomes and m	iedian uterin	e artery Doppl	er pulsatility ir	ıdex values	
Pregnancy outcome	Normal uterine artery Doppler (n=133)	Abnormal uterine artery Doppler (n=32)	Median uterine artery PI levels	Mean PI ± SD	Odds ratio	95% confidence intervals	p value	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive predictive value	Negative predictive value
Preeclampsia	7 (5.3%)	13 (40.6%)	1.52	1.37±0.39	10.69	3.92-29.18	<0.001	61.9	86.8	36.8	94.0
FGR	9 (6.8%)	10 (31.2%)	1.41	1.15±0.39	4.34	1.62-11.65	0.002	45.0	84.1	28.1	91.7
Low birth weight	12 (9.0%)	4 (12.5%)	1.03	1.13±0.36	6.39	3.16-12.93	<0.001	45.4	84.6	31.3	90.9
Preterm delivery	12 (9.0%)	10 (31.2%)	1.45	1.13±0.48	0.95	0.25-3.57	0.945	57.1	63.2	18.5	91.0
Oligohydramnios	5 (3.7%)	5 (14.3%)	1.27	1.17±0.35	3.92	1.12-13.78	0.024	45.4	82.3	15.6	95.5
At least one adverse outcome	29 (21.8%)	27 (84.3%)	1.39	1.19±0.40	8.74	3.59-21.27	<0.001	48.2	95.4	84.4	78.2
Odds ratio, 95% confider	ıce intervals, p value, s	sensitivity, specificity,	positive and negative p	redictive value of	second trime	ester uterine artery D	oppler in predic	ting various adver	se pregnancy outco	mes, FGR: Fetal gro	wth restriction, PI:

bilateral uterine artery notches or both). The results indicated that second-trimester uterine artery Doppler significantly determined adverse obstetric outcomes. The incidence of preeclampsia, FGR, small-for-gestational-age neonates, and oligohydramnios was significantly higher in pregnant women with abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler. Secondtrimester uterine artery Doppler had high negative predictive value for preeclampsia in this study. No significant association was found between abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler and incidence of preterm delivery in patients in the study group.

One case each of placental abruption and intrauterine fetal death was noted in the study group with abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler.

Abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler was found to have a high predictive value for at least one adverse obstetric outcome. At least one adverse obstetric outcome was found in 84.3% patients with abnormal Doppler indices. Mean uterine artery PI was significantly raised in these patients with a high and statistically significant odds ratio.

The receiver operator characterstics curve for uterine artery Doppler in the detection of composite adverse outcomes in the whole study group revealed that second-trimester uterine artery Doppler was a significant predictor of adverse pregnancy outcomes. The area under the curve was calculated as 0.659 [95% confidence interval (CI): (0.562-0.756); p=0.001] (Figure 2).

#### Discussion

Pulsatility index, SD: Standard deviation



Although no single screening test in the prediction of adverse pregnancy outcomes, especially preeclampsia, has gained widespread adoption into clinical practice, uterine artery Doppler screening is the best performing of the available

**Figure 2.** Receiver operator characteristics curve for uterine artery Doppler in depicting composite adverse pregnancy outcomes in the whole study group

1-Specificity

The receiver operator characterstics curve for uterine artery Doppler in the whole study group revealed that the second trimester uterine artery Doppler is a significant predictor of adverse pregnancy outcomes. The area under the curve (AUC) is 0.659, 95% CI=0.562-0.756, p=0.001 PI: Pulsatility index, UA: Umbilical arterial

clinical tests to date, and is certainly the most widely studied. The association between increased uterine artery PI and subsequent development of preeclampsia is thought to be the consequence of impaired trophoblastic invasion of maternal spiral arteries<sup>(7)</sup>. Preeclampsia, which is genetically and immunologically governed, constitutes a disease of circulatory maladaptation to this defective trophoblastic invasion. In normal pregnancy, the luminal diameter of spiral arteries is greatly increased and vascular smooth muscle is replaced by trophoblast cells. In preeclampsia, the process is deficient with a consequent decrease in the vascular capacitance and increased resistance in the uteroplacental circulation, which is reflected as impedance of blood flow in the uterine artery<sup>(8)</sup>. FGR is also the result of impaired blood flow to the patient.

Abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler indices have a high detection rate of pregnancies at risk of preeclampsia and FGR. In this study, 40.6% of patients with abnormal uterine artery Doppler developed preeclampsia.

FGR was found in 31.2% patients with abnormal uterine artery Doppler. A percentage (31.2%) of the patients also had small-for-gestational-age (SGA) babies.

Albaiges et al.<sup>(9)</sup> reported similar findings, with a higher detection rate for preeclampsia and SGA. Our study also reported that second-trimester uterine artery Doppler had high negative predictive value for preeclampsia. The sensitivity for preeclampsia was 61.9% and low birth weight was 45.4%, compared with 40% and 20%, respectively, in the study by Albaiges et al.<sup>(9)</sup> In a separate study by Harrington et al.<sup>(10)</sup> 81.2% of patients with abnormal uterine artery Doppler developed preeclampsia and 57.6% of these patients had low-birth-weight babies.

In our study, the positive predictive value of abnormal secondtrimester uterine artery Doppler in determining at least one adverse outcome was 84.4%, which was significant. The likelihood ratio, sensitivity and specificity for each Doppler index and specific outcome varied among previous studies, but the predictive relationship for adverse outcomes has been consistently reported.

Our study found no association between deranged secondtrimester uterine artery Doppler and spontaneous preterm delivery (delivery <37 weeks). This was in contradiction to the study by Fonseca et al.<sup>(11)</sup> in 2006, which demonstrated a significant association of mean bilateral increased uterine artery PI at 22-24 weeks and spontaneous early delivery. However, the study also concluded that uterine artery Doppler does not provide a significant improvement in the prediction of spontaneous early delivery provided by maternal characteristics and previous obstetric history.

Patients with both elevated PI and bilateral notching in the Doppler were found to be at the maximum risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, especially preeclampsia and FGR. Albaiges et al.<sup>(9)</sup> reported the risk of preeclampsia as 40%,

and 45% for FGR in these patients. These findings suggest that patients with elevated PI and notching at 23 weeks should be closely monitored for these adverse outcomes.

Our study concludes that second-trimester uterine artery Doppler has a potential role in predicting pregnancies at risk for complications such as preeclampsia, FGR, and small-forgestational-age babies. This study also noted the high negative predictive value of uterine artery Doppler for adverse perinatal events among unselected women. It signifies that pregnancy outcome is likely to be normal if second-trimester uterine artery Doppler is normal. Although there is no effective intervention at present to alter outcomes in women with an abnormal Doppler study, the level of antenatal surveillance could be modified by the Doppler result<sup>(12)</sup>. However, uterine artery Doppler alone for predicting pregnancy outcomes has a limiting factor of cost effectiveness. A large number of Doppler studies have to be performed to identify a few high-risk women, which may not be cost effective. It is not logistically feasible in regard to availability and expertise of personnel to perform uterine artery Doppler in all pregnant women.

The strength of this study is its prospective nature, albeit with a small sample size and small number of patients with abnormal second-trimester uterine artery Doppler. Larger randomized controlled trials are required for second-trimester uterine artery Doppler for the extrapolation of the results to the whole population.

#### Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was taken from institutional Ethics Committee, Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi (No: F.11/IEC/MAMC/10) and all subjects gave informed consent to participate in the study, Informed Consent: It was taken. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta, Concept: Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta, Design: Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta, Data Collection or Processing: Deepti Verma, Analysis or Interpretation: Deepti Verma, Literature Search: Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta, Writing: Deepti Verma, Sangeeta Gupta. Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Bahado-Singh RO, Jodicke C. Uterine artery Doppler and first trimester screening. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2010;53:879-87.
- 2. Melchiorre K, Wormald B, Leslie K, Bhide A, Thilaganathan B. Firsttrimester uterine artery Doppler indices in term and preterm preeclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;32:133-7.
- 3. Cnossen JS, Morris RK, ter Riet G, Mol BW, van der Post JA, et al. Use of uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography to predict preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction: a systematic review and bivariable meta-analysis. CMAJ 2008;178:701-11.

- 4. Costa SL, Proctor L, Dodd JM, Toal M, Okun N, Johnson JA, et al. Screening for placental insufficiency in high risk pregnancies: is earlier better? Placenta 2008;29:1034-40.
- Chien PF, Arnott N, Gordon A, Owen P, Khan KS. How useful is uterine artery Doppler flow velocimetry in the prediction of preeclampsia, intrauterine growth retardation and perinatal death? An overview. BJOG 2000;107:196-208.
- 6. Ducey J. Velocity waveforms in hypertensive disease. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1989;32:679-86.
- 7. Spencer K, Yu CK, Cowans NJ, Otigbah C, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of pregnancy complications by first trimester maternal serum PAPP-A and free  $\beta$ -hCG and with second trimester uterine artery Doppler. Prenat Diagn 2005;25:949-53.
- 8. Wilson ML, Goodwin TM, Pan VL, Ingles SA. Molecular epidemiology of preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol Surv 2002;58:39-66.

- Albaiges G, Missfelder-Lobos H, Lees C, Parra M, Nicolaides KH. One-stage screening for pregnancy complications by colour Doppler assessment of the uterine arteries at 23 weeks gestation. Obstet Gynecol 2000;96:559-64.
- Harrington K, Cooper D, Lees C, Hecher K, Campbell S. Doppler ultrasound of the uterine arteries: the importance of bilateral notching in the prediction of pre-eclampsia, placental abruption or delivery of a small-for-gestational-age baby. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 1996;7:182-8.
- 11. Fonseca E, Yu CK, Singh M, Papageorghiou AT, Nicolaides KH. Relationship between second-trimester uterine artery Doppler and spontaneous early preterm delivery. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;27:301-5.
- 12. Bower SJ, Harrington KF, Schuchter K, MacGirr C, Campbell S. Prediction of pre-eclampsia by abnormal uterine Doppler ultrasound and modification by aspirin. Br J Obstet Gynecol 1996;193:625-9.



### A comparison of the effects of the most commonly used tocolytic agents on maternal and fetal blood flow

En sık kullanılan tokolitik ilaçların maternal ve fetal kan akımları üzerine olan etkilerinin karşılaştırılması

### Mahmut Güden<sup>1</sup>, Mehmet Özgür Akkurt<sup>2</sup>, Serenat Eriş Yalçın<sup>2</sup>, Bora Coşkun<sup>1</sup>, Iltaç Akkurt<sup>3</sup>, And Yavuz<sup>2</sup>, Bülent Yirci<sup>1</sup>, Necmi Ömer Kandemir<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Süleyman Demirel University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatology, Isparta, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Isparta Maternity and Children's Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Isparta, Turkey

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To investigate the effects of two tocolytics, nifedipine and magnesium sulfate, on Doppler indices in maternal and fetal vessels. **Materials and Methods:** We recruited 100 pregnant women with preterm birth between 24-36 gestational weeks who were admitted to our tertiary center over a two-year period. Patients were allocated to nifedipine (n=49) and magnesium sulfate (n=51) groups and Doppler indices of umbilical, middle cerebral, uterine arteries, and ductus venosus were measured before and after tocolysis.

**Results:** There were no differences between the groups in terms of maternal age, gestational week, body mass indexes, cervical dilation, effacement at admission, birth weights and latency periods until birth. Nifedipine decreased resistance indexes in uterine arteries but magnesium sulfate increased resistance especially in the right uterine artery. Nifedipine significantly decreased systole to diastole and resistance index in the umbilical artery, magnesium sulfate increased systole to diastole and resistance index and pulsatility index in the ductus venosus; however, magnesium sulfate increased resistance. Nifedipine decreased pulsatility index in the middle cerebral artery, contrary to magnesium sulfate with which it increased.

**Conclusion:** Nifedipine had favorable effects on maternal and fetal vessel indexes but magnesium sulfate increased resistance. Despite the proposed neuroprotective benefits of magnesium sulfate, nifedipine seems to be a better and safer tocolytic agent than magnesium sulfate due to its positive beneficial effects on maternal and fetal vessels.

Keywords: Doppler, magnesium sulfate, nifedipine, preterm delivery, adverse effect, tocolytic

#### Öz

Amaç: Nifedipin ve magnezyum sülfatın maternal ve fetal Doppler kan akımı indekslerine etkilerinin araştırılması.

**Gereç ve Yöntemler:** İki yıllık süreçte, 24-36. gebelik haftaları arasında preterm eylem tanısıyla perinatoloji kliniğine kabul edilen 100 hasta çalışmaya alındı. Hastalar aldıkları tokolitik tedaviye göre 2 gruba ayrıldı; nifedipin (n=49) ve magnezyum sülfat (n=51). Uterin, umblikal ve orta serebral arterler ve duktus venosus Doppler kan akımı indeksleri tedavi öncesinde ve sonrasında ölçüldü.

**Bulgular:** Maternal yaş, gebelik haftası, vücut kitle indeksi, servikal açıklık ve silinme, doğum ağırlıkları ve latensi dönemi açısından gruplar arasında fark yoktu. Nifedipin uterin arter rezistans indekslerini azaltırken, magnezyum sülfatın özellikle sağ uterin arterde olmak üzere arttırdığı saptandı. Nifedipin umblikal arterde sistol diastol oranını ve rezistans indeksi anlamlı şekilde azaltırken, magnezyum sülfat istatistiksel olarak anlamlı olmayacak şekilde arttırdı. Duktus venozus Doppler'inde nifedipinin rezistans indeksi ve pulsatilite indeksi üzerinde korele olmayan etkisi görülürken magnezyum sülfatın rezistansı arttırdığı saptandı. Orta serebral arterde nifedipin pulsatil indeksi azaltırken, magnezyum sülfatın arttırdığı saptandı.

**Sonuç:** Nifedipin genel olarak maternal ve fetal damarlarda olumlu etkilerde bulunurken magnezyumun rezistans indekslerini arttırdığı görüldü. Magnezyum sülfatın beyin koruyucu etkisinden bahsedilmesine rağmen nifedipinin yan etkilerinin daha az ve hafif olması, maternal ve fetal kan akımı üzerindeki etkilerinin olumlu olması nedeniyle nifedipin seçilecek tokolitik ajan olarak bir adım önde görünmektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Doppler, magnezyum sülfat, nifedipin, preterm eylem, yan etki, tokolitik

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Mehmet Özgür Akkurt, MD,

Süleyman Demirel University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatology, Isparta, Turkey

Phone: +90 505 631 31 15 E-mail: mozgurakkurt@gmail.com

Received/Geliş Tarihi : 06.04.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 14.06.2016

PRECIS: Nifedipine seems to be one step ahead as a tocolytic agent to be chosen due to its positive effects on maternal and fetal blood flow, comparing to magnesium sulfate.

#### Introduction

Despite the developments in medicine and technology, preterm birth (PTB) is still the leading cause of perinatal morbidity and mortality. Early-term complications such as respiratory distress syndrome, necrotizing enterocolitis, and intraventricular hemorrhage are frequent problems in preterm infants<sup>(1,2)</sup>. Frequent late-term complications include visual impairment, hearing loss, and cerebral palsy<sup>(3)</sup>. Although the rate of other obstetric complications has declined with the development of contemporary obstetric understanding, the treatment methods developed for preterm labor (PTL) have so far failed to reduce the number of PTBs. However, some benefits are gained through prolongation of pregnancy to enable corticosteroid administration to accelerate fetal lung maturation.

The least harmful drug for the mother and fetus, and the most effective tocolytic medication should be selected and administered without any delay after diagnosing the existence of any preterm pattern. Tocolytics can be used alone and/or in combination. Each tocolytic agent, in addition to their success in stopping the premature uterine contractions, presents maternal and fetal adverse effects. The use of these drugs requires close monitoring of patients during their administration<sup>(4)</sup>. Although the maternal and adverse effect profiles of these agents are established, the fetal adverse effect profile is relatively unknown. There are limited data on possible effects of tocolytics on fetal and feto-maternal circulation.

The aim of this study was to determine and compare the effects of nifedipine and magnesium sulfate (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), the most commonly used tocolytic agents, on maternal and fetal blood flows.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This was a prospective study conducted on pregnant women with PTL who were administered nifedipine and MgSO4 at a single perinatology clinic throughout a 2-year period (between October 2010 and September 2012). The study was subjected to Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital of Local Ethics Committee, and written informed consent was obtained from the women who participated in the study. All authors and the study protocol complied with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki regarding the ethical conduct of research involving human subjects.

Gestational age was determined according to the last menstrual period and/or first trimester ultrasound biometry. PTL was diagnosed using uterine contractions (at least 4 in an hour) associated with cervical dilatation ( $\geq 2$  cm) and/or effacement as per the American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommendations. Our exclusion criteria were 1) cervical dilatation at  $\geq$ 4 cm and/or cervical effacement  $\geq$ 80%, 2) multiple

86

gestations, 3) pregnancy complications including preeclampsia, ablatio placentae, intrauterine growth restriction, placenta previa, gestational diabetes 4) presence of preterm premature rupture of membranes, 5) a fetus with any malformation and/or aneuploidy, 6) prior PTL treatment, and 7) women who delivered within 48 hours of administration of tocolytic therapy. Two intramuscular injections of 12 mg betamethasone (Celestone Chronodose, Schering-Eczacıbaşı, Lüleburgaz) were administered 24 hours apart to all pregnant women at 24-34 gestational weeks.

MgSO<sub>4</sub> treatment protocol: 100 mL 5% dextrose 4-6 gr MgSO<sub>4</sub> (MgSO<sub>4</sub> 15% amp. Biosel, İstanbul) as intravenous (IV) loading dose administered over 20 minutes, followed by 2 gr/ hour IV as a maintenance dosage, while continuing MgSO4 infusion<sup>(4)</sup>. During the treatment, patients were monitored at hourly intervals for urination pattern, deep tendon reflexes, and respiratory rate per minute. The treatment was terminated after 6 hours following the cessation of contractions.

Nifedipine treatment protocol: Initial dose administered orally at 20 minutes intervals at 4 doses/10 mg, followed by 10 mg at 6-hour intervals as a maintenance dosage; the total daily dosage was 80 mg. The treatment was terminated in all patients at the end of 48 hours.

All sonographic evaluations were performed at a single perinatology department, using Voluson 730 ultrasound equipment (General Electric, Tiefenbach, Austria) fitted with a 2-7 MHz convex abdominal probe. All measurements were performed by the same operator to avoid any examinerdependent bias. Doppler index measurements were performed prior to nifedipine and MgSO<sub>4</sub> administration and repeated after 48 hours of initiation.

The Doppler measurements of vessels were performed as described in the literature<sup>(5)</sup>. The absence of uterine contractions and fetal inactivity was a required condition to obtain a precise evaluation. A low-frequency (100 Hz) was used for visualizing of ductus venosus (DV) with color and pulsatile Doppler. The sample volume size was adjusted due to the diameter of the vessel. The insonation angle was established as close to zero degrees as possible and never exceeded more than 30 degrees. Color flow imaging was used to visualize the flow through the main uterine artery medial to the external iliac artery. Furthermore, the ascending branch was selected for pulsatility index (PI) calculation. The waveforms were assessed for the possible presence of notch and the uterine artery score was calculated. This technique was the same for both sides. For umbilical artery Doppler, the sampling site was located halfway between the fetal and placental end of the cord. The circle of Willis and the middle cerebral artery (MCA) were identified when a transverse view of the fetal brain was obtained. The measurements were taken in the middle part of the MCA.

Peak systolic velocity, and resistance index (RI) and PI were calculated for both vessels.

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS 17.0 software (SPSS Inc., IBM, Chicago, IL, USA), and descriptive data are expressed as mean ± standard deviations and range. Continuous variable data obtained from the groups were analyzed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test against compliance with typical distribution. The average statistical analysis of the dependent and independent groups that distributed atypically was subjected to Wilcoxon and Mann-Whitney U tests, respectively. Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used for the comparison of groups. Student's t-test was to compare the averages of normally-distributed independent groups. P<0.05 was considered significant in all analyses.

#### Results

There was no significant difference in demographic characteristics as shown in Table 1. Before the treatment, the correlation between the RI and PI of the right and the left uterine arteries was strong in the MgSO<sub>4</sub> and nifedipine groups (r=0.961, p<0.001, r=0.974, p<0.001; and r=0.968, p<0.001, r=0.979, p<0.001, respectively). When uterine artery indexes were examined after the treatment, the correlation between the right and the left uterine RI and PI was strong in both groups (r=0.916, p<0.001, r=0.670, p<0.001; and r=0.876, p<0.001, r=0.796, p<0.001, r=0.796, p<0.001, respectively).

In the magnesium group, the PI of the right uterine and the RIs were significantly higher following the treatment (p=0.001 and p=0.018). However, no changes were observed in the left artery PI and RI (p=0.072 and p=0.901). No statistically significant difference was observed in umbilical artery PI, RI and systole to diastole (S/D) rates (p=0.358, p=0.556, and p=0.534, respectively). The PI in DV remained unchanged, but the RI revealed an increase (p=0.710 and p<0.001). In addition, an increase in the PI of the MCA was observed, whereas a decrease in the RI was seen (p=0.024 and p<0.001).

In the nifedipine group, a decrease in PI in right uterine artery was observed, and no change was determined in the RI (p=0.026 and p=0.054). However, a significant decrease was determined in the left uterine artery PI (p=0.001 and p=0.012). Although a significant decrease was detected in the umbilical artery RI

and S/D rates, an increase was observed in the PI (p=0.021, p<0.001, and p=0.028, respectively). An increase in RI was detected while the PI was decreasing in the DV (p=0.006 and p=0.018). However, while the PI was decreasing, no change was detected in RI of MCA (p=0.001 and p=0.414).

When the pre- and post-treatment values were compared between the groups, all maternal and fetal Doppler measurements were significant except the pre- and post-treatment values of PI and pre-treatment RI of DV, as shown in Table 2.

#### Discussion

Nifedipine and  $MgSO_4$  have direct effects on vascular structures due to their receptors, which are found throughout the body. Therefore, unexpected adverse effects might be seen in both uterine and fetal veins.

The use of nifedipine has been discredited owing its potential adverse effects in utero-placental perfusion and fetal oxygenation<sup>(6)</sup>. Nifedipine blocks calcium channels and reduces uterine vascular resistance by inhibiting the contraction of smooth muscles<sup>(7)</sup>. Although nifedipine does not seem to be a teratogenic agent, it is cause for concern because of its potential effects on the fetal circulation system<sup>(8)</sup>. Conflicting results were obtained from animal studies for nifedipine Ducsay et al.<sup>(9)</sup> and Harake et al.<sup>(10)</sup> determined that nifedipine led to decreased uterine blood flow on Rhesus monkey and sheep. In contrast, some studies conducted on other animals reported that nifedipine caused no changes in fetal and uterine blood flow<sup>(11,12)</sup>. In our study, it was determined that nifedipine had a positive effect on uterine blood flow.

Early studies reported no significant change prior and after nifedipine treatment in umbilical and fetal MCA Doppler indexes<sup>(13,14)</sup>. These findings suggest that nifedipine does not cause any adverse effects on the utero-placental and fetal vascular system. In our study, nifedipine reduced the resistance of uterine arteries, and MgSO<sub>4</sub> increased resistance, especially in the right uterine artery. This finding shows that nifedipine increases uterine blood flow rather than preventing it. The increased resistance of blood flow to the right uterine artery caused by magnesium stands out as a negative result. It was not possible to determine the effects of placentation on the RIs because the placenta lateralization

<b>Table 1.</b> Demographic characteristics o
---

	MgSO <sub>4</sub> treatment (n=49)	Nifedipine treatment (n=51)	р
Age (y) (min-max)	24.0 (18.0-37.0)	22 (19.0-39.0)	0.320
Gestational age (min-max)	33.0 (28.3-35.4)	34.0 (30.5-35.2)	0.840
Gravida	2 (1-2)	1 (1-3)	0.810
Parity	0 (0-1)	0 (0-2)	0.710
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	26.0 (24.3-28.3)	28.0 (24.3-29.0)	0.078

Data are given as median (interquartile range within brackets), MgSO4: Magnesium sulfate

(right-left) was not specified at the time we recorded the data.

In another study, nifedipine treatment showed no changes in umbilical artery PI values on Doppler measurements tested 24-48 hours following the treatment; however, uterine artery PI and MCA, PI values showed a significant decrease<sup>(15)</sup>. These changes were interpreted as a visible redistribution in the fetal vascular system and change in cerebral blood flow caused by nifedipine<sup>(15)</sup>. In our study, nifedipine reduced the S/D and RI in the umbilical artery. On the other hand, although magnesium increased these indexes, this change was not statistically significant. These findings showed the positive effects of nifedipine on fetal circulation and potential negative effects of magnesium. Furthermore, nifedipine reduced the MCA PI, but magnesium had the opposite effect. The effect of nifedipine was in favor of redistribution. Nifedipine increased the RI in the DV and reduced the PI.

A previous study showed an increase in MCA PI, a decrease on both sides of the uterine artery PI, and no significant changes in umbilical artery PI at 24-35 weeks before and after MgSO<sub>4</sub> treatment<sup>(16)</sup>. These findings are similar to the results of our study. The increase of PI in the MCA was attributed to the cerebral blood flow increase during PTL and the normalization of MCA PI following MgSO<sub>4</sub> treatment, thus the cessation of PTL. The decrease in uterine arteries PI has been explained as vasodilation in MgSO<sub>4</sub>-treated uterine arteries and thus the increase in blood flow. The changes that occur in these vessels were described as physiological changes that occur with the removal of PTL stress on the fetus.

Wright et al.<sup>(17)</sup> administered MgSO<sub>4</sub> tocolysis to 16 pregnant women with PTL, and performed Doppler measurements before tocolysis, and 1 and 24 hours after treatment. The authors stated that there was no effect of MgSO<sub>4</sub> on umbilical artery Doppler flow, similar with our data. In another study, 15 pregnant women were administered MgSO<sub>4</sub> tocolysis and a significant decrease in MCA PI was identified<sup>(18)</sup>. Conversely, MgSO<sub>4</sub> led to an increase in MCA PI in our study.

A recent study showed increased resistance in the DV against flow in the 48<sup>th</sup> hour of MgSO<sub>4</sub> treatment administered to pregnant women, and reported that this effect became apparent after the 32<sup>nd</sup> week. Therefore, the authors suggested being cautious when planning to administer a MgSO<sub>4</sub> tocolytic on pregnant

<b>Table 2.</b> Dopplet indexes in groups before treatment and at to nours post-treatm	Table 2. Doppler indexes in groups before treat	tment and at 48 hours post-treatme
--	---	------------------------------------

	MgSO <sub>4</sub>			Nifedipine			p values	
	B.T1	P.T1	р	B.T1	P.T1	р	B.T	P.T
Right UtA PI	0.65 (0.52-0.83)	0.70 (0.59-0.89)	0.001	0.86 (0.66-0.94)	0.85 (0.73-0.99)	0.026	<0.001	0.018
Right UtA RI	0.45 (0.38-0.53)	0.49 (0.41-0.53)	0.018	0.52 (0.44-0.60)	0.56 (0.50-0.61)	0.054	<0.001	0.006
Left UtA PI	0.77 (0.59-0.88)	0.74 (0.54-0.91)	0.072	1.06 (0.84-1.10)	0.91 (0.78-1.02)	0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Left UtA RI	0.51 (0.40-0.55)	0.48 (0.41-0.57)	0.901	0.59 (0.57-0.63)	0.55 (0.53-0.64)	0.012	<0.001	<0.001
UmbA PI	0.88 (0.80-1.03)	0.90 (0.79-1.12)	0.358	0.78 (0.75-0.95)	0.82 (0.69-0.97)	0.028	<0.001	<0.001
UmbA RI	0.59 (0.56-0.67)	0.62 (0.55-0.68)	0.566	0.55 (0.52-0.61)	0.52 (0.65-0.68)	0.021	<0.001	0.016
UmbA S/D	2.45 (2.32-2.93)	2.56 (2.28-3.1)	0.534	2.29 (2.07-2.53)	2.01 (1.72-2.29)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
DV PI	0.71 (0.53-0.97)	0.73 (0.55-1.0)	0.710	0.80 (0.71-0.92)	0.76 (0.52-1.1)	0.006	0.810	0.568
DV RI	0.32 (0.12-0.36)	0.40 (0.20-0.62)	<0.001	0.13 (0.05-0.23)	0.15 (0.12-0.23)	0.018	0.240	<0.001
MCA PI	1.68 (1.44-2.24)	1.74 (1.58-2.0)	0.024	2.48 (1.89-2.75)	2.42 (1.77-2.66)	0.001	<0.001	0.001
MCA RI	0.78 (0.71-0.86)	0.76 (0.60-0.80)	<0.001	1.00 (0.83-1.00)	1.00 (0.77-1.10)	0.414	<0.001	<0.001

Data are given as median (interquartile range within brackets), B.T: Before treatment, P.T: Post-treatment, UtA: Uterine arteries, PI: Pulsatility index, RI: Resistance index, MCA: Middle cerebral artery, DV: Ductus venosus, UmbA: Umbilical artery, S/D: Systole to diastole

women in  $32^{nd}$  weeks' gestation<sup>(18)</sup>. Parallel to the study above, we identified that MgSO<sub>4</sub> significantly increased DV RI values.

#### Conclusion

In pregnant women with PTL, MgSO<sub>4</sub> and nifedipine tocolysis may have some implications after 48 hours of the onset of treatment on maternal and fetal vascular blood flow patterns. Therefore, while choosing tocolytics, the adverse effect profile and the applicability of the drug should be considered. To interpret the effects of nifedipine and magnesium on fetal and maternal circulation based on the results obtained in this study, nifedipine reduces vascular resistance and thus increases uterine and fetal blood flows; the effect of magnesium on veins is less pronounced. Moreover (even though is the better definition than moreover in this sentence), MgSO<sub>4</sub> is said to have neuroprotective effects. Nifedipine seems to be ahead as a tocolytic agent and should be chosen owing to its positive effects on maternal and fetal blood flow, and its milder and lower adverse effect characteristics.

#### Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study were approved by the Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital of Local Ethics Committee, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: Mahmut Güden, Bora Coşkun, Concept: Mahmut Güden, Bülent Yirci, Design: Mehmet Özgür Akkurt, Mahmut Güden, Data Collection or Processing: Mahmut Güden, Iltac Akkurt, And Yavuz, Analysis or Interpretation: Bülent Yirci, Necmi Ömer Kandemir, Literature Search: And Yavuz, Writing: Mahmut Güden, Mehmet Özgür Akkurt, Serenat Yalçın.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Haram K, Mortensen JH, Wollen AL. Preterm delivery: an overview. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2003;82:687-704.
- Bernstein IM, Horbar JD, Badger GJ, Ohlsson A, Golan A. Morbidity and mortality among very-low-birth-weight neonates with intrauterine growth restriction. The Vermont Oxford Network. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2000;182:198-206.

- 3. Gkentzi D, Dimitriou G. Long-term outcome of infants born late preterm. Curr Pediatr Rev. 2014;10:263-7.
- Vitale SG, Marilli I, Rapisarda AM, Rossetti D, Belluomo G, Iapichino V, et al. Cellular and biochemical mechanisms, risk factors and management of preterm birth: state of the art. Minerva Ginecol 2014;66:589-95.
- Grzesiak M, Ahmed RB, Wilczynski J. 48-hours administration of nifedipine in spontaneous preterm labor - Doppler blood flow assessment of placental and fetal circulation. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2013;34:687-92.
- Lyell DJ, Pullen K, Campbell L, Ching S, Druzin ML, Chitkara U, et al. Magnesium sulfate compared with nifedipine for acute tocolysis of preterm labor: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol 2007;110:61-7.
- 7. Braunwald E. Mechanism of action of calcium-channel-blocking agents. N Engl J Med 1982;307:1618-27.
- 8. Tranquilli AL, Giannubilo SR. Use and safety of calcium channel blockers in obstetrics. Curr Med Chem 2009;16:3330-40.
- Ducsay CA, Thompson JS, Wu AT, Novy MJ. Effects of calcium entry blocker (nicardipine) tocolysis in rhesus macaques: fetal plasma concentrations and cardiorespiratory changes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987;157:1482-6.
- Harake B, Gilbert RD, Ashwal S, Power GG. Nifedipine: effects on fetal and maternal hemodynamics in pregnant sheep. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987;157:1003-8.
- 11. Csapo AI, Puri CP, Tarro S, Henzl MR. Deactivation of the uterus during normal and premature labor by the calcium antagonist nicardipine. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1982;142:483-91.
- Golichowski AM, Hathaway DR, Fineberg N, Peleg D. Tocolytic and hemodynamic effects of nifedipine in the ewe. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985;151:1134-40.
- 13. Guclu S, Saygili U, Dogan E, Demir N, Baschat AA. The shortterm effect of nifedipine tocolysis on placental, fetal cerebral and atrioventricular Doppler waveforms. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2004;24:761-5.
- García-Velasco JA, González González A. A prospective, randomized trial of nifedipine vs. ritodrine in threatened preterm labor. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1998;61:239-44.
- 15. Guclu S, Gol M, Saygili U, Demir N, Sezer O, Baschat AA. Nifedipine therapy for preterm labor: effects on placental, fetal cerebral and atrioventricular Doppler parameters in the first 48 hours. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;2:403-8.
- Keeley MM, Wade RV, Laurent SL, Hamann VD. Alterations in maternal-fetal Doppler flow velocity waveforms in preterm labor patients undergoing magnesium sulfate tocolysis. Obstet Gynecol 1993;81:191-4.
- Wright JW, Patterson RM, Ridgway LE 3rd, Berkus MD. Effect of tocolytic agents on fetal umbilical velocimetry. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1990;163:748-50.
- 18. Sayin NC, Arda S, Varol FG, Süt N. The effects of ritodrine and magnesium sulfate on maternal and fetal Doppler blood flow patterns in women with preterm labor. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2010;152:50-4.



### Luteal phase support in intrauterine insemination cycles

İntrauterin inseminasyon sikluslarında luteal faz desteği

İsmet Gün<sup>1</sup>, Özkan Özdamar<sup>2</sup>, Ali Yılmaz<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Gülhane Military Medical Academy, Haydarpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Abstract

Intrauterine insemination (IUI) treatment aims to increase the rate of conception by increasing the chances that the maximum number of healthy sperm reach the site of fertilization. IUI with controlled ovarian stimulation is frequently used in assisted reproduction practice. Although widely used, the efficacy of luteal support in IUI remains controversial. In this article, we aimed to review what we know regarding luteal support in IUI cycles and to adjudicate about the clinical use and benefits of this treatment. Based on the study results available in the literature, it appears to be beneficial to supplement the luteal phase in gonadotropin-stimulated IUI cycles that yield more than one follicle.

Keywords: Intrauterine insemination, controlled ovarian stimulation, luteal phase support

#### Öz

İntrauterin inseminasyon (İUİ) tedavisi, maksimum sayıda sağlıklı spermin fertilizasyon bölgesine ulaşma şansını arttırarak gebelik oranını arttırmayı hedefler. Kontrollü ovaryan stimülasyon ile İUİ, yardımıyla üreme pratiği sıklıkla kullanılmaktadır. Yaygın kullanımına rağmen, İUİ'de luteal desteğin etkinliği halen tartışmalıdır. Bu makalede, İUİ sikluslarında luteal destek hakkında bildiklerimizi gözden geçirmeyi ve bu tedavinin klinik kullanımı ve faydaları hakkında hükme varmayı hedefledik. Literatürdeki çalışma sonuçlarına göre, birden fazla follikül elde edilen gonadotropinle indüklenmiş İUİ sikluslarında luteal fazing desteklenmesi faydalı gibi görünmektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: İntrauterin inseminasyon, kontrollü ovaryan stimülasyon, luteal faz desteği

**PRECIS**: Based on the study results in the literature, it appears to be beneficial to supplement the luteal phase in gonadotropinstimulated intrauterine insemination cycles that yield more than one follicle.

#### Introduction

### The aim, frequency, and success rate of intrauterine insemination

Intrauterine insemination (IUI) is an artificial insemination technique in which sperm is introduced directly into the uterine cavity irrespective of whether ovulation has been triggered. The purpose of this process is to increase the rate of conception by improving the sperm quality and concentration and by transporting the maximum number of healthy sperm to the site of fertilization. Controlled ovarian stimulation (COS), which involves a variety of ovulation induction (OI) agents, is used before the procedure in an effort to increase the number of oocytes, eliminate ovulation disorders that are not detected during regular examinations, and provide the optimal conditions for insemination. Although the cost-effectiveness of IUI has been questioned, it is a widely-used fertility treatment that gives patients a good chance of pregnancy with relatively lower cost as compared with in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection (IVF/ICSI); however, the difference between the two is significant. Within the context of the European IVF Monitoring Programme in 2004, data from 19 countries were analyzed. It was reported that IUI was performed in 98.388 of a total of 245.099 cycles, or 40.1% of infertile patients, (52.866 IVF cycles and 93.845 ICSI cycles), and 12.081 births (12% per cycle) were reported in these IUI cycles, with a multiple pregnancy rate of 13%. The same data indicated that the number of donor inseminations was relatively high (with a 2004 donor insemination cycle number of 17.592, a pregnancy rate per cycle of 17.7%, and a multiple pregnancy rate of 11.8%)<sup>(1)</sup>. The European Society of Human

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Özkan Özdamar, MD,

İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: ozkan\_ozdamar35@hotmail.com Received/Geliş Tarihi : 28.01.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 18.03.2016

Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) also reported that IUI practices in Europe have increased over the years, and 162.843 IUI cycles with 29.235 donor cycles for IUI were carried out in 2009<sup>(2)</sup>. This outcome is not surprising given that IUI is employed in a broad range of indications including mild male infertility, unexplained infertility, and minimal or mild endometriosis. The effectiveness of IUI depends on a set of variables including the extent of IUI use, the indications for IUI, the optimal procedures for sperm preparation, insemination methods and timing, and the need to prevent premature luteinizing hormone (LH) surges and luteal deficiency in stimulated IUI cycles<sup>(3)</sup>.

The main problem with IUI cycles with respect to the data in question is that pregnancy rates per cycle are lower as compared with IVF/ICSI, for which there are many possible reason. The leading one may be that the amount of research focused on IUI is not sufficient. A literature search on PubMed using the phrase IUI revealed that the first publication on this issue was published by in 1962 and also yielded 2.233 publications since October 2015. In contrast, when PubMed is searched using the phrase IVF, the resulting number of hits is 38.340. There are nearly 17 times as many IVF studies as there are IUI studies. Consequently, these data indicate that although frequently employed, IUI is not adequately studied. For this reason, we suppose that there are many unknowns to be analyzed. One of which is whether luteal phase support (LPS) is necessary for IUI cycles. When the current literature was investigated using the phrase LPS in IUI, PubMed yielded 42 publications since October 2015 on this subject. These publications include two meta-analyses in 2013 and very few controlled prospective studies to date. Moreover, the Cochrane database does not have any articles on the topic.

#### Known facts and observational study results

An LH surge is needed for follicle rupture and oocyte maturation. Similarly, progesterone (P) is needed to support early pregnancy and implantation. P is a product of the corpus luteum (CL) and provides secretory transformation of the endometrium during the luteal phase. In order for P receptors to diffuse sufficiently, a sufficient amount of estrogen (E) is needed<sup>(4)</sup>. In all COS cycles, multiple follicular development and the resultant supraphysiologic estradiol block the hypothalamic-pituitary axis with negative feedback, and hence the necessary LH oscillation for CL function does not occur. Consequently, this situation causes defective P and premature luteolysis<sup>(5)</sup>.

Analysis of the available observational studies revealed that the luteal phase in gonadotropin-stimulated cycles is 20% shorter (an average luteal phase lasts 11 days), and that this shortness can be normalized by administering mid-luteal human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), and that groups receiving LPS had significantly higher levels of mid-luteal P than those receiving no support<sup>(6-9)</sup>. However, mid-luteal P levels were

<10 ng/mL in only one-third of the cycles that had a shortened luteal phase. This demonstrates that mid-luteal P levels are not directly related with luteal function<sup>(6)</sup>. Additionally, P plays a crucial role in LH secretion modulation, and long-term exposure to P or E+P can reduce LH secretion<sup>(10,11)</sup>.

Exogen hCG administration can reduce LH concentrations through short and long feedback mechanisms<sup>(12)</sup>. However, more comprehensive studies demonstrated that hCG injection does not induce down-regulation of LH secretion during the luteal phase in normoovulatory women in spite of multifollicular development in unstimulated cycles and therefore supraphysiologic steroid concentration<sup>(13)</sup>. On the other hand, ovarian stimulation and the related multifollicular development are associated with abnormal endometrium progression during the early luteal period in almost 50% of cases<sup>(14)</sup>.

### Premature luteinizing hormone surge in intrauterine insemination cycles

An LH surge is triggered by the increasing levels of E secreted by the dominant follicle and is a requirement for follicular rupture and oocyte maturation. A premature LH surge is defined as a premature rise of LH (>10 IU/L) accompanied by a concomitant rise in P (>1 mg/L-3.2 nM/L)<sup>(15)</sup>. With the exception of natural cycles in older women, premature LH surge is a rarelyencountered phenomenon, although in stimulated IUI cycles its rate approaches 25-30%<sup>(15,16)</sup>. Premature LH surges may result in cycle cancellation or treatment failures. Gonadotropinreleasing hormone antagonists correct the premature LH surge but do not affect pregnancy rates, which indicates that it is not completely a case of early luteinization or premature LH surge<sup>(15)</sup>.

#### Meta-analysis and prospective randomized controlled studies for luteal phase support in intrauterine insemination cycles

Despite some controversies in the published literature, luteal deficit and its causes are clarified thanks to progress in assisted reproduction technique. From this perspective, the usefulness of P supplementation during the luteal phase in IVF/ICSI cycles for reproductive outcomes is notably accepted in the Cochrane study. However, the timing of initiation, duration, route and amount of administration are still debated<sup>(17)</sup>. On the other hand, the effects of LPS in IUI cycles are unclear. To date, a very limited number of randomized controlled prospective studies has been conducted regarding the necessity of LPS treatment in stimulated IUI cycles. IUI cycles resemble IVF cycles in terms of multifollicular production and represent supraphysiologic steroid production. In this regard, it could be plausible to consider that the number of follicles in stimulated IUI cycles does matter and that LPS may be needed in multifollicular cases. The relevant literature investigation with regard to stimulated IUI cycles + LPS produced only two studies that addressed the

issue of follicle number. The first is the report of ESHRE Capri Workshop Group in 2009, which assessed six randomized controlled studies including 456 patients<sup>(3)</sup>. In this report, it was stressed that LPS treatment was not a major requisite for mild gonadotropin-stimulation IUI cycles (1-2 follicles). The second was the study by Seckin et al.<sup>(18)</sup> in 2014, which compared women who received a vaginal P gel with controls in an unexplained infertility population undergoing gonadotropin-stimulated IUI cycles. According to the results of this study, it was suggested that there were no difference between groups that received and did not receive LPS in terms of clinical pregnancy rates (CPR) and live birth rates (LBR) per cycle and per patient; however, in the IUI cycles that yielded a multifollicular response (>1 dominant follicle), LPS treatment statistically increased the CPR per patient compared with those with monofollicular response (28.2% vs. 11.4%, respectively, p=0.04). This result was the first evidence that LPS affected the success of the multifollicular resulst in gonadotropin-stimulated IUI cycles.

A literature search with regards to prospective randomized controlled trials (RCT) revealed the first study was conducted by Erdem et al.<sup>(19)</sup> in 2009. In this study, groups receiving and not receiving vaginal P gel for LPS two days after IUI in rFSH-stimulated IUI cycles in patients with unexplained infertility were

compared. The results revealed that both CPR per cycle (21.1% and 12.7%, p=0.028, respectively) and per patient (39.4% and 23.8%, p=0.01, respectively) and LBR per cycle (17.4% and 9.3%, p=0.016, respectively), and per patient (35.8% and 18.1%, p=0.003, respectively) were significantly higher in the LPS-receiving group. Multiple pregnancy rates (MPR) did not significantly differ between the groups. This was the first prospective randomized controlled study to be conducted in this field that provided live birth rates. To date, there have been two meta-analyses,<sup>(20,21)</sup> including five RCTs<sup>(19,22-25)</sup> regarding this issue. Although all five RCTs included in the two metaanalyses provided biochemical pregnancy rate (BPR), CPR, MPR, and miscarriage rates (MR), the studies conducted by Erdem et al.<sup>(19)</sup>, Ebrahimi et al.<sup>(23)</sup>, and Maher<sup>(24)</sup>, also assessed LBR. None of the studies indicated a difference between MPR and MR. Vaginal P was used for LPS in all these studies. Meta-analyses by Hill et al.<sup>(20)</sup> and Miralpeix et al.<sup>(21)</sup> revealed significantly higher CPRs [OR: 1.47; 95% CI: (1.15-1.98) and RR: 1.41; 95% CI: (1.14-1.76), respectively] and LBRs [OR: 2.11; 95% CI: (1.21-3.67) and RR: 1.94; 95% CI: (1.36-2.77), respectively] in LPSadministered groups as compared with LPS-free groups. In the subgroup analyses, LPS was reported to significantly increase BPR, CPR, and LBR only in the gonadotropin-stimulated IUI cycles compared with the LPS-free group. However, none of the

Table 1. Characteristics of the randomized controlled trials that assessed luteal phase support in women undergoing intrauterine insemination cycles

	Total no of patients	No of treatment / control cycles	Stimulation of ovulation	Luteal support, dosage, duration	Outcomes
Erdem et al. <sup>(19)</sup> , 2009	214	223/204	rFSH	Vaginal progesterone gel, 90 mg/24 h, once daily, until 12 <sup>th</sup> wk.	CPR, BPR, LBR, MPR, MR
Kyrou et al. <sup>(22)</sup> , 2010	468	196/204	Clomiphene citrate	Vaginal progesterone suppositories, 200 mg/8 h, until 7 <sup>th</sup> wk.	CPR, BPR, MPR, MR
Ebrahimi et al. <sup>(23)</sup> , 2010	200	252/259	Clomiphene citrate + hMG	Vaginal progesterone suppositories, 400 mg/24 h, once daily, until 10 <sup>th</sup> wk.	CPR, BPR, LBR, MPR, MR
Maher <sup>(24)</sup> , 2011	71	132/126	rFSH	Vaginal progesterone gel, 90 mg/24 h, once daily, for 14 days.	CPR, BPR, LBR, MPR, MR
Agha-Hosseini et al. <sup>(25)</sup> , 2012	300	148/142	Clomiphene citrate, Clomiphene citrate + hMG, Letrozole, Letrozole + hMG	Vaginal progesterone suppositories, 400 mg/24 h, once daily, until 12 <sup>th</sup> wk.	CPR, BPR, MPR, MR
Hossein Rashidi et al. <sup>(26)</sup> , 2014	253	NA	Clomiphene citrate + hMG	Vaginal progesterone suppositories, 400 mg/12 h, twice Daily, until 8 <sup>th</sup> wk.	CPR, BPR, MR
Khosravi et al. <sup>(27)</sup> , 2015*	150	NA	Clomiphene citrate + rFSH	Vaginal progesterone suppositories, 400 mg/24 h, once daily.	CPR, MR

rFSH: Recombinant follicular stimulating hormone, hMG: Human menopausal gonadotropin, CPR: Clinical pregnancy rate, BPR: Biochemical, pregnancy rate, LBR: Live birth rate, MPR: Multiple pregnancy rate, MR: Miscarriage rate, Wk: Week, NA: Not available, \*Groups received oral dydrogesterone versus vaginal progesterone suppositories for luteal phase support.

	BPR (%) (p)	CPR (%) (p)	LBR (%) (p)
Erdem et al. <sup>(19)</sup> , 2009	25.1%-13.7% (0.002)	21.2%-12.7% (0.028)	17.4%-9.3% (0.016)
Kyroue et al. <sup>(22)</sup> , 2010	-	7.3%-8.7% (NS)	-
Ebrahimi et al. <sup>(23)</sup> , 2010	13.5%-11.2% (NS)	11.5%-10% (NS)	7.5%-5.7% (NS)
Maher <sup>(24)</sup> , 2011	37.1%-20.6% (0.004)	29.5%-19.8% (0.07)	18.9%-5.5% (<0.001)
Agha-Hosseini et al. <sup>(25)</sup> , 2012	29%-21.8% (NS)	24.3%-14.1% (0.02)	-
Hossein Rashidi et al. <sup>(26)</sup> , 2014	30.8%-22.2% (NS)	15.8%-12.7%, (NS)	-
Khosravi et al. <sup>(27)</sup> , 2015*	-	25.7%-29.7% (NS)	-
Khosravi et al. <sup>(27)</sup> , 2015*	-	25.7%-29.7% (NS)	-

Table 2. Reproductive outcomes of randomized controlled trials that assessed luteal phase support in women undergoing intrauterine insemination cycles

Data are presented as percentage rates in groups receiving luteal phase support versus no support. BPR: Biochemical pregnancy rate, CPR: Clinical pregnancy rate, LBR: Live birth rate, NS: Not significant, \*Groups received oral dydrogesterone versus

studies present data regarding the number of follicles yielded. In addition, Miralpeix et al.<sup>(21)</sup> categorized the five studies assessed in their meta-analyses as either low risk of bias (if all the questions were answered yes) or high risk of bias (if at least one question was answered no) with respect to the responses to six parameters, which were "sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding, incomplete outcome data, selective outcome reporting and other issues." Consequently, studies conducted by Kyrou et al.<sup>(22)</sup> and Ebrahimi et al.<sup>(23)</sup> were defined as having a high risk of bias, whereas the others had a low risk of bias.

After the above-mentioned meta-analyses, two more doubleblinded prospective randomized controlled studies were published, both of which were conducted in Iran. The first was a placebo-controlled study in 2014 by Hossein Rashidi et al.<sup>(26)</sup> which involved vaginal P for LPS administered until the 8th gestational week. COS was achieved with clomiphene citrate (100 mg/d) and human menopausal gonadotropin (75 IU/d) in the study groups. No statistically significant difference was detected between the groups receiving LPS (n=127) and placebo (n=126) in terms of BPR (30.8-22.2%, p=0.15, respectively), CPR (15.8-12.7%, p=0.30, respectively), MR (10-18.8%, p=0.45, respectively) and the ongoing pregnancy rate (OPR) (46.2-46.4%, p=0.98, respectively). The second study was conducted in 2015 by Khosravi et al.(27) in which vaginal P (400 mg) and oral dydrogesterone (20 mg) groups were compared for LPS with regards to CPR, MR, and mid-luteal P values (seven days after IUI). Although there was no statistical difference, the mid-luteal P level in the oral dydrogesterone arm was higher and, accordingly, MR was lower. Consequently, this study demonstrated that oral dydrogesterone could also be effective for LPS as vaginal P in COS+IUI cycles. The characteristics and reproductive outcomes of the RCTs available in the literature are demonstrated in detail in Tables 1 and 2.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, COS+IUI cycles are similar to IVF/ICSI cycles in terms of multifollicular development. Only a limited number of randomized controlled trials are available about LPS in IUI cycles. Based on the results of these studies, it appears to be beneficial to support the luteal phase in gonadotropinstimulated IUI cycles that yield more than one follicle. There is still a need for further randomized controlled trials to evaluate the effectiveness of LPS treatment in stimulated IUI cycles.

#### **Ethics**

Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Design: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Data Collection or Processing: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Ali Yılmaz, Analysis or Interpretation: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Ali Yılmaz, Literature Search: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar, Ali Yılmaz, Writing: İsmet Gün, Özkan Özdamar.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- Andersen AN, Goossens V, Ferraretti AP, Bhattacharya S, Felberbaum R, de Mouzon J, et al. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2004: results generated from European registers by ESHRE. Hum Reprod 2008;23:756-71.
- 2. Ferraretti AP, Goossens V, Kupka M, Bhattacharya S, de Mouzon J, Castilla JA, et al. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2009: results generated from European registers by ESHRE. Hum Reprod 2013;28:2318-31.
- ESHRE Capri Workshop Group. Intrauterine insemination. Hum Reprod Update 2009;15:265-77.
- 4. Fatemi HM, Popovic-Todorovic B, Papanikolaou E, Donoso P, Devroey P. An update of luteal phase support in stimulated IVF cycles. Hum Reprod Update 2007;13:581-90.
- Fauser BC, Devroey P. Reproductive biology and IVF: ovarian stimulation and luteal phase consequences. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2003;14:236-42.
- Olson JL, Rebar RW, Schreiber JR, Vaitukaitis JL. Shortened luteal phase after ovulation induction with human menopausal gonadotropin and human chorionic gonadotropin. Fertil Steril 1983;39:284-91.

- Grazi RV, Taney FH, Gagliardi CL, Von Hagen S, Weiss G, Schmidt CL. The luteal phase during gonadotropin therapy: effects of two human chorionic gonadotropin regimens. Fertil Steril 1991;55:1088-92.
- Messinis IE, Bergh T, Wide L. The importance of human chorionic gonadotropin support of the corpus luteum during human gonadotropin therapy in women with anovulatory infertility. Fertil Steril 1988;50:31-5.
- 9. Blumenfeld Z, Nahhas F. Luteal dysfunction in ovulation induction: the role of repetitive human chorionic gonadotropin supplementation during with the luteal phase. Fertil Steril 1988;50:403-7.
- Soules M, Steiner RA, Clifton DK, Cohen NL, Aksel S, Bremner WJ. Progesterone modulation of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in normal women. J Clin Enocrinol Metab 1984;58:378-82.
- 11. Nippoldt TB, Reame N, Kelch RP, Marshall JC. The roles of estradiol and progesterone in decreasing luteinizing hormone pulse frequency in the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1989;69: 67-76.
- Tavaniotou A, Albano C, Smitz J, Devroey P. Comparison of LH concentrations in the early and mid-luteal phase in IVF cycles after HMG alone or in association with GnRH antagonist Cetrorelix. Hum Reprod 2001;16:663-7.
- Tavaniotou A, Devroey P. Effect of human chorionic gonadotropin on luteal luteinizing hormone concentrations in natural cycles. Fertil Steril 2003;80:654-5.
- 14. Garcia JE, Acosta AA, Hsiu JG, Jones HW Jr. Advanced endometrial maturation after ovulation induction with human menopausal gonadotropin/human chorionic gonadotropin for in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril 1984;41:31-5.
- 15. Lambalk CB, Leader A, Olivennes F, Fluker MR, Andersen AN, Ingerslev J, et al. Treatment with the GnRH antagonist ganirelix prevents premature LH rises and luteinization in stimulated intrauterine insemination: results of a double-blind, placebocontrolled, multicentre trial. Hum Reprod 2006;21:632-9.
- Cantineau AE, Cohlen BJ, Heineman MJ. Ovarian stimulation protocols (anti-oestrogens, gonadotrophins with and without GnRH agonists/ antagonists) for intrauterine insemination (IUI) in women with sub fertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007:CD005356.
- Van der Linden M, Buckingham K, Farquhar C, Kremer JA, Metwally M. Luteal phase support for assisted reproduction cycles. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011;5:CD009154.

- Seckin B, Turkcapar F, Yildiz Y, Senturk B, Yilmaz N, Gulerman C. Effect of luteal phase support with vaginal progesterone in intrauterine insemination cycles with regard to follicular response: a prospective randomized study. J Reprod Med 2014;59:260-6.
- 19. Erdem A, Erdem M, Atmaca S, Guler I. Impact of luteal phase support on pregnancy rates in intrauterine insemination cycles: a prospective randomized study. Fertil Steril 2009; 91:2508-13.
- 20. Hill MJ, Whitcomb BW, Lewis TD, Wu M, Terry N, DeCherney AH, et al. Progesterone luteal support after ovulation induction and intrauterine insemination: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril 2013;100:1373-80.
- 21. Miralpeix E, González-Comadran M, Solà I, Manau D, Carreras R, Checa MA. Efficacy of luteal phase support with vaginal progesterone in intrauterine insemination: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Assist Reprod Genet 2014;31:89-100.
- 22. Kyrou D, Fatemi HM, Tournaye H, Devroey P. Luteal phase support in normo-ovulatory women stimulated with clomiphene citrate for intrauterine insemination: need or habit? Hum Reprod 2010;25:2501-6.
- Ebrahimi M, Asbagh FA, Darvish S. The effect of luteal phase support on pregnancy rates of the stimulated intrauterine insemination cycles in couples with unexplained infertility. Int J Fertil Steril 2010;4:51-6.
- 24. Maher MA. Luteal phase support may improve pregnancy outcomes during intrauterine insemination cycles. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2011;157:57-62.
- 25. Agha-Hosseini M, Rahmani M, Alleyassin A, Safdarian L, Sarvi F. The effect of progesterone supplementation on pregnancy rates in controlled ovarian stimulation and intrauterine insemination cycles: a randomized prospective trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2012;165:249-53.
- 26. Hossein Rashidi B, Davari Tanha F, Rahmanpour H, Ghazizadeh M. Luteal phase support in the intrauterine insemination (IUI) cycles: a randomized double blind, placebo controlled study. J Family Reprod Health 2014;8:149-53.
- 27. Khosravi D, Taheripanah R, Taheripanah A, Tarighat Monfared V, Hosseini-Zijoud SM. Comparison of oral dydrogesterone with vaginal progesteronefor luteal support in IUI cycles: a randomized clinical trial. Iran J Reprod Med 2015;13:433-8.





### Live birth after transfer of a tripronuclear embryo: An intracytoplasmic sperm injection as a combination of microarray and time-lapse technology

Tripronükleer bir embriyonun transferiyle elde edilen canlı doğum: Mikroarray ve time lapse teknolojisinin kombinasyonu olan bir intra-sitoplazmik sperm enjeksiyonu olgusu

Ender Yalçınkaya, Alev Özay, Elif G. Ergin, Zeynep Öztel, Hakan Özörnek

Eurofertil In Vitro Fertilization Center, Embryology Laboratory, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Abstract

Although around 1-4% of human zygotes have been found to be tripronuclear, there is little information about the subsequent development and chromosomal composition of embryos that derive from these zygotes. Herein, we report a pregnancy and subsequent delivery of a healthy newborn after the transfer of a blastocyst that developed from a tripronuclear zygote that had a euploid microarray result. **Keywords:** Tripronuclear, microarray, euploid

#### Öz

İnsan zigotlarının %1-4'ünün tripronükleer olduğu gözlenmiş olsada, bu zigotlardan elde edilen embriyoların gelişimleri ve kromozomal içeriğine dair oldukça az bilgi vardır. Bu olgu sunumunda, tripronükleer bir zigottan gelişen fakat mikroarray sonucuna göre öploid olduğu görülen bir embriyonun transferiyle elde edilen bir gebelik ve canlı doğumu sunuyoruz.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Tripronükleer, mikroarray, öploid

#### Introduction

During assisted reproduction treatments, successful fertilization is determined through the presence of two visible pronuclei in the cytoplasm of the oocyte on the first day. Also, two common abnormal fertilization patterns have been reported in clinical practice. These are 1 pronucleus (PN) and 3PN zygotes. It is known that triploid human embryos are associated with spontaneous abortions after implantation<sup>(1)</sup>. For this reason, it is believed that it is crucial to recognize 3PN formation in the early period and not to transfer the embryos that develop from 3PN oocytes during in vitro fertilization (IVF) treatment.

Aneuploidies are commonly observed in early human embryos<sup>(2,3)</sup>. Preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) has been applied as a method in assisted reproductive technology to select genetically normal embryos for transfer that have the highest implantation potential. It is generally recommended for the people who are referred to IVF clinics with an etiology such

as repeated implantation failure, recurrent pregnancy loss, and advanced age. After the introduction of microarrays in assisted reproduction practice, physicians and embryologists began to obtain more detailed information about the whole genomic constitution of the embryos.

In this case report, we aimed to present a healthy delivery by a woman whose transferred embryo was developed from a 3PN zygote until the blastocyst stage and yielded a euploid result with microarray analysis.

#### **Case Report**

A woman aged 36 years was admitted to our IVF clinic with the etiology of diminished ovarian reserve. She had experienced two previous pregnancies; however, both pregnancies were terminated with missed abortions at around 13 weeks due to trisomy XXY. All sperm parameters were within normal range based on World Health Organization (WHO) 2010 criteria. The

patient was offered genetic testing for a possible aneuploidy along with intrcytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) treatment due to the previous abortions, which she accepted. She underwent an antagonist protocol with the administration of 450 IU recombinant follicle stimulating hormone (Gonal F, Merck Serono, Italy) for 7 days. The antagonist (Cetrotide, 0.25 mg) was administered after the observation of a leading follicle of 15 mm. Human choriogonadotrophin (hCG) was administered when more than three  $\geq 17$  mm oocytes were seen. Three oocytes were collected 36 hours after hCG (Ovitrelle, Merck Serono, Italy) administration. All oocytes were at metaphase II (MII) stage and they all underwent ICSI. ICSI is the preferred method of fertilization in our clinic irrespective of semen parameters due to its higher fertilization rates. A fertilization check was performed 17 hours after microinjection. Two oocytes were normally fertilized (2PN) and one was abnormally fertilized (3PN). All zygotes were cultured in ISM1 medium (Medicult, Origio, Denmark) until the end of day 2 in Blast Assist medium (Medicult, Origio, Denmark) until the blastocyst stage in a closed incubation system including time-lapse photography (Embryoscope, Unisense Fertilitech, Denmark) under the culture conditions of 37 °C, 6.0% CO<sub>2</sub> and 7.0% O<sub>2</sub>. We use lower oxygen concentrations for embryo culture in our laboratory becayse there are higher blastocyst development and clinical success rates reported in the literatüre<sup>(4)</sup>. All three embryos were good quality at day 3 (including  $\geq 6$  even blastomeres and no fragmentation). One single blastomere was biopsied from all day 3 embryos and sent for genetic analysis. All 24 chromosomes were screened using a comparative genomic hybridization array following genome amplification in single cell. The genetic results arrived in the morning of day 5, and that only embryo that developed was from 3PN zygote and it was found to be normal (euploid) based on the report. The patient was informed about all possible consequences of transferring an embryo developed from a 3PN zygote and she gave consent for its transfer. The embryo cleaved properly based on the expected timing intervals of Meseguer's hierarchical model, and reached hatching blastocyst stage on day 5(5). An image of the 3PN embryo that was taken from the embryoscope screen is shown in Figure 1. One of the other embryos (2PNs) also developed to blastocyst stage and the other arrested at the compaction stage (Figure 2). The microarray results of the embryos are given in Table 1. A hatching blastocyst was transferred to the patient by the common decision of the geneticist, embryologist, physician, and the patient. The patient was considered as pregnant after obtaining a βhCG result of 652 mIU/mL after 10 days following embryo transfer and the quantitative hCG result doubled after two days. The patient delivered a healthy baby girl after 39 weeks by cesarian section. The weight of the baby was 3410 gr and her height was 51 cm at birth.

#### Discussion

Although around 1-4% of human zygotes were found to be tripronuclear, there is little information about subsequent

development and chromosomal composition of embryos that derive from these zygotes<sup>(6)</sup>. The reason is that these tripronuclear zygotes are generally discarded in routine IVF practice because they are believed to be genetically abnormal. Despite this general belief, it was shown in some studies that some of these tripronuclear human oocytes do not always develop into triploid embryos. Kola et al.<sup>(6)</sup> showed that a large majority of tripronuclear human oocytes do not develop into triploid embryos, and that the first cleavage is the critical stage that affects the subsequent chromosomal constitution of tripronuclear human oocytes. In some other studies that evaluated the chromosomal composition of 3PN zygotes and embryos developed from these zygotes, various amounts of them were found to be diploid<sup>(7)</sup>. These data are one of the reasons why we performed blastomere biopsy also to the 3PN embryo in this case. The second reason was the few embryos with which we had to work.

3PN formation has been acounted for by two main features: Dispermic fertilization and nonextrusion of the second polar body<sup>(3)</sup>. After the introduction of ICSI to the assisted reproduction armoury, it has become the preferred method of many IVF clinics because of its high fertilization and comparable pregnancy rates for male factor infertility problems and other etiologies. We could rule out the possibility of dispermic fertilization in this case because it is the only technique routinely used in our IVF clinic. Therefore, nonextrusion of the second polar body was the only possible explanation for this 3PN formation.

In the review by Munne and Cohen<sup>(3)</sup> on chromosome abnormalities in human embryos, the different percentages



**Figure 1.** The image of 3PN embryo on embryoscope screen at day 1. Blue arrows indicate the exact location of third pronucleus

Table 1. Microarray outcome of	of the biopsied blastomeres
--------------------------------	-----------------------------

Embryo#	Microarray result	Interpretation	Final disposition
1	45,XX, -16	Aneuploid	Discarded
2	46,XX	Euploid	Transfer
3	47,XY, +6	Aneuploid	Discarded



Figure 2. All three embryos at day 5, 1) 2PN (45,XX, -16) 2) 3PN (46,XX) (euploid) 3) 47,XY, +6

of diploid 3PN embryos observed in different centers were attributed to differences in recording vacuoles and pronuclei. In our study, our embryo was cultured in a time-lapse incubator (Embryoscope, Unisense Fertilitech, Aarhus, Denmark) and we had the opportunity to check the pronuclear status of the embryo repeatedly by four experienced embryologists; it was determined that the third formation included pronucleolar bodies inside. We can also suggest that it would be better to put oocytes into a timelapse system directly after ICSI such that the details of 3PN formations can be seen. The reason for this suggestion is based on our experiences with time lapse, which shows that 2PN zygotes may sometimes later appear as 3PN following fragmentation of one of its pronuclei.

In previous studies, 25-62% of human day 3 preimplantation embryos were found chromosomally mosaic and the average percentage of aneuploid blastomeres in the mosaic embryo ranges between 40-52%<sup>(8)</sup>. The genetic results obtained from a single blastomere may not be an exact representation of the whole embryo because of the high ratio of mosaicism in preimplantation day 3 embryos. Thus, two approaches may improve PGD accuracy. The first is the biopsy of two blastomeres on day 3, and the second is biopsy at a more advanced development stage such as blastocyst. In an unselected population of human blastocysts, it could be expected that nearly 40% could be chromosomally abnormal<sup>(9)</sup>. Thus, it can be concluded that the development of an embryo up to the blastocyst stage does not mean that the embryo is genetically normal. Accordingly, the main limitation in our study seems to be the timing of biopsy. As such, we could not determine the final chromosomal constitution of the two blastocysts we obtained during the treatment. The reason why we performed day 3 biopsy was that the patient was living abroad and did not want to come back for a thaw cycle. In addition, the reason for performing only a single blastomere biopsy instead of two was the double financial burden of the microarray, which was not approved by the patient.

#### Conclusion

As far we know, this is the first study to show time-lapse imaging of a 3PN embryo that was found to be euploid using microarraybased genetic testing, which reulted with a healthy newborn. We conclude that it would be useful to perform aneuploidy testing also for abnormally-fertilized oocytes during IVF treatment, especially for patients with a low number of embryos. However, further studies on this subject should focus on a day-5 biopsy to minimize the confounding effect of mosaicism.

#### **Ethics**

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: Alev Özay, Elif Ergin, Design: Ender Yalçınkaya, Data Collection or Processing: Alev Özay, Zeynep Öztel, Ender Yalçınkaya, Analysis or Interpretation: Elif Ergin, Hakan Özörnek, Literature Search: Ender Yalçınkaya, Writing: Ender Yalçınkaya.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### References

- Jacobs PA, Angell RR, Buchanan IM, Hassold TJ, Matsuyama AM, Manuel B. The origins of human triploids. Ann Hum Genet 1978;42:49-57.
- Harper JC, Coonen E, Handyside AH, Winston RM, Hopman AH, Delhanty JD. Mosaicism of autosomes and sex chromosomes in morphologically normal, monospermic preimplantation human embryos. Prenat Diagn 1995;15:41-9.
- Munne S, Cohen J. Chromosome abnormalities in human embryos. Hum Reprod Update 1998;4:842-55.
- Bontekoe S, Mantikou E, van Wely M, Seshadri S, Repping S, Mastenbroek S. Low oxygen concentrations for embryo culture in assisted reproductive technologies. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;11;7:CD008950.

- Cruz M, Garrido N, Herrero J, Perez-Cano I, Munoz M, Meseguer M. Timing of cell division in human cleavage-stage embryos is linked with blastocyst formation and quality. Reprod Biomed Online 2012;25:371-81.
- 6. Kola I, Trounson A, Dawson G, Rogers P. Tripronuclear human oocytes: altered cleavage patterns and subsequent karyotypic analysis of embryos. Biol Reprod 1987;37:395-401.
- 7. Chen ZC, Yan J, Feng HL. Aneuploid analysis of tripronuclear zygotes derived from in vitro fertilization and intracytoplasmic sperm injection in humans. Fertil Steril 2005;83:1845-48.
- Gonzalez-Merino E, Emiliani S, Vassart G, Van den Bergh M, Vannin AS, Abramowicz M, et al. Incidence of chromosomal mosaicism in human embryos at different developmental stages analyzed by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Genet Test 2003;7:85-95.
- Magli MC, Jones GM, Gras L, Gianaroli L, Korman I, Trounson AO. Chromosome mosaicism in day 3 aneuploid embryos that develop to morphologically normal blastocysts in vitro. Human Reprod 2000;15:1781-6.



# Amphricrine carcinoma of the cervix-adeno neuroendocrine tumor: A case report

Servikal ampikrin adeno-nöroendokrin karsinom: Olgu sunumu

Erdem Fadıloğlu<sup>1</sup>, Alper Karalök<sup>1</sup>, Osman Türkmen<sup>1</sup>, Şeyma Asiltürk<sup>1</sup>, Reyhan Öçalan<sup>1</sup>, Nurettin Boran<sup>1</sup>, Heyecan Ökten<sup>2</sup>, Taner Turan<sup>1</sup>, Gökhan Tulunay<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pathology, Ankara, Turkey

#### Abstract

Adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma is a very rare form of cervical carcinoma that includes both endocrine and exocrine components. In general terms, these carcinomas progress aggressively and show early metastases due to the neuroendocrine component. The most important criteria related to prognosis is the stage of the disease. Without clearly determined therapeutic protocols this carcinoma is generally seen at earlier ages and causes high mortality. Many radiotherapy and multidrug chemotherapy protocols are used after surgical intervention. Detection of the neuroendocrine component of cervical tumors is achieved through immunohistochemical staining. Herein, we present a woman aged 50 years who was admitted to the hospital with abdominal pain and postmenopausal vaginal bleeding whose examination revealed a cervical tumor. A pathologic examination after surgery resulted as "adenocarcinoma and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma." Afterwards, a combined chemotherapy regimen (cisplatin + etoposid) was administered to the patient and 6 months of progress is evaluated in this report.

Keywords: Cervical carcinoma, amphicrine tumor, neuroendochrine tumor

#### Öz

Adenonöroendokrin karsinomalar servikal karsinomların çok nadir rastlanan bir türü olup hem endokrin hem ekzokrin komponent içermektedirler. Genel anlamda bu tümörler içerdikleri nöroendokrin komponent nedeniyle erken metastazlarla agresif bir seyir gösterirler. Prognoza ilişkin en önemli kriter olarak hastalığın evresi gösterilmektedir. Tam olarak belirlenmiş bir tedavi protokolü olmayan bu karsinomalar, erken yaşlarda izlenmekte ve yüksek mortaliteyle seyretmektedirler. Cerrahi müdahale takiben birçok radyoterapi ve multi-ilaç kemoterapi protokolü kullanılabilmektedir. Hastalığın nöroendokrin komponentinin belirlenmesi ise tanı için önemli olup immünohistokimya aracılığıyla yapılmaktadır. Bu olgu sunumunda 50 yaşında karın ağrısı ve postmenopozal kanama şikayetleriyle başvuran hastanın servikal tümörü saptanmış olup, cerrahi takiben patolojik tanısı "adenokarsinoma ve büyük hücreli nöroendokrin karsinoma"olarak belirlenmiştir. Takiben sisplatin + etoposid şeklinde kombine kemoterapi alan hastanın 6 aylık takibi sunulmuştur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Servikal karsinom, ampikrin tümör, nöroendokrin tümör

#### Introduction

Adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma includes both endocrine and exocrine components. The histopathologic classification of these tumors was defined by Lewin<sup>(1)</sup> as listed below:

- 1. Mixed tumors (both tissues exist together),
- 2. Both tissues exist completely separately,
- 3. Tumors that exist of amphricrine cells.

These tumors may occur in the sinonasal cavity, larynx, lungs, gastrointestinal system, and uterine cervix. Neuroendocrine tumors account for one percent of all cervical carcinomas and are classified into three groups histopathologically; (i) carcinoid

tumor, (ii) atypical carcinoid tumor, and (iii) high grade neuroendocrine carcinoma; small cell or large cell types<sup>(2)</sup>.

Early nodal and distant metastases are typical for these tumors. Between all pathologic groups, small-cell carcinomas show the worst prognosis and have similar survival to small cell carcinomas of the lungs. Compared with other cervical carcinoma histopathologies, distant metastases occur frequently and there are shorter survival periods in neuroendocrine carcinoma<sup>(3)</sup>. Due to the lack of data, there is no consensus on the definitive treatment of the disease. Surgery alone is not adequate because of the frequent metastases and aggressive behavior. Following surgery, adjuvant chemotherapy and

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Erdem Fadıloğlu, MD,

Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

Phone: +90 546 475 01 75 E-mail: fadilogluerdem@gmail.com

Received/Geliş Tarihi : 05.01.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 20.02.2016

radiotherapy present better survivals in patients with non-small cell disease<sup>(4)</sup>.

The definitive diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumors can be achieved through immunohistochemical staining. Epithelial membrane antigen (EMA), cytokeratin 7 (CK7), cytokeratin 19 (CK19), chromogranin, and synaptophysin staining are diagnostic. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) study of these viruses is also crucial because of the strong relationship with human papillomavirus (HPV) type 16 and 18.

Cervical adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma can be very similar to adenocarcinoma of the cervix. The differential diagnosis is very important because of the aggressive behavior of these tumors and the need for a more aggressive treatment than with other cervix carcinomas.

#### **Case Report**

A woman aged 50 years who had been post-menopausal for 8 years was admitted to the hospital with abdominal pain and ongoing postmenopausal vaginal bleeding, which had lasted for ten days. A gynecologic examination revealed a 2x1.5-cm polypoid lesion that originated from the endocervical canal. Also, the whole vagina seemed fragile and the cervix seemed to fuse with the vagina, and the vaginal fornix appeared to be erased. A 3x4-cm cervical tumor was diagnosed. The left parametrium was shortened and there was suspected involvement seen in the right parametrium. Abdominal ultrasonography showed normal uterine fundus and corpus with an endometrial thickness of 15 mm. The right adnexal area included a solid lesion that was 89x50 mm in diameter with cystic areas, and a 72x74 mm complicated cystic mass was seen in the left adnexal area, which was adjacent to the other mass. Abdominopelvic tomography revealed increased dimensions of uterus and cervix with heterogeneous structure. There was minimal fluid in the endometrial cavity. The right adnexal area included a mass of 80 mm that could not be distinguished from the uterus and showed retention of contrast matter. This mass was regularedged and hypo-dense. The left adnexal area included a 90 mm complicated cyst. The peritoneal surfaces had implants, the largest of which was 53 mm. Massive ascites was present. The right lobe of the liver had 15 and 20 mm lesions that retained contrast matter.

The tumor marker results were as follows; CA-125: 1870 IU/mL, CA 19-9: 234 IU/mL, CA 15-3: 36.7 IU/mL, and carcinoembryonic antigen: 1.98 IU/mL. A cervical and endometrial biopsy were performed and both results were reported as adenocarcinoma. Accordingly, a laparotomy with a midline incision was performed. Nearly 7000 mL of serous ascites was explored. Adnexal masses were explored as they had been imaged on ultrasonography and tomography. Tumoral implants were seen on the peritoneum of the douglas pouch, hepatorenal area and paracolic area, serosa of rectosigmoid colon, and mesothelium of the bowel. The pancreas and spleen were normal and omental cake was observed. Right unilateral

salpingo-oophorectomy was performed and frozen sections were reported as "poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma of the cervix." As a result, surgery was expanded to type 2 radical hysterectomy, left unilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, resection of the sigmoid colon, right hepatorenal peritoneum, and tumoral implants both on the liver and mesothelium of bowel and appendectomy. Right diaphragm stripping was performed due to the tumoral implants of the right diaphragm. Bilateral pelvic and para-aortic complete lymphadenectomy was performed until the level of left renal vein. The operation was completed with optimal cytoreduction, which resulted with the existence only of residual tumor with a greatest diameter of 5 mm.

#### Pathology

**Macroscopic:** The first examined tissue was frozen sections of right salpingo-oophorectomy. The tumoral lesion was a solid structure with minimal cystic structures within, with white-yellowish color and necrosis. Ovarian and tubal tissues were had tumoral nodules on their surface.

**Microscopic:** After fixation with 10% formalin and staining with Hematoxylin and Eosin on paraffin sections, two different malignant tissue was remarkable on cervix. The first tumor was characterized with pseudo-stratified prismatic epithelium with hyperchromatic nuclei and different diameters of atypical glands with mitosis. These atypical glands were at a random distribution both at mucinous stroma and desmoplastic stroma.

The second tumor comprised large cells with atypical nuclei and significant nucleoli. There were a high number of mitotic cells forming trabecular, cordon-like structures with a palisade sequence. Necrosis and lymphovascular invasion were also noticed (Figure 1).

More than 50% percent of cervical muscle tissue was invaded with tumoral tissue. The vagina, both parametrium, uterine



Figure 1. Mix cervical adenocarcinoma and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma

and cervical peritoneum were also showing invasion. The endometrium was inactive and only adenomyosis was noticeable in the myometrium.

The tumoral tissue on the right ovary was also showing characteristics of the second tumor described above. The cystic structure on left ovary and tumoral tissues on both tuba uterine, serosa of the recto-sigmoid colon and adjacent adipose tissue were showing the same structural features (Figure 2).

Immunohistochemical Study: For the definitive diagnosis, proper immunohistochemical tests were performed. The tumoral tissue on right ovary was stained diffusely positive with EMA, CK7, chromogranin, synaptophysin, focally positive for progesterone receptor, and negative for estrogen receptor, thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1), CK, gross cystic disease fluid protein 15 (GCDFP15), CK K-20, CD-56. These results were compatible; both the ovarian and cervical tumors were large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. HPV PCR studies also revealed HPV type 16 positivity for both tumors. The Ki 67 proliferation index was 80%. According to all of these data, the ovarian tumor was a metastasis of cervical neuroendocrine carcinoma. The definitive pathologic diagnosis was reported as mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix (mucinous adenocarcinoma, endocervical type + large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma). The stage of disease was 4B according to 2009 International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics criteria.

The other tumoral implants were metastasis of the cervical primary tumor. Also 1 right hypogastric and 1 presacral lymph node were infiltrated with tumor. Other lymph nodes and abdominal cytology were clear.

After the operation, 6 cycles of etoposide + cisplatin combined chemotherapy were given with 2-week intervals. During that period, abdominal and thoracic tomography showed no new tumor lesions. Tumor markers 6 months after the surgery were: Carcinoembryonic antigen: 0.30 ng/mL, CA 15-3: 10.6 IU/mL, and CA 125: 14.3 IU/mL.



Figure 2. Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (ovarian metastasis)

#### Discussion

Cervical adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas are extremely rare. These malignancies progress aggressively with distant metastasis and high mortality rates. There is no consensus on suitable therapeutic protocols because of the lack of data<sup>(5)</sup>. According to the available data, the most important prognostic factor is the stage of the disease<sup>(6)</sup>. Studies reflecting data about small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma suggest multidrug aggressive chemotherapeutic protocols including cisplatin and etoposide<sup>(7)</sup>. Despite the higher stage of the presented case, 6 months of follow-up showed a very good prognosis with surgery and cisplatin + etoposide chemotherapy regimen.

One of the most important prognostic features of adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas is that the malignant potential is mostly related to the neuroendocrine component. The presented case was consistent with this and the metastases originated from neuroendocrine component. Despite these data, ovarian metastasis may rarely originate from lower grade adenocarcinoma components and the differential diagnosis of these malignancies with primary ovarian carcinomas can be made through HPV DNA positivity<sup>(8)</sup>.

An association between cervical neuroendocrine carcinomas and high-risk HPV (type 16 and 18) has been described<sup>(9)</sup>. HPV produces E6 oncoprotein, which causes the demolition of p53 rather than the effects on retinoblastoma<sup>(10)</sup>. Another molecular mechanism is the loss of heterozygosity on 3p loci as seen in the pathophysiology of small-cell lung cancers<sup>(11)</sup>. Considering all of these pathways, it may be speculated that the malignant transformation of a cervical cell is a multifactorial process.

Another point is that neuroendocrine carcinomas may cause paraneoplastic syndromes. No paraneoplastic syndromes were observed in our follow-up, but different syndromes have been experienced<sup>(12)</sup>.

#### Conclusion

Cervical adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma is a very rare form of cervical malignancies and there is no consensus for proper treatment. The prognosis is mostly related to neuroendocrine component. The most important prognostic factor is indicated as the stage of the disease. The association between neuroendocrine malignancies and HPV subtypes are clinically important for diagnosis. It must be highlighted that differential diagnosis between adenocarcinoma and adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas may be challenging, but is essential because of the different clinical approach and prognosis. Immunohistochemistry is widely used in the differential diagnosis. More extended data should be presented to provide for definitive treatment protocols and clinical approaches.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Taner Turan, Heyecan Ökten, Reyhan Öçalan, Concept: Taner Turan, Gökhan Tulunay, Design: Taner Turan, Gökhan Tulunay, Data Collection or Processing: Erdem Fadıloğlu, Şeyma Asiltürk, Analysis or Interpretation: Nurettin Boran, Literature Search: Erdem Fadıloğlu, Şeyma Asiltürk, Writing: Erdem Fadıloğlu, Alper Karalök, Osman Türkmen.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### References

- Lewin KJ. Carcinoid tumors and the mixed (composite) glandularendocrine cell carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol 1987;11(Suppl 1):71-86.
- WHO (World Health Organization. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Breast and Female Genital Organs. Lyon, IARC Press; 2003.
- Sodsanrat K, Saeaib N, Liabsuetrakul T. Comparison of clinical manifestations and survival outcomes between neuroendocrine tumor and squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix: results from a tertiary center in southern Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai 2015;98:725-33.

- 4. Krivak TC, McBroom JW, Sundborg MJ, Crothers B, Parker MF. Large cell neuroendocrine cervical carcinoma: a report of two cases and review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol 2001;82:187-91.
- Peng P, Ming W, Jiaxin Y, Keng S. Neuroendocrine tumor of the uterine cervix: a clinicopathologic study of 14 cases. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2012;286:1247-53.
- 6. Wang Z, Wu L, Yao H, Sun Y, Li X, Li B, et al. Clinical analysis of 32 cases with neuroendocrine carcinoma of the uterine cervix in early-stage disease. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zh. 2015;50:198-203.
- Tokunaga H, Nagase S, Yoshinaga K, Tanaka S, Nagai T, Kurosawa H, et al. Small cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix: clinical outcome of concurrent chemoradiotherapy with a multidrug regimen. Tohoku J Exp Med 2013;229:75-81.
- 8. Ramalingam P, Malpica A, Deavers MT. Mixed endocervical adenocarcinoma and high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix with ovarian metastasis of the former component: a report of 2 cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2012;31:490-6.
- Wang KL, Yang YC, Wang TY, Chen JR, Chen TC, Chen HS, et al. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the uterine cervix: A clinicopathologic retrospective study of 31 cases with prognostic implications. J Chemother 2006;18:209-16.
- 10. Schmidt D, Horn LC, Kommoss F. Neuroendocrine carcinomas of the cervix. Pathologe 2005;26:262-5.
- Mannion C, Park WS, Man YG, Zhuang Z, Albores-Saavedra J, Tavassoli FA. Endocrine tumors of the cervix: morphologic assessment, expression of human papillomavirus, and evaluation for loss of heterozygosity on 1p, 3p, 11q, and 17p. Cancer 1998;83:1391-400.
- Kim do Y, Yun HJ, Lee YS, Lee HN, Kim CJ. Small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the uterine cervix presenting with syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion. Obstet Gynecol Sci 2013;56:420-5.



# Do preeclampsia symptoms resolve after intrauterine death of a fetus?

Preeklampsi semptomları fetal ölüm sonrası kaybolur mu?

Serdar Balcı<sup>1</sup>, Taylan Bodur<sup>2</sup>, Yusuf Aytaç Tohma<sup>1</sup>, Recep Emre Okyay<sup>3</sup>, Bahadır Saatli<sup>3</sup>, Sabahattin Altunyurt<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Muğla Yücelen Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Muğla, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İzmir, Turkey

#### Abstract

We present two cases of twin pregnancies without resolution of preeclamptic symptoms after intrauterine death of one twin.

Case 1: A nulliparous woman aged 37 years was referred at 26 weeks of gestation because of arterial hypertension, edema, and growth restriction in one twin. Three weeks later the restricted twin died. During the following three weeks, ultrasound examinations showed a reduced growth velocity of the surviving fetus and reversed umbilical flow. At the end of the 34<sup>th</sup> week of gestation, cesarean section was performed and a healthy female infant was delivered.

Case 2: A nulliparous woman aged 33 years with a 27-week twin pregnancy was referred because of arterial hypertension and discordant growth. The restricted twin died at 31 weeks of gestation. Following the death, within two weeks the growth of the co-twin started to slow down and reversed end diastolic flow presented. At the end of the 33<sup>rd</sup> week of gestation, cesarean section was performed and a healthy female infant was delivered.

The interesting point of these cases was the secondary effects on the co-twins. During the time after intrauterine deaths of one twin, the surviving fetuses started to show a reduced growth velocity and reversed umbilical flow and mothers had increased blood pressure and proteinuria again. We think that both cases are evidence of late on-set systemic maternal effects (such as systemic maternal endothelial activation and/or systemic maternal inflammatory response) depends on preeclampsia.

Keywords: Preeclampsia, twin pregnancy, growth restriction

#### Öz

İkiz eşinin ölümünden sonra preeklamptik semptomların devam ettiği iki olguyu sunuyoruz.

Olgu 1: Otuz yedi yaşında, nullipar, 26 hafta ikiz gebelik kan basıncı yüksekliği, ödem ve bir fetüste gelişme geriliği nedeniyle kliniğimize refere edildi. Üç hafta sonra geri kalan fetüs öldü. Takip eden üç haftada, ultrason ölçümlerinde yaşayan fetüsün gelişiminde yavaşlama ve umblikal arterde ters akım saptandı. Otuz dördüncü haftanın sonunda sezaryen gerçekleştirildi ve sağlıklı kız bebek doğurtuldu.

Olgu 2: Otuz üç yaşında, nullipar, 27 hafta ikiz gebelik kan basıncı yüksekliği ve bir fetüste gelişme geriliği nedeniyle kliniğimize refere edildi. Otuz birinci gebelik haftasında geri kalan fetüs öldü. Takip eden 2 haftada, ultrason ölçümlerinde yaşayan fetüsün gelişiminde yavaşlama ve umblikal arterde ters akım saptandı. Otuz üçüncü haftanın sonunda sezaryen gerçekleştirildi ve sağlıklı kız bebek doğurtuldu.

Bu olgulardaki ilginç nokta yaşayan ikiz eşlerindeki ikincil etkilerdi. İkiz eşinin ölümünden sonraki periyotta yaşayan fetüste gelişmede yavaşlama, ters umblikal akım ve annede kan basıncında artış ve proteinüri görüldü. Biz bu belirtilerin preeklampsinin geç başlangıçlı sistemik etkilerinin (sistemik maternal endotelyal aktivasyon ve/veya sistemik maternak enflamatuvar yanıt gibi) bir kanıtı olduğunu düşünmekteyiz. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Preeklampsi, ikiz gebelik, gelişme geriliği

#### Introduction

Preeclampsia originates from the placenta, and its progressive clinical course is only treated by delivery of the placenta<sup>(1)</sup>. The incidence of disease is 3-5% and it is known as a major cause of maternal and perinatal mortality<sup>(2)</sup>. Although the etiology and pathogenesis remain to be clarified, termination of pregnancy

or delivery of the placenta eradicates the disease; therefore, the placenta is undoubtedly related to preeclampsia<sup>(3)</sup>. Twin gestations occur in 3.2% of pregnancies and are associated with increased risks of gestational diabetes mellitus, preterm delivery, intrauterine growth restriction, hypertension and hemorrahage<sup>(4)</sup>. Additionally, the risk of preeclampsia in twin pregnancies increases more than twice compared with singleton

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Serdar Balcı, MD,

Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 505 706 19 88 E-mail: serdarbal@hotmail.com

Received /Geliş Tarihi : 19.01.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi : 20.02.2016

pregnancies<sup>(4)</sup>. We present two cases of twin pregnancies without resolution of preeclamptic symptoms after the intrauterine death of one twin.

#### **Case Reports**

#### Case 1

A nulliparous woman aged 37 years was referred at 26 weeks of gestation because of arterial hypertension, edema, and growth restriction in one twin. On admission her blood pressure was 160/100 mmHg. In our centre, ultrasound examination confirmed growth restriction (weight estimation: 389 g) and reversed umbilical flow with cerebral redistribution in one twin, with a normal co-twin (estimated weight: 855 g). This was a dichorionic, diamniotic twin pregnancy. The quantitative analysis of proteinuria in a 24-hour urine sample taken after admission showed 2.708 g/day. To avoid prematurity, expectant management was planned. The patient received alphamethyldopa in a dosage of 1000 mg daily for blood pressure control and magnesium sulfate at a daily dosage of 1500 mg to prevent convulsions. Two days later, because of intolerable nausea and vomiting, we had to stop the magnesium sulfate but we kept going on alpha-methyldopa. During the following three weeks, the blood pressure was under partial control, ultrasound examinations showed no evidence of growth of the restricted twin and confirmed severe doppler abnormalities; the co-twin's assessment was reassuring. Some days later restricted twin died but doppler flows of the surviving twin were normal. Accordingly, we decided to prolong the pregnancy under close observation. Significant proteinuria occured again at 31 weeks of gestation, accompanied by a rise in blood pressure. During the following three weeks, ultrasound examinations showed a reduced growth velocity of the surviving fetus and reversed umbilical flow. At the end of the 34th week of gestation, cesarean section was performed and a healthy female infant weighing 1670 g was delivered, followed by a macerated female fetus of nearly 200 g. The mother recoverd quickly and her blood pressure was normal on the third day postpartum.

#### Case 2

A nulliparous woman aged 33 years with a 27-week twin pregnancy was referred because of arterial hypertension and discordant growth. On admission her blood pressure was 170/105 mmHg. Our ultrasound check showed growth restriction (weight estimation: 698 g) and reversed umbilical flow in one twin, with a normal co-twin (estimated weight: 1.060 g). The examination also revealed a dichorionic, diamniotic twin pregnancy. In a 24-hour urine sample showed proteinuria (4.850 g/day). Expectant management was planned to prevent prematurity. The patient received alpha-methyldopa in a daily dosage of 1000 mg for blood pressure control and magnesium sulfate at a dosage of 1500 mg daily to prevent convulsions. During the following two weeks, beside the partial blood pressure control, ultrasound

104

examinations revealed no growth in the restricted twin and abnormal umblical artery flow; the co-twin's assessment was good. At 31 weeks of gestation, the restricted twin died and a significant proteinuria (6.650 g/day) reappeared but the cotwins doppler flows were normal. Following the death, growth of co-twin started to draw back within two weeks and reversed end diastolic flow presented. At the end of the 33<sup>rd</sup> week of gestation, cesarean section was performed and a healthy female infant weighing 1.370 g was delivered, followed by a macerated female fetus of almost 800 g. We discharged the mother from hospital after her blood pressure normalized on the fourth day postpartum.

#### Discussion

It is certain that the placenta takes a central role in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. The importance of poor placentation as a feature of the disorder is well documented<sup>(5)</sup>. However, we still do not know the reasons of poor placentation. In these cases there are two separate placentas. One of them is preeclamptic, the pathologic report documented low weights with fibrin and thrombosis inside the vessels, and the others were normal. We still do not know why one of the twin placentas has abnormal development when both have the same maternal factors such as immunity or blood pressure. One explanation is local factors such as fetus or placental localization, which could possibly affect placental growth.

Another interesting point of these cases was the secondary effects on the co-twins. After intrauterine deaths of one twin, the surviving fetuses started to show a reduced growth velocity and reversed umblical flow and the mothers had increased blood pressure and proteinuria again. We think that this is evidence of late on-set systemic maternal effects such as systemic maternal endothelial activation and/or systemic maternal inflammatory response) depends on preeclampsia.

Usually preeclampsia progresses without any recovery until birth. Few cases of resolution of preeclampsia after spontaneous intrauterine death of one twin or selective termination of a dichorionic pregnancy have been reported<sup>(1,6,7)</sup>. Narasimhulu et al.<sup>(8)</sup> reported resolution of superimposed preeclampsia in a surviving fetus after the intrauterine demise of its co-twin and suggested that placental involution after fetal demise was the key to resolution of preeclampsia (resolution period take 1 to 3 weeks). However, according to our cases, even if the fetus dies, preeclampsia could not be curable unless placental seperation occurred. The greatest disparity of our cases compared with those in the literature was the amount of proteinuria, nearly 5 g/day in 24-hour urine sample. Consequently, severe preeclampsia may differ from mild preeclampsia, without any resolution or resolution in longer time (more than 3 weeks). In addition, a retrospective analysis of outcomes in pregnant women who had expectant managemant with severe preeclampsia at less than 27 weeks' gestation revealed that overall perinatal survival was 57% (9% of them were

multifetal gestations)<sup>(9)</sup>. As a result, resolution of preeclampsia in dichorionic twin pregnancies following intrauterine death of restricted fetus is still uncertain, especially in severe preeclampsia.

To our knowledge, these are the first cases to describe the return of preeclamptic symptoms in twins after the intrauterine death of one twin in the literature. Further studies are needed for the comprehension of preeclampsia and recognition of placental factors responsible for the persistence of the disease.

#### **Ethics**

Ethics Committee Approval: The study were approved by the Dokuz Eylül University of Local Ethics Committee, Informed Consent: Consnt form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Bahadır Saatli, Sabahattin Altınyurt, Concept: Taylan Bodur, Design: Serdar Balcı, Data Collection or Processing: Serdar Balcı, Analysis or Interpretation: Recep Emre Okyay, Literature Search: Yusuf Aytaç Tohma, Writing: Serdar Balcı. Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### References

- Bschierl Frank, Beinder E. Temporary resolution of preeclamptic symptoms after intrauterine death of one twin. Hypertens Pregnancy 2005;24:313-7.
- Audibert F, Salomon LJ, Castaigne-Meary V, Alves K, Frydman R. Selective termination of a twin pregnancy as a treatment of severe pre-eclampsia. BJOG 2003;110:68-9.
- Brown MA. The physiology of pre-eclampsia. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 1995;22:781-91.
- 4 Sparks TN, Cheng YW, Phan N, Caughey AB. Does risk of preeclampsia differ by twin chorionicity? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013;26:1273-7.
- Redmana CW, Sargent IL. Pre-eclampsia, the placenta and the maternal systemic inflammatory response-a review. Placenta 2003;24(Suppl A):21-7.
- 6. Sarhanis P, Pugh DH. Resolution of pre-eclampsia following intrauterine death of one twin. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1992;99:159-60.
- Hagay ZJ, Levy R, Zalel Y, Weissman A. Single fetal demise in twin gestation resulting in the resolution of severe pre-eclampsia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1994;56:137-8.
- Narasimhulu DM, Karakash S, Rankin L, Minkoff H. Resolution of superimposed pre-eclampsia, and improvement in umbilical artery flow in a surviving twin after intrauterine demise of its co-twin. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2015;41:1473-7.
- Bombrys AE, Barton JR, Nowacki EA, Habli M, Pinder L, How H, et al. Expectant management of severe preeclampsia at less than 27 weeks' gestation: maternal and perinatal outcomes according to gestational age by weeks at onset of expectant management. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2008;199:247.



### Early prenatal diagnosis of thoraco-omphalopagus twins at ten weeks of gestation by ultrasound

On hafta dört günlük torako-omfalofagus ikiz olgusunun ultrason ile erken prenatal tanısı

Dilşat Herkiloğlu<sup>1</sup>, Başak Baksu<sup>2</sup>, Oya Pekin<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zeynep Kamil Women's and Children's Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Zeynep Kamil Women's and Children's Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Abstract

Early prenatal diagnosis of conjoined twins, an extreme form of monozygotic twinning, is very important for the further management and counselling of parents because they are associated with high perinatal mortality. We present a case of thoraco-omphalopagus twins diagnosed at ten weeks and four days of gestation by two-dimensional Doppler ultrasound, which was then terminated.

Keywords: Monozygotic twins, conjoined twins, ultrasonography, doppler ultrasonography

#### Öz

Monozigotik ikiz gebeliğin en nadir formu olan yapışık ikiz olgularında erken prenatal tanı, yönetim ve ebeveyn bilgilendirilmesi açısından çok önemlidir. On hafta dört günlük gebelik iken iki-boyutlu Doppler ultrasonografi ile tanısı konularak sonlandırılan torako-omfalofaguslu yapışık ikiz olgusu sunulmuştur. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Monozigotik ikiz, bitişik ikiz, ultrasonografi, doppler ultrasonografi

**PRECIS:** We present a case of thoraco-omphalopagus twins diagnosed at ten weeks and four days of gestation using two-dimensional doppler ultrasound.

#### Introduction

Conjoined twins are a rare, complex complication seen in 1% of monochorionic twins that occurs with an estimated incidence of 1 in 50.000 to 1 in 200.000 live  $births^{(1)}$ . Even though the degree and location of conjunction and the shared internal organs determine the prognosis of conjoined twins, they are associated with a high perinatal mortality rate; the overall survival rate is 25%. Although a smaller fraction born alive have anomalies incompatible with life, survivors need to have various correction operations because of many coexisting diseases(1,2). Therefore, early prenatal diagnosis of conjoined twins plays a crucial role in management and allows appropriate and timely counselling of the parents to decide among various options, which are (a) continuation of pregnancy with planned postnatal surgery, (b) termination of pregnancy, and (c) in cases of highorder multifetal pregnancies with a component of conjoined fetuses, multifetal pregnancy reduction or selective fetocide $^{(1)}$ .

In this report, we present a case of thoraco-omphalopagus twins diagnosed prenatally using two-dimensional (2-D) Doppler ultrasound (US) at ten weeks and four days of gestation.

#### **Case Report**

A gravida five, parity two, abortus two woman aged 32 years woman was referred to our perinatology clinic for first trimester screening with a combined test. Her obstetric history revealed two spontaneous vaginal deliveries and was unremarkable with respect to medication use or births with structural or chromosomal anomalies. She had no family history of multiple gestations.

Transabdominal US scan using a 5 MHz probe with 2-D Doppler US (Voluson 730 PRO, GE Medical system) revealed a monochorionic monoamniotic twin pregnancy of 10 weeks and four days of gestation, according to her last menstrual date. One of the fetuses was anencephalic. Both fetuses had

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Başak Baksu, MD,

Zeynep Kamil Women's and Children's Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, İstanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 542 435 74 93 E-mail: basakbaksu@yahoo.com

Received /Geliş Tarihi : 05.02.2016

Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 03.03.2016

cystic hygroma. The fetuses were fused to each other at the chest (thoracopagus) and the umblicus (omphalopagus). Two upper and two lower extremities were seen for each fetus. There was only one heart beat. This was confirmed using a 5 MHz transvaginal probe. A diagnosis of conjoined twins was made using sonography (Figure 1).

The couple was informed about the US findings and counseled about management options. They decided to terminate the pregnancy. The induced abortion material was sent for pathogic examination. The result was conjoined twins with two bodies fused from the upper thorax to lower belly (Figure 2). Both fetuses were female. Two upper and two lower extremities were seen for each fetus. The pathology report revealed one heart, one liver, two stomachs, and two kidneys shared by the twins. Therefore, the ultrasonographic diagnosis of conjoined twins of thoraco-omphalopagus type was confirmed.

#### Discussion

Conjoined twins is an extreme form of monozygotic twinning. Incomplete fusion of a single zygote at the primitive streak stage (15-17 days) during blastogenesis is considered to be



Figure 1. Ultrasound image



Figure 2. Macroscopic image of the induced abortion material

responsible for this condition<sup>(3)</sup>. Therefore, when there is a case of monochorionic-monoamniotic pregnancy, the possibility of conjoined twins should always be kept in mind.

Sonographic characteristics that raise the suspicion of conjoined fetuses are polyhydramnios seen in 50-76% of cases, bi-breech and face-to-face presentation of twins<sup>(4)</sup>. Moreover, for early diagnosis of conjoined twins, specific ultrasound features have been proposed and reports of diagnosis as early as seven weeks and six days of gestation have been published. However, it is still possible to miss or misdiagnose conjoined twins beacuse of various misleading sonographic signs<sup>(5,6)</sup>. Increased nuchal translucency (NT) was observed in six fetuses of four conjoined twins. In the present case, both fetuses had cyctic hygromas. This observation highlights the importance of increased NT in multifetal pregnancies during the 11-14 weeks scan by raising the possibility of conjoined twins so that a more careful examination should be considered<sup>(7)</sup>. Therefore, the 11-14 weeks 2-D Doppler US scan remains the mainstay of prenatal diagnosis of conjoined twins<sup>(1)</sup>. This was also the diagnostic method used in the prenatal diagnosis in this case report. Moreover, very early diagnosis seems not to add any practical information compared with detection in the 11-14 weeks scan because either repeat US, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or 3-D US had to be used to confirm the diagnosis of conjoined twins in such reports<sup>(8)</sup>. It must be stressed that even though ultrasonographic features such as an absent separating membrane in monochorionic twins, bifid appearance of the fetal pole, and inseparable bodies or heads despite fetal movements suggest the diagnosis, the 11-14 week scan with 2-D Doppler US is still the diagnostic imaging modality in these cases<sup>(9)</sup>. However, ultrasound does have pitfalls; therefore, modern imaging modalities like 3-D US, 4-D US or fetal rapid MRI can be useful to overcome these disadvantages in the diagnosis of conjoined twins. In addition, if the parents decide to continue the pregnancy, MRI is used to determine the site and percentage of conjunction to further predict the success of surgical seperation and postnatal prognosis.

Conjoined twins are very rarely seen in human pregnancies. However, they should be kept in mind when monochorionic twins are being examined during the 11-14 week scan, especially when increased NT is observed because early and accurate prenatal recognition is essential for parental counseling to decide for or against continuation of pregnancy. If parents decide to continue the pregnancy, prenatal surveillance and postnatal management should be planned. The obstetricians role in prenatal diagnosis, counseling, and organization of interdiciplinary medical care is indispensible in cases of conjoined twin.

#### **Ethics**

Informed Consent: Not applicable. Peer-review: External and Internal peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Başak Baksu, Oya Pekin, Concept: Başak Baksu, Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Oya Pekin, Design: Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Başak Baksu, Oya Pekin, Data Collection or Processing: Başak Baksu, Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Oya Pekin, Analysis or Interpretation: Başak Baksu, Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Literature Search: Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Başak Baksu, Writing: Dilşat Herkiloğlu, Başak Baksu, Oya Pekin.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### References

 Athanasiadis A, Mikos T, Zafrakas M. Prenatal diagnosis and management of conjoined fetuses. Donald School J Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2007;1:96-104.

- 2. Stone JL, Goodrih JT. The craniopagus malformation: classification and implications for surgical separation. Brain 2006;129:1084-95.
- Kaufman MH. The embryology of conjoined twins. Childs Nerv Syst 2004;20:508-25.
- Kalchbrenner M, Weiner S, Templeton J, Losure TA. Prenatal ultrasound diagnosis of thoracopagus conjoined twins. J Clin Ultrasound 1987;15:59-63.
- 5. van den Brand SF, Nijhuis JG, van Dongen PW. Prenatal ultrasound diagnosis of conjoined twins. Obstet Gynecol Surv 1994;49:656-62.
- 6. Taner ZM, Kurdoglu M, Taskiran C, Kurdoglu Z, Himmetoglu O, Balci S. Early prenatal diagnosis of conjoined twins at 7 weeks and 6 days' gestation with two-dimensional Doppler ultrasound: a case report. Cases J 2009;2:8330.
- Sebire NJ, Souka A, Skentou H, Geerts L, Nicolaides KH. First trimester diagnosis of monoamniotic twin pregnancies. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2000;16:223-25.
- 8. Singh Y, Kathpalia SK, Bal H, Arif NK. Early prenatal diagnosis in a case of conjoined twin with craniopagus andthoraco-omphalopagus. Med J Armed Forces India 2012;68:381-2.
- 9. Spitz L. Conjoined twins. Prenat Diagn 2005;25:814-9.